Contents lists available at ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Comparison between pollutants found in breast milk and infant formula in the last decade: A review



I. Martín-Carrasco^a, P. Carbonero-Aguilar^a, B. Dahiri^a, I.M. Moreno^{a,*}, M. Hinojosa^{a,b}

^a Area of Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Sevilla, C/ Profesor García González 2, 41012 Seville, Spain

^b Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Stockholm University, Institutionen för biokemi och biofysik, 106 91 Stockholm, Sweden

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Description of emerging pollutants in breast milk and infant formula was made.
- In breast milk the most concerning contaminants found were metals and pesticides.
- In infant formula metals and mycotoxins were the most outstanding.
- Breast milk is a powerful tool to predict infant exposure to pollutants.



Abbreviations: 2-MCPD, 2-monochloropropane-1,2-diol; 3-MCPD, 3-monochloropropane-1,2-diol; 5-HMF, 5-(hydroxymethyl)-2-furancarboxaldehído; AAs, atomic absorption spectrometry; ADHD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; AFB1, aflatoxin B1; AFM1, aflatoxin M1; AFs, aflatoxins; Al, aluminum; AMA-AAs, gas chromatography (hydrocarbons analyzer)-atomic absorption spectrometry; As, arsenic; ASD, autism spectrum disorder; Au, gold; B, boron; b.w., body weight; Ba, barium; BBP, benzyl butyl phthalate; Be, beryllium; BFRs, brominated flame retardants; BHC, benzene hexachlorides; Bi, bismuth; BP, n-butylparaben; BP-3, benzophenone-3; BPA, bisphenol A; Ca, calcium; CALUX, chemically activated luciferase gene expression; CBCL, Child Behavior Checklist; Cd, cadmium; Cl, chlorine; Co, cobalt; CPF, chlorpyrifos; Cr, chrome; Cu, cooper; CV-AAs, cold vapour atomic absorption spectrometry; DBP, di-n-butyl phthalate; DEHP, di(2ethylhexyl)phtalate: DIDP, di-isodecylphthalate: DINP, di-isononyl phthalate: DON, deoxynivalenol: DTT, 1,1,1-trichloro-2, 2-bis (4-chlorophenyl) ethane: ECNI, electron capture negative ion: ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; EP, ethylparaben; FAAs, flame atomic absorption spectroscopy; Fe, iron; FIMS, Flow-Injection Mercury System; Ga, gallium; GC-ECD, gas chromatography tandem electron capture detector; GC-EI, gas chromatography tandem electron ionization; GC-FID/MS, gas chromatography-flame-ionization detection tandem mass spectrometry; GC-HRMS, gas chromatography tandem high-resolution mass spectrometry; GC-MS, gas chromatography mass spectrometry; GC-MS/MS, gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry; GC-MS/MS, gas chromatography mass spectrometry; gas chromatography mass spectrometry; gas chromatograph QqQ-MS, ultra-sensitive gas chromatography method, coupled with tandem mass spectrometry; GE, glycidyl esters; Ge, germanium; GF-AAs, graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry; HBCDD, hexabromocyclododecane isomers; Hg, mercury; HMF, hydroxymethylfurfural; HPLC-AAs, high-performance liquid chromatography-atomic absorption spectrometry interface; HPLC-FLD-DAD, high performance liquid chromatography coupled with diode-array detector tandem fluorescence detector; HPLC-ICP-MS, high-performance liquid chromatography-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry; HR-CS-GFAAS, high-resolution continuum source-graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry; HRGC/MS, high-resolution gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry; HRMS, high-resolution mass spectrometry; HT-2, HT-2 toxin/trichothecene mycotoxin 2; I, iodine; IACC-HPLC with FD, IACC - high-performance liquid chromatography with field desorption; IARC, International Agency for Research on Cancer; ICP-MS, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry; ICP-MS/MS, inductively coupled plasma tandem mass spectrometry; ICP-OES, inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometer; In, indium; IQ, intelligent quotient; K, potassium; LCCPs, long-chain CPs; LC-MS/MS-APCI, liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry with atmospheric pressure chemical ionization; Li, lithium; LRMS, low resolution mass spectrometry; MCCPs, medium-chain chlorinated paraffins; MeHg, methyl-mercury; Mg, magnesium; Mn, manganese; Mo, molybdenum; MOAH, aromatic hydrocarbons; MOH, mineral oil hydrocarbon; MOSH, hydrocarbons with saturated rings; MP, methylparaben; MP + EP, methyl parabens + ethyl parabens; MP-AES, microwave plasma-atomic emission spectrometer; Na, sodium; nAChRs, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors; Ni, nickel; OCPs, organochlorine pesticides; OPPs, organophosphorus pesticides; OTA, ochratoxin A; P, phosphorus; PAHs, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons; Pb, lead; PBDE, polybrominated diphenyl ethers; PBDE-135, 2,2',3,3',5,6'hexabromodiphenyl ether; PBDE-209, 2,2',3,3',4,4',5,5',6,6'-decabromodiphenyl ether; PBDE-47, 2, 2', 4, 4'-tetrabromodifenyl ether; PBDE-99, 2,2',4,4,5-pentabromodiphenyl ether; PCBs, polychlorinated biphenyls; PCDDs, polychlorinated dibenzodioxins; PCDFs, polychlorinated dibenzofurans; PFAs, perfluorinated alkyl substances; PFOA, perfluoroctanoic acid; PFOs, perfluorooctanesulfonic acid; PHBA, p-hydroxybenzoic acid; Po, polonium; POPs, persistent organic pollutants; PP, N-propylparaben; PVC, polyvinyl chloride; PYR, pyrethroids; QuEChERS, Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged & Safe; RP-HPLC, reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography; S, sulfur; Sb, antimony; SCCPs, short-chain chlorinated parafins; Se, selenium; Si, silicon; Sn, tin; Sr, strontium; T2, T2 toxin; TBBPA, tetrabromobisphenol A; TCCD, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin; TDI, tolerable daily intake; Te, tellurium; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone; UHPLC, ultra high-performance liquid chromatography; UNICEF, United Nations Children's Fund; UPLC-MS, ultra-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry; WHO, World Health Organization; ZEN, zearalenone; Zn, zinc.

Corresponding author at: Área de Toxicología, Facultad de Farmacia, Calle Profesor García González, 2, 41012 Sevilla, Spain.

E-mail address: imoreno@us.es (I.M. Moreno).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162461

Received 22 November 2022; Received in revised form 3 February 2023; Accepted 21 February 2023 Available online 1 March 2023

0048-9697/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Paromita Chakraborty

Keywords: Breast milk Infant formula Emerging pollutants Children Exposure Toxic effects

ABSTRACT

Since ancient times, breastfeeding has been the fundamental way of nurturing the newborn. The benefits of breast milk are widely known, as it is a source of essential nutrients and provides immunological protection, as well as developmental benefits, among others. However, when breastfeeding is not possible, infant formula is the most appropriate alternative. Its composition meets the nutritional requirements of the infant, and its quality is subject to strict control by the authorities. Nonetheless, the presence of different pollutants has been detected in both matrices. Thus, the aim of the present review is to make a comparison between the findings in both breast milk and infant formula in terms of contaminants in the last decade, in order to choose the most convenient option depending on the environmental conditions. For that, the emerging pollutants including metals, chemical compounds derived from heat treatment, pharmaceutical drugs, mycotoxins, pesticides, packaging materials, and other contaminants were described. While in breast milk the most concerning contaminants found were metals and pesticides, in infant formula pollutants such as metals, mycotoxins, and packaging materials were the most outstanding. In conclusion, the convenience of using a feeding diet based on breast milk or either infant formula depends on the maternal environmental circumstances. However, it is important to take into account the immunological benefits of the breast milk compared to the infant formula, and the possibility of using breast milk in combination with infant formula when the nutritional requirements are not fulfilled only with the intake of breast milk. Therefore, more attention should be paid in terms of analyzing these conditions in each case to be able to make a proper decision, as it will vary depending on the maternal and newborn environment.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 2 |
|------|---|----|
| 2. | Material and methods | 4 |
| | 2.1. Search methodology | 4 |
| | 2.2. Data treatment and analysis | 4 |
| 3. | Results and discussion | 4 |
| | 3.1. Metals | 5 |
| | 3.2. Chemical compounds derived from heat treatment | 8 |
| | 3.3. Pharmaceuticals | 18 |
| | 3.4. Mycotoxins | 19 |
| | 3.5. Pesticides | 20 |
| | 3.6. Packaging materials | 25 |
| | 3.7. Other environmental pollutants | 27 |
| 4. | Conclusion | 30 |
| Fund | ing | 30 |
| CRe | iT authorship contribution statement | 30 |
| Data | availability | 31 |
| Decl | ration of competing interest | 31 |
| App | ndix A. Supplementary data | 31 |
| Refe | ences | 31 |

1. Introduction

Mammals feed their infants with milk from the time they are born until they can acquire food by themselves (Gopalakrishna and Hand, 2020). This milk is also a mechanism for protection, as it can protect the mucosal surfaces of their immunologically inexperienced infants from infection. In this sense, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends exclusive breastfeeding to infants for at least the first 6 months and breastfeeding with food supplementation up to 2 years of age, as it provides all the nutrients required for the healthy growth of the infant (Eidelman et al., 2012; Gopalakrishna and Hand, 2020). However, it is also important as a fertile ground for the establishment and growth of their gut microbiota, during this early and critical period of life (Andreas et al., 2015; Babakobi et al., 2020; Ballard and Morrow, 2013; Jeurink et al., 2013; Laursen et al., 2016).

Human milk in the first few days after birth is called colostrum, is produced until the 5th day of lactation, and is essential for the health of the newborns, as demonstrated in different studies (Devillers et al., 2011; Gopalakrishna and Hand, 2020; Quesnel et al., 2012; Wen et al., 2019). This colostrum is characteristic for having lower levels of fat and carbohydrates, but high content on proteins, both antimicrobial/immune-stimulatory and nutritional proteins (Gopalakrishna and Hand, 2020). Later, colostrum leads to mature milk. The composition of breast milk provides the infant several properties as immunoprotection, antioxidant effects, reduction of chronic diseases risk (types 1 and 2 diabetes, celiac disease, etc.), as well as cognitive developmental benefits, and improvement of maternal health (positive hormonal effects, physical and psychosocial effects) (Anderson, 1986; Matos et al., 2015). This milk has a higher concentration of lipids than colostrum: 87 % of it corresponds to water and 13 % are macro and micronutrients (Pajewska-Szmyt et al., 2019). Thus, as the breast milk will adapt to the needs of the growing infant changing the lipid and protein content, the molecules secreted with affinity to them will vary (Ballard and Morrow, 2013; LaKind et al., 2001).

In this regard, the ability of some pollutants to be transferred from mother to the infant through breastfeeding is well-known (Dewan et al., 2013; Müller et al., 2019; Skaare et al., 1988). This is of relevance, as fetuses and infants may be vulnerable to the exposure to these pollutants, as they can disrupt developmental processes that may cause permanent physiological changes (Müller et al., 2019). In addition, developing infants may accumulate higher concentrations and prolong the excretion of these toxicants due to their immature metabolic capacity (Müller et al., 2019; FAO/WHO, 2010; World Health Organization (WHO), 2010).

Regulatory limits for main chemical contaminants and residues found in breast milk and infant formula. Calculated values according to the age and weight (WHO).

| Contaminant or residue | Threshold levels in formula | Tolerable daily intake (TDI) | Calculated values according to the age and weight | | References | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|-----------------------|--|
| | | | 3 months (6.5 kg) | 6 months (8 kg) | 12 months (9.5 kg) | |
| Metals | | | | | | |
| Ni | 2.8 µg/kg | 1.1 µg/kg b.w. | 7.15 ug | 8.8 µg | 10.45 µg | (Schrenk et al., 2020; EFSA, 2015a) |
| Cu | 120 µg/100 kcal | 200 ug/dav | /110 μ8 | 010 46 | 10110 48 | (EFSA, 2016; Otten et al., 2006) |
| As | 2.1 ug/kg | 0.3 ug/kg b.w. | 1.95 ug | 2.4 ug | 2.85 µg | (FAO/WHO, 2010: Rome et al., 2011) |
| Pb | 20 μg/kg | 3.57 µg/kg b.w. | 23.21 µg | 28.56 µg | 33.92 µg | (EFSA, 2006; FAO/WHO, 1988) |
| Hg | - | $4 \mu g/kg b.w.^a$ | 26 µg | 32 µg | 38 µg | (FAO/WHO, 2010; Rome et al., 2011) |
| MeHg | | 1.6 μg/kg b.w. | 10.4 µg | 12.8 µg | 15.2 μg | (EFSA, 2004a) |
| Al | 286 µg/kg | 1000 μg/kg b.w. | 6500 µg | 8000 µg | 9500 μg | (FAO/WHO, 2010; Rome et al., 2011) |
| Cd | 20 µg/kg | 0.36 µg/kg b.w. | 2.34 μg | 2.88 μg | 3.42 µg | (EFSA, 2006; EFSA 2009) |
| Cr | 10 µg/100 kcal | 2.8 μg/kg b.w. | 18.2 µg | 22.4 µg | 26.6 µg | (EFSA, 2015b) |
| Co | - | 0.0012 μg/day ^a | | | | (EVM, 2003) |
| Fe | 2500 μg/100 kcal | 500 μg/day | | | | (EFSA, 2015a) |
| Mn | 100 µg/100 kcal | 3 µg/day | 0100 | 11.000 | 10.000 | (EFSA, 2016; Otten et al., 2006) |
| Sn | 50,000 µg/kg | 14,000 μg/kg b.w. | 9100 µg | 11,200 µg | 13,300 µg | (EFSA, 2005a; EFSA, 2006) |
| Zn | 2400 µg/100 kcal | 1000 µg/day | | | | (EFSA, 2016) |
| Se | | Until 6 months: 15 μ g/day | | | | (Agostoni et al., 2014) |
| Po | | 200 ug dig b w | 1200 | 1600 | 1000 | (USEDA 200E) |
| Da Mo | | 200 μg/kg b.w. | 1300 µg | 1000 µg | 1900 µg | (US EFA, 2003) (Agostopi et al. 2012) |
| Sr | | 130 µg/day | 845 ug | 1440 µg | 1710 ug | (FAO/WHO 2010) |
| I | | 70-130 ug/day | 010 48 | 1110 48 | 1/10 μ8 | (Agostoni et al. 2014) |
| - | | , o 100 µg, ady | | | | (18000011 00 011) |
| Nitrogen compounds | | | | | | |
| Melamine | - | 200 μg/kg b.w. ^a | 1300 µg | 1600 μg | 1900 µg | (Alexander et al., 2010) |
| Chamical compounds dariva | d from heat treatment | | | | | |
| Acrylamide | 50 ug/kg | 2.6 ug/kg h w | 16.9 µg | 20.8 μσ | 24.7 ug | (FESA 2015b: Tardiff et al. 2010) |
| Glycidol | - 50 μg/ kg | $2.0 \ \mu g/kg b.w.^{a}$ | 13.65 µg | 20.0 μg 16.8 μg | 24.7 μg 19.95 μσ | (FFSA 2016) |
| 3-MCPD | 125 µg/kg | 2 µg/kg b.w. | 13 µg | 16 µg | 19 µg | (EFSA, 2020; EFSA, 2018) |
| 2-MCPD | - | $1.2 \mu g/kg b.w.^{a}$ | 7.8 μg | 9.6 μg | 11.4 μg | (EFSA, 2016) |
| Benzo[a]pyrene | 1 μg/kg | 7300 µg/kg b.w. | 10 | 10 | 10 | (EFSA, 2007b; EFSA, 2008) |
| PAH2 | - | 170 μg/kg b.w. ^a | 1105 µg | 1360 µg | 1615 µg | (EFSA, 2008) |
| PAH4 | 1 μg/kg | 340 μg/kg b.w. ^a | 2210 µg | 2720 µg | 3230 µg | (EFSA, 2008; EFSA, 2007b |
| PAH8 | - | 490 µg/kg b.w. ^a | 3185 µg | 3920 µg | 4655 µg | (EFSA, 2008) |
| Dioxins | 0.003 µg/kg | | | | | (EFSA, 2006) |
| Furan | | 64 μg/kg b.w. ^b | 416 µg | 512 µg | 608 µg | (Knutsen et al., 2017) |
| 5-HMF | | 1600 µg/person/day | | | | (Arribas-Lorenzo and Morales, 2010) |
| Mycotoxins | | | | | | |
| AFB1 | 0.1 ug/kg | 0.4 µg/kg b.w. | 2.6 µg | 3.2 µg | 3.8 µg | (EFSA, 2006; Schrenk et al., 2020a) |
| OTA | 0.5 µg/kg | 14.5 µg/kg b.w. | 94.25 ug | 116 ug | 137.75 ug | (EFSA, 2006; Schrenk et al., 2020a) |
| AFM1 | 0.025 µg/kg | 0.0002 μg/kg b.w. | 0.0013 µg | 0.0016 µg | 0.0019 µg | (EFSA, 2006; Kuiper-Goodman, 1990) |
| DON | 200 μg/kg | 1 μg/kg b.w. | 6.5 μg | 8 µg | 9.5 μg | (EFSA, 2006; EFSA, 2014a) |
| ZEN | 20 µg/kg | 0.25 μg/kg b.w. | 1.625 μg | 2 µg | 2.375 μg | (EFSA, 2006; EFSA, 2014a) |
| Fumonisins (B1 + B2) | 200 µg/kg | 2 μg/kg b.w. | 13 µg | 16 µg | 19 µg | (EFSA, 2006; EFSA, 2014a) |
| T2 + HT-2 | | 100 ng/kg b.w. | 0.65 µg | 0.8 µg | 0.95 μg | (EFSA, 2011a) |
| Destisides | | | | | | |
| OCPs | 10 ug/kg | | | | | (FESA 2018) |
| OPPs | 10 µg/ kg | 0.3 ug/kg h w | 1.95 µg | 24.00 | 2.85 ug | (EFSA 2012a) |
| Carbamates | | 0.558 µg/kg b.w. | 3.63 µg | 2.τ μ ₅ 4 46 μσ | 5.30 μg | (EFSA 2007c) |
| Pesticides | 10 ug/kg | 01000 µg/ kg 51111 | 0100 µ8 | 1110 148 | 0100 48 | (EFSA, 2018) |
| Haloxyfop | 10.0 | 0.65 μg/kg b.w. | 4.23 μg | 5.2 µg | 6.18 µg | (EFSA, 2014b) |
| Atrazine | 50 μg/kg | 10.0 | 10 | 10 | 10 | (EFSA, 2015b) |
| Triazine | 5000 μg/kg | | | | | (EFSA, 2011b) |
| D 1 1 1 | | | | | | |
| Packaging materials | | | 51.05 | (2.0.) | 75.05 | |
| Phinalates | | 7.9 μg/kg D.W. | 51.35 μg | 63.2 μg | 75.05 μg | (EFSA, 2005D) (Balagrasi et al. 2015) |
| DEAc | | $4 \mu g/kg D.w.$ | 20 μg | 32 μg | 38 µg | (Bologliesi et al., 2015) (Schronk et al., 2020b) |
| DEHD | | 50 μg/kg b.w. | 225 µg | 0.005 μg | 0.000 μg | (Schrenk et al., 2020b) (EESA 2005b) |
| DEFP | | $10 \mu g/kg b.w$ | 525 μg 65 μg | 400 μg 80 μg | 473 μg 95 μσ | (Silano et al. 2019) |
| BBP | | 500 µg/kg b.w. | 3250 ug | 4000 ug | 4750 ug | (Silano et al., 2019) |
| DIDP | | 150 µg/kg b.w. | 975 ug | 1200 µg | 1425 ug | (Silano et al., 2019) |
| DINP | | 150 μg/kg b.w. | 975 ug | 1200 µg | 1425 ug | (Silano et al., 2019) |
| | | | FO | r'o | r'o | , ====; |
| Other environmental contan | ninants | | | | | |
| PBDE-47 | | 309 μg/kg b.w. | 2008.5 μg | 2472 μg | 2935.5 μg | (EFSA, 2011c) |
| PBDE-99 | | 12 µg/kg b.w. | 78 μg | 96 μg | 114 μg | (EFSA, 2011c) |
| PBDE-153 | | 83 µg/kg b.w. | 539.5 μg | 664 µg | 788.5 μg | (EFSA, 2011c) |
| PRDE-209 | | 1.7 μg/kg b.w. | 11.05 μg | 13.6 µg | 16.15 μg | (EFSA, 2011C) (EESA, 2012b) |
| MON SCODe | | 400 μg/kg D.W. | 3120 μg | 3840 µg | 4000 μg | (EFSA, 2012D) (Schronk et al. 2020c) |
| 00013 | | ου με/ κε υ.w. | 190 µg | 240 μg | 205 μg | (JULIELIK CL dl., 20200) |

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)

| Contaminant or residue | Threshold levels in formula | Tolerable daily intake (TDI) | Calculated values according to the age and weight | | References | |
|--|-----------------------------|---|---|--|---|---|
| | | | 3 months (6.5 kg) | 6 months (8 kg) | 12 months (9.5 kg) | |
| MCCPs TBBPA HBCDDs Perchlorate MP + EP | 20 µg/kg | 6 μg/kg b.w. 1000 μg/kg b.w. 2.35 μg/kg b.w. 10,000 μg/kg b.w. | 39 µg 6500 µg 15.27 µg 65,000 µg | 48 μg 8000 μg 18.8 μg 80,000 μg | 57 μg 9500 μg 22.32 μg 95,000 μg | (Schrenk et al., 2020c) (Alexander et al., 2011) (Alexander et al., 2011) (EFSA, 2014c) (EFSA, 2004b) |

Abbreviations: b.w.: body weight; Ni: nickel; Cu: cooper; As: arsenic; Pb: lead; Hg: mercury; Al: aluminum; Cd: cadmium; Cr: chrome; Co: cobalt; Fe: iron; Mn: manganese; Sn: tin; Zn: zinc; 3-MCPD: 3-monochloropropane-1,2-diol; 2-MCPD: 2-monochloropropane-1,2-diol; PAH: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons; AFB1: aflatoxin B1: OTA: ochra-toxin A; AFM1: aflatoxin M1; DON: deoxynivalenol; ZEN: zearalenone; T2: T-2 toxin; H-T2: HT-2 toxin; OCPs: organochlorine pesticides; OPPs: organophosphorus pesticides; BPA: bisphenol A; PBDEs: polybrominated diphenyl ethers; PFAs: perfluorinated alkyl substances; MOH: mineral oil hydrocarbon; SCCPs: short-chain chlorinated parafins.

^b Selected BMDL₁₀ due to the absence of an established TDI.

On the other hand, although breast milk is the natural and ideal source of feeding for infants to provide both the energy and the nutrients that they need, this is not always possible, and a great alternative would be the use of infant formula. For this, the composition of infant formula needs to meet the nutritional requirements according to the WHO and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (World Health Organization (WHO), 2021), in order to provide all infant nourishment needs from 3 to 36 months old in substitution of breastfeeding. It is made of bovine milk, milk from other sources, or a mixture with/without other ingredients to complement infantile nutritional requirements. In this way, infant formula can be found as skimmed, diluted with vegetable oils, complemented with vitamins, minerals, and iron, and with added soy or rice for medical requirements like formulae for special needs (Martin et al., 2016). This composition, at macro and micronutrient levels, should be similar to natural breast milk. The quality and safety of infant formulas are highly regulated by government agencies, and all manufacturers must ensure the accomplishment of national and international quality criteria (Martin et al., 2016).

The consumption of both breast milk and formula will depend on the infant and their age. Although the breast milk intake is difficult to calculate, the infant formula usually comes with guidelines according to the manufacturer. In this sense, the intake of milk/formula is usually around 1 L, depending on the infant, divided in different servings during the day (Nestlé, 2008). There are maximum limits for contaminants and toxins established for these products, like those described by Codex Alimentarius (CODEX ALIMENTARIUS, 2016, 2017). In Table 1 are described the regulatory limits for main chemical contaminants and residues found in breast milk and infant formula.

Pollutants such as heat-treatment chemicals, pesticides, toxins, residues of packaging materials, and metals/metalloids, among others, can appear in both breast milk and infant formula. In the case of natural breast milk, the infant can be exposed to maternal environment, diet, and medical treatments. In the case of the infant formula, the different processes involved in their production, packing, transport, or storage process may also interfere (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020). The potential risk of these contaminants through the diet will depend on the levels and time of exposure.

The main contaminants taking part in childhood nourishment consist of the following: metals and metalloids (including arsenic (As), aluminum (Al), cadmium (Cd), lead (Pb), or mercury (Hg), among others), nitrogenous compounds (such as melamine or dicyandiamine), chemical compounds resulting from heat treatments (as advanced glycation end products (AGEs), acrylamide, furan, chloropropanols or glycidil esters (GE)), pharmaceutical drugs (antibiotics, hormones, etc.), mycotoxins (such as aflatoxins, ochratoxin A or zearalenone), pesticides (persistent organic pollutants (POPs), organochlorines (OCPs), organophosphates (OPPs), carbamates, pyrethroids, glyphosate, triazines, etc.), packaging materials (polyvinyl chloride (PVC), phthalates, bisphenol A) and other environmental contaminants (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020).

Taking all of this into account, the aim of the present review is to make an exhaustive search into the literature to compare the types of pollutants that

can be present in both types of nutrition. With this information and considering different factors such as the environment and life conditions, a more convenient choice can be made in terms of the nutrition of the infants.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Search methodology

The databases Scopus and Pubmed/Medline were used for searching the required information to achieve the objectives of this review. The access to these manuscripts was granted through the library of the University of Seville, which has an open access agreement with the main publishers.

Search was performed using the following terms: for breast milk articles, the descriptors used were (breast milk OR breastfeeding OR human breast milk) AND (contaminants OR metals OR bpa OR heavy AND metals OR pesticides OR pops OR nitrogenous OR phthalates OR mycotoxins) from 2012 to 2022; and for infant formula the descriptors used were (infant AND formula OR infant AND formulas OR infant AND formulae OR infant AND formulas OR baby AND foods) AND (contaminants OR metals OR bpa OR heavy AND metals OR pesticides OR pops OR nitrogenous OR phthalates OR mycotoxins) from 2012 to 2022. All terms were included in titles, keywords or abstracts. The different numbers of manuscripts found are gathered in Table 2.

2.2. Data treatment and analysis

A compilation of relevant information and data about the main contaminants present in breast milk and infant formula worldwide was made. The data screening was focused on those studies with a large number of samples, located in concrete areas, with a clear population, and where the methodology used was described, and the detection of the product itself was trust-worthy in terms of sensitivity, and coming from original research works, and available internationally (written in English).

The papers finally selected for inclusion in this review were based not only on the title, but also on the screening of the abstract and full text (Fig. 1). It is important to note that other relevant studies related to this topic were found by cross-referencing.

Once the data was obtained, two databases were built, one for the data related to breast milk and the other with the data related to infant formula. Both databases contained the following 6 sections: (1) location, (2) number of samples (N), (3) contaminants/residues found, (4) analytical methods, (5) main outcomes, (6) references.

3. Results and discussion

After applying the selection criteria, a total of 65 and 73 manuscripts were included for breast milk and infant formula, respectively, discovering the main health effects of each group of pollutants. Thus, the studies were divided according to the toxicants into different categories.

Search in the two main databases for the terms used. Different number of articles found in the two main databases used for this purpose, which included information about breast milk or infant formula, and its main contaminants.

| Search keywords | Database | Number of articles | Year of the search |
|---|----------|--------------------|--------------------|
| (breast milk OR breastfeeding OR human breast milk) AND (contaminants OR metals OR bpa OR heavy AND metals OR pesticides OR pops OR nitrogenous OR phthalates OR mycotoxins) | PubMed | n = 2109 | 2022 |
| (breast milk OR breastfeeding OR human breast milk) AND (contaminants OR metals OR bpa OR heavy AND metals OR pesticides OR pops OR nitrogenous OR phthalates OR mycotoxins) | SCOPUS | n = 303 | 2022 |
| (infant AND formula OR infant AND formulas OR infant AND formulae OR infant AND food OR baby AND foods) AND | PubMed | n = 2605 | 2022 |
| (contaminants OR metals OR bpa OR heavy AND metals OR pesticides OR pops OR nitrogenous OR phthalates OR mycotoxins) (infant AND formula OR infant AND formulas OR infant AND formulae OR infant AND food OR baby AND foods) AND (contaminants OR metals OR bpa OR heavy AND metals OR pesticides OR pops OR nitrogenous OR phthalates OR mycotoxins) | SCOPUS | n = 448 | 2022 |

3.1. Metals

Metal ions are required for the maintenance of many biological functions in the human body (Gupta, 2018). Therefore, it is important to have a good amount of them, while an excess, especially of those known as heavy metals, can exert toxicity on the organism (Gupta, 2018). Concerning this, while chromium (Cr) and copper (Cu) present a very narrow concentration range between beneficial and toxic effects in the organism, some others such as Al, As, barium (Ba), beryllium (Be), bismuth (Bi), Cd, gallium (Ga), germanium (Ge), gold (Au), indium (In), Pb, lithium (Li), Hg, or nickel (Ni), have no established biological function (Chang, 1996; Tchounwou et al., 2012).

Despite the mechanisms regulating the secretion of essential metals in milk to the newborn from the mammary glands, levels of these compounds have been found in breast milk (Cardoso et al., 2017; Tchounwou et al., 2012). These types of compounds usually have high lipid solubility, together with their accumulation in some specific body tissues (Cardoso et al., 2017). Due to the biological relevance of metal exposure in infants, several studies have been carried out regarding their presence in both breast milk and infant formula. According to their position on the periodic table and their properties, these elements can be divided into metals (such as iron (Fe), Cr, cobalt (Co), Cu, Hg, etc.) and metalloids (boron (B), silicon (Si), Ge, As, antimony (Sb), tellurium (Te) and, polonium (Po)).

Among the most common ones, it is important to mention As, Hg, Pb, and Cd due to their toxic properties. As is one of five toxic metals (together with Hg, Pb, Cd, and Cr) of priority list published by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2022). This metalloid is environmentally present in both organic and inorganic forms. Inorganic forms are soluble in water, and they are able to accumulate in soils and move up through the food chain, while organic forms are absorbed in the digestive tract as As(III) and As (V). This As(V) is reduced to As(III), and in this process are generated reactive intermediates that can lead to toxic effects such as lower body of newborn child, weakening of cognitive functions, or respiratory disease (Carignan et al., 2015). The exposure and accumulation of As can be due to drinking water contamination. On the other hand, Hg is present in the environment in organic (MeHg), inorganic (Hg²⁺) or elemental (Hg⁰) forms. These forms are present in the atmosphere or in water. The presence of Hg in breast milk is usually due to the consumption of fish, the use of



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of data treatment.

amalgam fillings, or the residence in mining areas (Maeda et al., 2019). The absorption pathways of different forms of Hg are respiratory, digestive, and transdermic. Once inside, it either accumulates in kidneys and tissues with high fat-density, or is excreted through urine, feces, or bile. Inorganic Hg can also cross the blood-brain barrier due to its high lipophilicity and be transported to the placenta due to this physicochemical property (Holmes et al., 2009). This lipophilicity leads to the finding of Hg levels in breast milk, and the exposure during lactation may be related with damage to neuronal development (Al-Saleh et al., 2013). Some other relevant compounds that can be found in milk are Pb and Cd. Lead can get into organisms by digestive, respiratory, and transdermic pathways, and is transported by red blood cells into the liver, kidneys, and nervous system, or accumulated in hair. It is excreted by urine, feces, sweat, and in nursing mothers by breast milk (Babayigit et al., 2016). This element has high affinity for thiol groups and contributes to the production of reactive oxygen species, which generates oxidation of enzymes, proteins, and even DNA (Flora et al., 2012). Lead is accumulated in bones, where it remains for life, but can be released into the body and milk as a result of bone resorption during pregnancy and lactation (Gulson et al., 2004). Concerning Cd, the exposure is depending on lifestyle such as smoking, diet and place of residence. Cadmium can get into the body through respiratory and digestive tracts, binds to proteins like albumins and metallothionein, and is transported by blood (Zalups and Ahmad, 2003). When it binds to chlorine (Cl), they form CdCl₂, which affects liver and kidneys through long-term accumulation by strong affinity to the complex Cd-metallothionein and is excreted by feces and urine. It is associated with asthma prevalence and preterm birth (Wang et al., 2016).

Besides those compounds, it is also important to consider the maternal environmental exposure to trace elements like Al, magnesium (Mg), Cu, Fe, molybdenum (Mo), selenium (Se), zinc (Zn), Ba, and strontium (Sr), which can occur through lifestyle, air, area of residence, food, or sometimes by artisanal aluminum cookware (Weidenhamer et al., 2017). Manganese, Cu, Fe, Mo, Se, and Zn are essential for several enzymatic reactions as arginine, glutamine synthetase, for synthesis of hemoglobin, integrity of central nervous system, antioxidant capacity, and cofactor as enzymes, whereas for Ba and Sr there is no current evidence of their essentiality. In this sense, Mn is important for development and for the antioxidant system as cofactor of certain enzymes (Prashanth et al., 2015), but can be accumulated in certain brain regions, which can lead to neurotoxic effects (Dobson et al., 2004). Furthermore, Cu is an essential component of enzymes present in electron transport, oxidation, and synthesis of melanin (Uauy et al., 1998). Moreover, Fe is important in an array of enzymes, oxygen transport and energy-transduction systems (Siegel et al., 2011), and its deficiency is related to anemia. Zinc participates in the structure of three thousand proteins in humans and has a regulatory function in mammalian cells. Chromium is a transition metal naturally present in the environment and some industrial processes release amounts of Cr via food, air, or water. This metalloid can easily cross the placenta, causing fetal damage as well (Barker et al., 2002). Lastly, Ni can be found in air, soil, water, biological material, and in anthropogenic activities (dental or orthopedic implants, metallurgical, tobacco, etc.) (Cempel and Nikel, 2006). This element is involved in iron metabolism and can stabilize the tertiary structure of nucleic acids and proteins (Nielsen, 1982). However, it is responsible of some allergic contact dermatitis (Nielsen, 1982) by dermal contact, and a potent carcinogen by inhalation (Haber et al., 2000).

Focusing on the development, exposure to toxic metals and metalloids in prenatal and postnatal stages can cause a negative impact on the offspring health from birth by leading to cancer, allergy, or neurodevelopmental disorders and cognitive impairments (Weyde et al., 2021). For instance, the exposure to Pb during development can lead to several adverse effects on the hematologic, gastrointestinal, and renal systems (Tatsuta et al., 2020). In addition, Cd, As, Pb, and Mn have also been linked to anthropometric changes such as lower birth weight, shorter gestational age, or smaller head circumference (Rahman et al., 2021). Furthermore, Ni has also been related to different types of cancer and, additionally, to dermatitis or epigenetic changes and apoptosis induction (Yüksel et al., 2021).

From the early stages of life, ranging from prenatal to the first years of life of the newborn, neurodevelopment might be one of the most important functions to be developed. Emerging evidence relates Pb-, Cd-, and Hgexposure to reduced intelligence score and neuropsychological test scores, both abnormalities in neurodevelopment, while Mn has also been associated with poor neurobehavioral performance (Lee et al., 2021). Cadmium has also been linked to lowered cognition and neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases (Sulaiman et al., 2020). In addition, Al is also one of the metals that might play an important role in the development of these disorders. Aluminum-induced neurotoxicity is yet to be completely elucidated, although it is known that this chemical plays important roles such as acceleration and promotion of some characteristics of brain aging, and Al salts can lead to glial activation and cytoskeletal changes in neural cells (Sulaiman et al., 2020). Moreover, Hg has a very strong capacity to permanently damage the nervous system, including personality, sensory, cognitive, and memory deficits (Sulaiman et al., 2020). These developmental stages are so sensitive to changes because it is during this time that different processes such as synaptic pruning, myelination, and neuronal transmission, among others, take place, and the exposure to metals can cause disturbances on a correct development (Bauer et al., 2020).

Among the most important neurodevelopmental disorders, in the recent years, autism spectrum disorder (ASD) has drawn an increased attention since it refers to a wide range of disorders characterized by a varied array of behavioral aberrations, communication difficulties, and even challenges in social interaction (Sulaiman et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2019). The symptoms of ASD become noticeable in the early years of childhood, between the second and fifth year of life, and they persist on adulthood, being associated with other coexisting conditions that range from epilepsy to attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Wang et al., 2019). The pathogenesis of ASD remains still not understood and appears to be multifactorial, with a combination of genetic and biological factors with environmental influences during a certain window on the development where increasing metal exposure due to a rise of industrialization plays and important role (Sulaiman et al., 2020).

Taking all the above into account, the detection of these compounds in breast milk and infant formula is essential in terms of children's safety. Concerning the metals and metalloids found in breast milk, the most common found were Pb, Mn, Zn, Cd, Hg, and Ni. In this sense, in Africa, a study performed in Morocco measuring the levels of Pb in breast milk led to a mean value lower than the TDI established by the EFSA, although the levels were higher than this value in some of the samples tested (Cherkani-Hassani et al., 2021a). This element was also measured in Nigeria, where a study of some other metals such as Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, and Zn, was also performed, dividing the findings by age range. In this sense, also dangerous levels of Pb were detected in all the cohorts measured, together with high levels of Cd, and levels close to the TDI value were observed in 18-25 years old mothers for Cr (Ekeanyanwu et al., 2020). Similar elements were found in Asia, as a study performed in Turkey in 34 mothers led to excessive values of Pb, Cd, and Ni (Nazlıcan et al., 2022). These pollutants were also found in America, as 4 different studies performed in Brazil led to higher values of Mn, As, Pb, Cd, Cu, Se, Zn, Fe, and I than the recommended, while elements such as Al, Hg, and Mo gave a safe mean between all the subject, although some of them presented also higher values than the ones considered safe (Alves Peixoto et al., 2019; Bastos et al., 2018; Mello-Neto et al., 2010; Trinta et al., 2020). In addition, in Europe, high levels of Zn, Mn, Fe, Ni, Se, and Cu were detected in Spain, while levels lower than the TDI of As, Cd, Pb, Hg, and Cr were found. However, in the last case, although the mean was considered safe, some of the samples gave values very above the concentration recommended (Motas et al., 2021). All these findings are gathered in Table 3.

Regarding the metals found in formula, exceeding values of these pollutants have been found in Africa, America, Asia, and Europe as well,

Levels of metals found in breast milk expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Ref. |
|-------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------|---------------------|---|---|
| <i>Africa</i> Morocco Nigeria | n = 70 n = 225 divided by age: | Pb Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Pb, Zn | ICP-MS HPLC, AAS | Pb: 23.08 ± 62.75 μg/L 18-25 years old: | (Cherkani-Hassani et al., 2021b) (Ekeanyanwu et al., 2020) |
| | 18-25: n = 34 26-30: n = 118 31-35: n = 45 36-40: n = 28 | | | Cd: $25 \pm 13 \ \mu g/L$ Cr: $20 \pm 13 \ \mu g/L$ Cu: $34 \pm 11 \ \mu g/L$ Fe: $51 \pm 59 \ \mu g/L$ Pb: $44 \pm 13 \ \mu g/L$ Zn: $7 \pm 51 \ \mu g/L$ 26-30 years old: | |
| | | | | Cd: 31 \pm 14 µg/L Cr: 18 \pm 12 µg/L Cu: 37 \pm 14 µg/L Fe: 47 \pm 24 µg/L Pb: 39 \pm 12 µg/L Zn: 8 \pm 6 µg/L 31-35 years old: | |
| | | | | Cd: 28 \pm 13 µg/L Cr: 26 \pm 11 µg/L Cu: 45 \pm 6 µg/L Fe: 67 \pm 57 µg/L Pb: 39 \pm 15 µg/L Zn: 18 \pm 13 µg/L 31-35 years old: | |
| | | | | Cd: 27 \pm 16 µg/L Cr: 14 \pm 42 µg/L Cu: 29 \pm 14 µg/L Fe: 31 \pm 16 µg/L Pb: 31 \pm 16 µg/L Zn: 6 \pm 21 µg/L | |
| Zimbabwe | n = 120 (control vs medium exposed vs occupational exposure) | Hg | CV-AAS | Control group: 0.5 µg/L Medium exposure group: 1.10 µg/L High exposure group: 1.20 µg/L (No limits or deviation was given) | (Bose-O'Reilly et al., 2020) |
| America Brazil | n = 106 | Cd, Pb, Al, As, Hg, Mn, Pb | FIMS, ICP-OES | Al: 2307 \pm 2300 µg/L Mn: 119 \pm 170 µg/L As: 63 \pm 100 µg/L Hg: 10 \pm 10 µg/L Pb: 531 \pm 400 µg/L Cd: 74 \pm 10 µg/L | (Bastos et al., 2018) |
| Brazil | n = 156 | Ba, Cu, Fe, Mn, Mo, Se, Sr, Zn | ICP-MS | Ba: 11.6: 0.6–88.2 µg/L Cu: 618.3: 95.4–954.5 µg/L Fe: 380: 110.5–3594 µg/L Mn: 4.5: 1.6–22.2 µg/L Mo: 9.3: 0.1–39.1 µg/L Se: 12.6: 3.0–70.6 µg/L Sr: 43.5: 14.9–71.1 µg/L | (Alves Peixoto et al., 2019) |
| Brazil | n = 25 Pre-term: n = 12 Full-term: n = 13 | Fe, Cu, Zn, I | HPLC-ICP-MS | Zn: 2614.4: 422.8–17,727.2 μg/L Pre-term: Fe: 997 ± 1240 μg/L Cu: 506 ± 241 μg/L Zn: 4150 ± 3090 μg/L I = 458 ± 324 μg/L Full-term: | (Trinta et al., 2020) |
| Brazil | n = 161 | Fe | ICP-OES | Fe: 733 ± 1120 μg/L Cu: 234 ± 136 μg/L Zn: 2910 ± 3090 μg/L I: 2550 ± 1300 μg/L 16-19 years old: 400 ± 210 μg/L 20 20 μg/L 220 ± 200 μg/L | (Mello-Neto et al., 2010) |
| | 16-19 years old: $n = 18$ 20-29 years old: $n = 74$ 30-41 years old: $n = 44$ | | | 30-41 years old: 390 \pm 540 µg/L | |

Table 3 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Ref. |
|--------------|-------------|---|-----------------|---|---------------------------|
| Asia | * · · | | | | |
| South Korea | n = 207 | Hg | AMA, AAS | 15 days: Hg: 1.19 ± 1.24 μg/L 30 days: Hg: 0.79 ± 0.73 μg/L | (Park et al., 2018) |
| Saudi Arabia | n = 155 | Hg | AAS, GC-MS, AMA | 1.191 ± 0.764 μg/L | (Al-Saleh et al., 2013) |
| Turkey | n = 34 | Cr, As, Cd, Hg, Pb | ICP-MS | Cr: $8.249 \pm 11.69 \ \mu g/L$ As: $1.64 \pm 1.85 \ \mu g/L$ Cd: $0.37 \pm 0.47 \ \mu g/L$ Hg: $2.59 \pm 3.47 \ \mu g/L$ Pb: $12.12 \pm 9.08 \ \mu g/L$ | (Nazlıcan et al., 2022) |
| Turkey | n = 64 | Pb, Cd, Ni, As | AAS | Pb: 391.45 ± 269.01 µg/L Cd: 4.62 µg/L (1 sample) Ni: 43.94 ± 33.82 µg/L As: Not detected | (Gürbay et al., 2012) |
| Europe | | | | | |
| Cyprus | n = 50 | Pb, Cd, As, Hg | ELISA, ICP-MS | Pb: 1.19 ± 1.53 µg/L Cd: 0.45 ± 0.23 µg/L As: 0.73 ± 0.58 µg/L Hg: 0 ± 0.20 µg/L | (Kunter et al., 2017) |
| Norway | n = 300 | Cd, Pb, Hg | ICP-MS/MS | Hg: $0.2 \pm 0.17 \ \mu g/kg$ Cd: $0.08 \pm 0.10 \ \mu g/kg$ Pb: not detected | (Vollset et al., 2019) |
| Poland | n = 320 | Cd, Pb, Cu, Zn | GF AAS | Cd: 2.114 ± 2.112 μg/L Pb: 6.331 ± 4.614 μg/L Cu: 0.137 ± 0.092 μg/L Zn: 1.623 ± 1.763 μg/L | (Winiarska-Mieczan, 2014) |
| Spain | n = 50 | Al, Zn, As, Cd, Pb, Hg, Cr, Mn, Fe, Ni, Cu, Se | ICP-MS | Al: $34.3 \pm 133.0 \ \mu g/L$ Zn: $1402.6 \pm 1742.7 \ \mu g/L$ As: $0.9 \pm 2.71 \ \mu g/L$ Cd: $0.4 \pm 1.6 \ \mu g/L$ Pb: $5.2 \pm 16.7 \ \mu g/L$ Hg: $5.6 \pm 12.4 \ \mu g/L$ Cr: $16.1 \pm 63.6 \ \mu g/L$ Mn: $10.7 \pm 63.6 \ \mu g/L$ Fe: $679.1 \pm 1387.3 \ \mu g/L$ Ni: $25.3 \pm 33.8 \ \mu g/L$ Cu: $368.5 \pm 301.0 \ \mu g/L$ Se: $44.5 \pm 49.5 \ \mu g/L$ | (Motas et al., 2021) |
| Spain | n = 242 | Pb, Hg, Cd, As | ICP-MS | As: 1.49: 0.56-3.50 μg/L Hg: 0.26: 0.05-1.17 μg/L Pb: 0.14: 0.10-6.31 μg/L Cd: not detected | (Freire et al., 2022) |

being Fe, Zn, Mn, and Ni the most common ones. In the case of Africa, high values of Zn have been found in Egypt, Ethiopia, and Tanzania (Eticha et al., 2018; Ghuniem et al., 2020b; Sager et al., 2018). In addition, high levels of Fe, Cu, Mn, and As were found in Egypt (Ghuniem et al., 2020b; Ghuniem et al., 2020a; Ibrahim et al., 2020), while in Nigeria, high levels of Mn, Cr, Co, As, Pb, and Cd were reported as well (Igweze et al., 2020a,b; Igweze et al., 2019). Additionally, although the results together led to a value higher than the one established by EFSA, higher levels were detected for Al and Hg in some of the cases as well (Igweze et al., 2020a,b). Furthermore, in Tanzania, high levels of calcium (Ca), Co, I, potassium (K), Mg, Mn, Mo, sodium (Na), phosphorus (P), sulfur (S) and Ba, among others, were also detected (Sager et al., 2018). Concerning America, a study performed using only 3 samples led to high levels of Zn in Brazil, while also in a Brazilian study, high levels of As, Cr and Ni were detected (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020; de Paiva et al., 2019). In Asia, exceeding levels of Fe, Zn, Mn, Ni, and Co were found in Jordan (Tahboub et al., 2021), while in Pakistan, the exceeding values were found for Fe and Zn, while high levels of Cd were found only for some of the samples (Saeed et al., 2021). In Europe, the metal exceeding the TDI value in most countries was Fe, according to studies performed in Italy (Astolfi et al., 2021), Malta (Vella and Attard, 2019), and Spain (Gómez-Nieto et al., 2020; Paz, 2017). In addition, high levels of Mn and Zn were also found in Malta and Spain (Motas et al., 2021; Vella and Attard, 2019), while exceeding levels of Co were found in Italy (Astolfi et al., 2021) and of Ni in Malta (Vella and Attard, 2019). These studies are collected in Table 4.

As a conclusion, more metals were found in infant formula in Africa, Asia, and Europe, while it seemed to be safer metal-wise in America, as can be seen represented in Supplementary Fig. 1.

3.2. Chemical compounds derived from heat treatment

Among the pollutants that can be found in both breast milk and infant formula, it is also worth to mention the presence of chemical compounds derived from heat treatment. In this category, different types of contaminants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), dioxins, acrylamide, etc. can be found (Acharya et al., 2019). In this regard, PAHs are a large group of chemicals containing 2 to 7 fused aromatic rings (Kim et al., 2013). These pollutants are released into the environment, and thus reach humans through both natural and anthropogenic sources, such as incomplete burning of fuels, garbage, or tobacco and plant material (Kim et al., 2013; Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in Drinking-water Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality, 2003; Zhang and Tao, 2009). These compounds are well-known for being carcinogenic, mutagenic, and teratogenic (Kim et al., 2013) and, although the organism is able to metabolize them after acute exposure, long-term exposure can lead to their accumulation in adipose tissues and visceral organs (Acharya et al., 2019). Among these compounds, the ones found in breast milk and/or infant formula according to the classification of the international agency for research on cancer (IARC) were benzo[a] pyrene as a carcinogenic to humans (1A); naphthalene, benzo[a]

Levels of metals found in infant formula expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Ref. |
|------------------------|----------------|---|-------------------|---|-------------------------|
| <i>Africa</i> Egypt | n = 83 | Cd, Cr, Co, Cu, Fe, Pb, Mn, Ni, Sn, Zn | ICP-OES and GFAAS | Cd: 5–17 µg/kg Fe: 32,000–86,870 µg/kg Cu: 0-8760 µg/kg | (Ghuniem et al., 2020b) |
| Egypt | n = 28 | Pb, Cd, Sb, Cu, Zn, Fe, Cr, Sn, Co, Mn, Ni | ICP OES + UN | Mn: 0-7110 µg/kg Zn: 22,460-87,300 µg/kg Cr, Co, Ni, and Pb: not detected Mn: 3300 µg/kg Fe: 47,400 µg/kg Cd: 20 µg/kg Cu: 1000 µg/kg Zn: 11 400 µg/kg | (Ghuniem et al., 2020a) |
| Egypt | n = 60 | Pb, As, Cd, Hg, Al | ICP-MS | Cr, Pb, Sb: Not detected Milk based: | (Ibrahim et al., 2020) |
| | | | | Pb: $424 \pm 6 \ \mu g/kg$ As: $205 \pm 3 \ \mu g/kg$ Cd: $14 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g/kg$ Hg: $298 \pm 7 \ \mu g/kg$ Al: $464 \pm 29 \ \mu g/kg$ Milk-cereal based: | |
| | | | | Pb: $145 \pm 4 \ \mu g/kg$ As: $214 \pm 8 \ \mu g/kg$ Cd: $14 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g/kg$ Hg: $296 \pm 14 \ \mu g/kg$ Al: $352 \pm 9 \ \mu g/kg$ | |
| Ethiopia | n = 5 | Cd, Pb, Zn | AAS | Cd: Not detected Pb: 0-103 µg/kg Zn: 27,888-71,553 µg/kg | (Eticha et al., 2018) |
| Nigeria | n = 26 | Fe, Z, Mn, Cr, Co | AAS | Milk based: | (Igweze et al., 2019) |
| | | | | Fe: $4080 \pm 1950 \ \mu g/kg$ Zn: $6710 \pm 2100 \ \mu g/kg$ Mn: $150 \pm 90 \ \mu g/kg$ Cr: $610 \pm 700 \ \mu g/kg$ Co: $120 \pm 320 \ \mu g/kg$ Cereal based: | |
| | | | | Fe: $3710 \pm 1090 \ \mu g/kg$ Zn: $6110 \pm 1450 \ \mu g/kg$ Mn: $90 \pm 60 \ \mu g/kg$ Cr: $360 \pm 620 \ \mu g/kg$ Co: $10 \pm 20 \ \mu g/kg$ Cereal mix based: | |
| | | | | Fe: 4490 \pm 1560 µg/kg Zn: 7140 \pm 2560 µg/kg Mn: 100 \pm 80 µg/kg Cr: 400 \pm 360 µg/kg Co: 10 \pm 10 µg/kg | |
| Nigeria | n = 26 | Al, As and Hg | AAS | Al: 410-2470 μg/kg As: 20-1560 μg/kg Hg: 0-50 μg/kg | (Igweze et al., 2020a) |
| Nigeria | n = 26 | Pb and Cd | AAS | Milk based: | (Igweze et al., 2020b) |
| | | | | сd: 10-550 µg/kg Cd: 10-550 µg/kg Cereal based: | |
| | | | | Pb: 290-1950 μg/kg Cd: 20-370 μg/kg Cereal mix based: | |
| Tanzania | n = 8 | Ca, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, J, K, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, P, S, Zn, Ba, Cd, Ni, Pb, Al, B, Be, Bi, | ICP-MS | Рb: 470-2340 µg/kg Cd: 1-460 µg/kg Ca: 8477000: 7,205,000–8,867,000 µg/kg Co: 41: 33-63 µg/kg | (Sager et al., 2018) |

(continued on next page)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Ref. |
|---------------|----------------|--|-----------------|--|------------------------------------|
| | () | Ce, Cs, Er, Eu, Gd, Ho, La, Li, Lu, Nd, | | Cr: 76: 60-91 µg/kg | |
| | | Pr, Rb, Sc, Si, Sm, Sr, Tb, Ti, Tl, V, Y | | Cu: 405: 218-664 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Fe: 2450: 1910-3380 μg/kg | |
| | | | | J: 2.08: 1130-6380 µg/kg | |
| | | | | K: 10452: 8,988,000-11,386,000 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Mg: 776000: 701,000-806,000 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Mil: 184: 157-265 µg/kg Mo: 208: 206 282 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Na: 2777000: 2 603 000-3 419 000 µg/kg | |
| | | | | P: 6843000: 5 923 000-7 411 000 µg/kg | |
| | | | | S: 2331000: 2.021.000-2759 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Zn: 31400: 26,800-33,800 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Ba: 594: 459-751 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Cd: 4: 2-8 µg/kg | |
| | | | | B: 740: 21-1550 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Ce: 2: 2-6 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Cs: 19: 13-29 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Li: 32: 7-57 µg/kg | |
| | | | | RD: 6550: 5880-13,670 μg/kg | |
| | | | | SI: 2980: 2310-5600 µg/kg | |
| | | | | 51. 2090. 2280-3030 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Ni Ph Al Be Bi Er En Gd Ho La Li Lu Nd Pr | |
| | | | | Sc, Sm, Tb, Tl, V, Y: not detected | |
| America | | | OF A AC | | (1. Delive et al. 2010) |
| Brazil | n = 3 | Ca, Pb, Al, Cu, Zn, Ni | GFAAS | Ca: $2 \mu g/Kg$ | (de Paiva et al., 2019) |
| | | | | AI: $1000 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ | |
| | | | | Cu. 410 $\mu g/kg$ 7n: 39 600 $\mu g/kg$ | |
| | | | | Ni: 50 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Pb: not detected | |
| Brazil | n = 140 | As, Cd, Pb, Al, Cr, Ni | ICP-MS | As: 0.007-0.01 µg/kg | (de Mendonca Pereira et al., 2020) |
| | | | | Cd: 0.23 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Pb: 0.90 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Al: 50 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Cr: 37.75 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Ni: 25.47 µg/kg | |
| United States | n = 91 | Pb, Cd | ICP-MS | Рb: 9.72 µg/kg Cd: 5.60 µg/kg | (Gardener et al., 2019) |
| Asia | | | | | |
| China | n = 93 | Cr, As, Cd, Pb | ICP-MS | Cr: 2.51–83.80 µg/kg | (Su et al., 2020) |
| | | | | As: 0.89–7.87 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Cd: 0.13–3.58 µg/kg | |
| India | - 10 | As Cd Us Dh | ICD MC | PD: $0.36-5.57 \ \mu g/kg$ | (Description and America, 2016) |
| India | n = 10 | AS, Cu, Hg, PD | ICP-INIS | As: $0.018 \ \mu g/kg$ | (Pacquette and Anumula, 2016) |
| | | | | Hσ· 0.013 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Pb: 0.016 µg/kg | |
| Iran | n = 80 | Pb, Cd | GFAAS and ELISA | Pb: 12.57 µg/kg | (Dehcheshmeh et al., 2021) |
| | | | | Cd: 4.97 µg/kg | |
| Iran | n = 30 | Zn, Cu | AAS | Zn: 3980 ± 250 µg/kg | (Khaghani et al., 2010) |
| | | | | Cu: 530 ± 170 µg/kg | |
| Jordan | n = 22 | 24 trace elements: Essential (Mg, Fe, | ICP-MS | Mg: 445,000 ± 256,000 μg/kg | (Tahboub et al., 2021) |
| | | Zn, Cu, Mn, Ni, Cr, Mo, Co, and Se), | | Fe: $65,002 \pm 33,400 \ \mu g/kg$ | |
| | | non-essential (Al, Ag, Ba, Bi, Cs, Ga, | | $2n: 32,009 \pm 19,000 \ \mu g/kg$ | |
| | | Li, RD, Sr, U, and V), and potentially | | Cu: $2420 \pm 1040 \mu\text{g/kg}$ | |
| | | toxic elements (As, Cd, and PD) | | Mii: $984 \pm 959 \mu\text{g/kg}$ | |
| | | | | $Cr: 588 + 381 \mu g/kg$ | |
| | | | | Mo: 135 \pm 75 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Co: 55.4 \pm 48.8 μ g/kg | |
| | | | | Se: 120 \pm 72 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Al: 4600 ± 3800 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Ag: 2.8 \pm 1.6 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Ba: 434 ± 250 μg/kg | |
| | | | | Bi: 7.0 \pm 2.8 µg/kg | |
| | | | | Cs: $10.4 \pm 11.6 \mu\text{g/kg}$ | |
| | | | | Ga: 2.09 \pm 1.73 µg/kg | |
| | | | | LL. 19.0 \pm 13.9 μ g/Kg Pb: 2672 \pm 1721 μ g/kg | |
| | | | | $r_{\rm L}$ 20/2 ± 1/31 μg/kg Sr 1597 + 73 μg/kg | |
| | | | | $U: 3.02 + 2.05 \mu\sigma/k\sigma$ | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | V: 21.9 \pm 14.4 µg/kg | |

| Table 4 (continu | ıed) | | | | |
|------------------------|----------------|--|----------------------|--|--|
| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Ref. |
| Lebanon | n = 78 | Pb, Cd, As | ICP-MS | Cd: 8.0 ± 16.3 μg/kg Pb: 64.9 ± 39.9 μg/kg Pb: 371 ± 581 μg/kg Cd: 255 ± 179 μg/kg | (Elaridi et al., 2021) |
| Pakistan | n = 10 | Fe, Zn, Cu, Pb, Cd, Al | FAAS | As: 88.7 ± 71.0 μg/kg Fe: 5230-7530 μg/kg | (Saeed et al., 2021) |
| | | | | Zn: 3200-5370 μg/kg Cu: 304.67-487.0 μg/kg Pb: 290-1050 μg/kg Cd: 280-980 μg/kg Al: 1480-2050 μg/kg | |
| Pakistan | n = 46 | Ca, Mg, Cu, Zn, Fe, Mn | AAS | Ca: $3081 \pm 277 \ \mu g/kg$ Mg: $540 \pm 206 \ \mu g/kg$ Cu: $1 \pm 0.76 \ \mu g/kg$ Zn: $8.97 \pm 2.35 \ \mu g/kg$ Fe: $4.33 \pm 2.22 \ \mu g/kg$ Mn: $0.0318 \pm 0.02 \ \mu g/kg$ Pb: $0.0091 \pm 0.01 \ \mu g/kg$ | (Lutfullah et al., 2014) |
| | | | | Cd: $0.1507 \pm 0.28 \ \mu g/kg$ Cr: $0.0007 \pm 0.00 \ \mu g/kg$ Ni: $0.0146 \pm 0.01 \ \mu g/kg$ | |
| Turkey | n = 29 | As, Pb, Cd | ICP-MS, GC–MS/MS | As: 0-30.67 μ g/kg (detected in 16 samples) Pb and Cd: not detected | (Kilic et al., 2018) |
| <i>Europe</i> Italy | n = 19 | Li, Na, K, Cl, Ca, P, Mg, Fe, Zn, Cu, I, Se, Mn, F, As, Cd, Pb, Hg, Sn, Cd, Cr, Mn, Ni, Pb, Zn, etc. | ICP-MS | Li: $7 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g/kg$ Na: $571,720 \pm 19,540 \ \mu g/kg$ Mg: $184,540 \pm 6727 \ mg/kg$ Si: $19,520 \pm 600 \ \mu g/kg$ | (Astolfi et al., 2021) |
| | | | | P: 714,910 \pm 19,727 µg/kg K: 2,292,360 \pm 63,818 µg/kg Ca: 2,409,270 \pm 22,000 µg/kg Ti: 98 \pm 4 µg/kg Co: 11 \pm 1 µg/kg Cu: 1246 \pm 37 µg/kg Ga: 4 \pm 1 µg/kg Rb: 2870 \pm 53 µg/kg Sr: 1219 \pm 73 µg/kg Mo: 154 \pm 7.3 µg/kg Sn: 25 \pm 2 µg/kg Ca: 4 \pm 1 µg/kg Sn: 25 \pm 2 µg/kg | |
| Malta | n = 6 | Toxic metals (Cr. Cu. Hg. Ni, Zn. | MP-AES | Ba: $1/5 \pm 4 \ \mu g/ kg$ La: $4 \pm 0.15 \ \mu g/ kg$ Fe: $27,960 \pm 600 \ \mu g/ kg$ -6 months formula: | (Vella and Attard, 2019) |
| Walta | | Mn and Fe) | | Cr: 290 \pm 50 µg/kg Cu: 3330 \pm 240 µg/kg Ni: 760 \pm 0.00 µg/kg Fe: 18,340 \pm 2510 µg/kg Mn: 2130 \pm 410 µg/kg Zn: 27,240 \pm 2770 µg/kg Hg: not detected 6-12 months formula: | |
| | | | | Cr: $240 \pm 30 \ \mu g/kg$ Cu: $3370 \pm 210 \ \mu g/kg$ Ni: $820 \pm 60 \ \mu g/kg$ Fe: $18,870 \pm 3060 \ \mu g/kg$ Mn: $2050 \pm 210 \ \mu g/kg$ Zn: $33,000 \pm 950 \ \mu g/kg$ Hg: not detected | |
| Portugal Spain | n = 26 $n = 2$ | NI Cd, Cu | GFAAS HR-CS-GFAAS | NI: 40.2 µg/kg Cu: 3850 µg/kg Cd: not detected | (Pereira et al., 2020) (Gómez-Nieto et al., 2020) |
| Spain | n = 30 | Na, K, Ca, Mg, Fe, Cu, Zn, Cr, B, Ba, Ni, Li, V, Sr, Mo, Mn, Al, Cd, Pb | ICP-OES | K: 4,107,000 \pm 264,000 µg/kg Mg: 441,000 \pm 16,500 µg/kg Na: 1,668,000 \pm 88,700 µg/kg Ca: 4,544,000 \pm 318,000 µg/kg Cr: 130 \pm 20 µg/kg Cu: 3750 \pm 400 µg/kg Fe: 55,900 \pm 7550 µg/kg Zn: 34,200 \pm 1090 µg/kg | (Paz, 2017) |

(continued on next page)

Table 4 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Ref. | |
|----------|----------------|--------------|---------|--|------|--|
| | | | | Mn: 1000 \pm 230 µg/kg Mo: 140 \pm 10 µg/kg V: 280 \pm 160 µg/kg Ni: 70 \pm 40 µg/kg Li: 960 \pm 440 µg/kg Sr: 2470 \pm 950 µg/kg Ba: 1200 \pm 420 µg/kg B: 1590 \pm 210 µg/kg AI: 4020 \pm 2010 µg/kg Cd: 10 \pm 0.00 µg/kg Pb: 70 \pm 20 µg/kg | | |

anthracene, chrysene, benzo[b]fluoranthene, benzo[k]fluoranthene, and indenol[1,2,3-c,d]pyrene as possibly carcinogenic to human (2B); and acenaphthene, fluorene, phenanthrene, fluoranthene, pyrene, and benzo [g,h,i]pervlene as not classifiable to human (3) (Acharya et al., 2019). Concerning dioxins, these are pollutants produced by combustion and various industrial productions such as industrial waste incineration, metal smelting, pesticides, etc. (Luo et al., 2021; WHO, 2016). These compounds are a compilation of polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs), polychlorinated dibenzodioxins (PCDDs), and PCBs (Tavakoly Sany et al., 2015). Among them, TCDD (2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin) is especially harmful, by causing modulation of the immune system, teratogenesis and tumor promotion (Tavakoly Sany et al., 2015). Regarding edible oils, due to their industrial processing to improve the organoleptic and quality of the refined product, the high-temperature deodorization step leads to the formation of fatty acid esters of 3-monochloropropanediol (3-MCPD), which is classified as possible carcinogenic for human (group 2B) (IARC, 2018); 2-monochloropropanediol (2-MCPD), which seems to affect striated muscle tissues and heart (Food Safety Authority, 2016); and glycidol, which has been labeled as probably carcinogenic to humans by IARC (2A) (Beekman et al., 2020; IARC, 2018; Hrncirik and van Duijn, 2011; Pudel et al., 2011). Regarding acrylamide, its main sources are fried, baked, and roasted high carbohydrate foods containing asparagine and reduced sugars, which are widely consumed worldwide (Lindeman et al., 2021). Acrylamide is considered to show an endocrine-disrupting potential, due to the existence of studies that relate the acrylamide exposition to detrimental effects on reproduction, hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis alterations and neurotoxic effects (Matoso et al., 2019).

Concerning the effects on development, the exposure to these compounds has been mainly related to changes on anthropometric indices, also closely related to thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) values, and neurodevelopmental impairments in newborns. Being the development of the fetus and the neonate a critical stage, the exposure to these pollutants can impact on growth rate and metabolic capabilities, which would lead to the lowered anthropometric indices and neurodevelopmental issues referred (Dehghani et al., 2022).

Focusing on the effects on anthropometric parameters, PHAs has been reported to exert an adverse correlation between exposure to these compounds and height and chest circumference in children (Xu et al., 2015). However, these compounds have the ability to reach the neonate way before birth, through the placenta, the same way they can reach the neonate through breast milk, causing decreased levels of TSH, and the consequences of hypothyroidisms and abnormal growth (Dehghani et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2015). For PHAs, a correlation between these compounds and evidence of higher risks of neurodevelopmental delay and close relation to developmental disability such as ADHD and ASD, and intellectual disabilities (Wallace et al., 2022).

Quite similar problems have been linked to PBDEs, even though information about the consequences of the exposure to these pollutants is scarce, it is known that they are likely able to cause changes on thyroid hormone levels, leading to an impact on the endocrine system, and thus, to effects on the neurodevelopment of the children (Jagić et al., 2021). The exposure to PCBs also has an impact on behavior and cognitive development after both pre- and postnatal exposure. For the postnatal exposure, authors reported association of PCBs to sleeping problems, and both anxiousness and depression on the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL), together with possible cognitive deficits being transient and decreasing as the children matures (Yim et al., 2022). Not only postnatal exposure has been related to anxiety and depression symptoms, but also prenatal exposure has been observed to have an impact that could transcend to adolescence, resulting in anxiety symptoms at these stages of life. When dioxin is also added, the mixture of both PCBs and dioxin can enhance the impact on mental development but also lead to psychomotor problems (Yim et al., 2022).

Concerning acrylamide, although it is known to reach the fetus and has been detected in breast milk, potential adverse neurodevelopment after early life exposure has so far not been studied in humans (Lindeman et al., 2021). However, acrylamide intake during pregnancy has been reported to be negatively associated with fetal growth (Duarte-Salles et al., 2013).

Provided all the above, in breast milk, there is only one study carried out in Africa, detecting high levels of the dioxins PCBs in samples from Ghana (Asamoah et al., 2018). In this study, the authors measured levels of these toxics on primiparae and multiparae, finding no significant difference between the values detected in both cohorts (Asamoah et al., 2018). However, they also did a comparison of the levels detected on habitants living on an electronic-waste site and compared to subjects living on a reference site, detecting higher levels of most of the PCB studied in the e-waste site (Asamoah et al., 2018). However, neither of those values was higher than the TDI recommended. Regarding America, a study performed in the USA led to the detection of different PAHs, including benzo(a)pyrene, which is carcinogenic (Acharya et al., 2019). Furthermore, another study performed in the same country led to high levels of PCBs, being higher in mothers coming from an urban area compared to those coming from an agricultural area, although the levels detected in both areas are considered safe when compared to the TDI (Weldon et al., 2011). Regarding the reports of dioxin levels in Asia, there are four studies performed in China, India, and Malaysia (Bao et al., 2020; Bawa et al., 2018; Leong et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2021). Among them, one study performed a comparison between the levels of dioxins in a Chinese electronic-waste place compared to a reference place was performed in one of them, leading to higher concentrations of these toxicants in the electronic-waste site, although some dioxins were detected at even higher levels than the TDI recommended for both types of areas (Luo et al., 2021). However, the rest of the studies led to the detection of non-toxic levels of these compounds. The studies performed on breast milk concerning heat-treatment products in Europe led to the detection of levels of different dioxins, although neither of them was dangerous according to the TDI established by EFSA in Croatia, Sweden, and Spain (Gyllenhammar et al., 2021; Schuhmacher et al., 2019; Šimić et al., 2020). All this information is compiled in Table 5.

As can be seen in Table 6, dioxins were not measured in infant formula, however, the presence of different types of PAHs, furans, acrylamide, 3-MCPD, 2-MCPD, and glycerol was detected. In this regard, in the USA,

Levels of heat treatment-products found in breast milk expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|--------------------------|---|--------------|------------|--|------------------------|
| <i>Africa</i> Ghana | n = 128 (n = 47 primiparae, and n = 58 multiparae) | Dioxins | GC-MS/MS | Electronic-waste site: | (Asamoah et al., 2018) |
| | | | | PCB-18: $1.06 \pm 0.98 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-28: $1.30 \pm 1.25 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-52: $0.19 \pm 0.20 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-101: $0.08 \pm 0.11 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-138: $0.86 \pm 0.92 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-153: $0.42 \pm 0.92 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-180: $0.53 \pm 0.78 \ \mu g/L$ Primiparae: | |
| | | | | PCB-18: 1.07 \pm 0.81 µg/L PCB-28: 1.33 \pm 0.87 µg/L PCB-52: 0.16 \pm 0.10 µg/L PCB-101: 0.07 \pm 0.43 µg/L PCB-138: 0.85 \pm 0.68 µg/L PCB-153: 0.31 \pm 0.09 µg/L PCB-180: 0.47 \pm 0.39 µg/L Multiparae: | |
| | | | | PCB-18: $1.05 \pm 0.88 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-28: $1.28 \pm 0.70 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-52: $0.20 \pm 0.12 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-101: $0.08 \pm 0.04 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-138: $0.87 \pm 0.53 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-153: $0.50 \pm 0.11 \ \mu g/L$ PCB-180: $0.58 \pm 0.35 \ \mu g/L$ Reference site: | |
| | | | | PCB-28: 0.03 ± 0.14 μg/L PCB-18, PCB-52, PCB-101, PCB-138, PCB-153, PCB-180: not detected | |
| America United States | n = 45 | PAHs | GC-MS | Naphthalene: $3.0 \pm 20.6 \ \mu g/L$ Acenapthene: $3.2 \pm 21.2 \ \mu g/L$ Phenanthrene: $24.1 \pm 31.8 \ \mu g/L$ Fluoranthene: $18.3 \pm 34.6 \ \mu g/L$ Pyrene: $13.8 \pm 26.5 \ \mu g/L$ Benz(a)anthracene: $11.7 \pm 35.6 \ \mu g/L$ Chrysene: $11.9 \pm 39.4 \ \mu g/L$ Benz(b)fluoranthene: $15.5 \pm 42.7 \ \mu g/L$ Benz(b)fluoranthene: $7.9 \pm 26.7 \ \mu g/L$ Benz(b)fluoranthene: $7.9 \pm 26.7 \ \mu g/L$ Benz(a)pyrene: $0.1 \pm 0.6 \ \mu g/L$ Indeno $[1,2,3-c,d]$ pyrene: $12.4 \pm 40.3 \ \mu g/L$ Benzo(g,h,i)perylene: $25.1 \pm 59.6 \ \mu g/L$ Acenaphthylene, fluorene, and | (Acharya et al., 2019) |
| United States | n = 24 (n = 12 from an agricultural ration) | DCBc | CC HPMS | Σ PAHs: 146.9 ± 239.4 µg/L | (Weldon et al. 2011) |
| United States | and $n = 21$ from an urban region) | r CDS | JC-IIKIVIJ | PCB-118: 0.017 µg/L PCB-138: 0.0382 µg/L PCB-153: 0.0436 µg/L PCB-180: 0.683 µg/L Urban women: | (wendon et al., 2011) |
| | | | | PCB-118: 0.0928 µg/L PCB-138: 0.183 µg/L PCB-153: 0.242 µg/L PCB-180: 0.239 µg/L | |
| <i>Asia</i> China | n = 42 (electronic-waste site compared to a reference-site) | Dioxins | GC-MS | E-waste site: | (Luo et al., 2021) |
| | | | | 2,3,7,8-TeCDD: 0.00159 \pm 0.00219 µg/L 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD: 0.00221 \pm 0.00172 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD: 0.0013 \pm 0.00156 µg/L 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD: 0.0034 \pm 0.00213 µg/L 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD: 0.00131 \pm 0.00189 µg/L | |

(continued on next page)

Table 5 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|----------|-------------|--------------|-----------|---|----------------------|
| | | | | 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCD: 0.00648 \pm 0.00207 µg/L OCDD: 0.042 \pm 0.00212 µg/L | |
| | | | | 2,3,7,8-TeCDF: 0.0051 \pm 0.00119 µg/L 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF: 0.0035 \pm 0.00116 µg/L 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF: 0.0085 \pm 0.0012 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF: 0.0033 \pm 0.00227 µg/L 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF: 0.0052 \pm 0.00148 µg/L 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF: 0.0037 \pm 0.00113 µg/L 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCD: 0.0064 \pm 0.00152 µg/L Total PCDDs: 0.0047 \pm 0.00181 µg/L Total PCDFs: 0.0046 \pm 0.00127 µg/L Total PCDFs: 0.0046 \pm 0.00145 µg/L Reference site: | |
| | | | | 2,3,7,8-TeCDD: 0.0006 \pm 0.00189 µg/L 1,2,3,7,8-TeCDD: 0.0013 \pm 0.00158 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD: 0.0009 \pm 0.00172 µg/L 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD: 0.0014 \pm 0.00173 µg/L 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD: 0.0006 \pm 0.00181 µg/L 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCD: 0.003 \pm 0.00164 µg/L 0CDD: 0.019 \pm 0.00191 µg/L 2,3,7,8-TeCDF: 0.0005 \pm 0.00174 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF: 0.0005 \pm 0.00138 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF: 0.0003 \pm 0.00138 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF: 0.0022 \pm 0.00224 µg/L 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF: 0.0017 \pm 0.00185 µg/L 2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCD: 0.0012 \pm 0.00164 µg/L 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF: 0.0012 \pm 0.00128 µg/L 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF: 0.0012 \pm 0.00128 µg/L Total PCDDs: 0.0015 \pm 0.00136 µg/L Total PCDDs: 0.0015 \pm 0.00136 µg/L Total PCDDs: 0.0015 \pm 0.00136 µg/L | |
| China | n = 55 | Dioxins | HRGC/MS | Total PCDDs: $0.029 \pm 0.026 \ \mu g/L$ Total PCDFs: $0.013 \pm 0.0072 \ \mu g/L$ 4Cl-PCDD/Fs: $0.0010 \pm 0.0006 \ \mu g/L$ 5Cl-PCDD/Fs: $0.0060 \pm 0.0032 \ \mu g/L$ 6Cl-PCDD/Fs: $0.0086 \pm 0.0065 \ \mu g/L$ 7Cl-PCDD/Fs: $0.0034 \pm 0.0025 \ \mu g/L$ 8Cl-PCDD/Fs: $0.024 \pm 0.021 \ \mu g/L$ Total PCDD/Fs: $0.043 \pm 0.031 \ \mu g/L$ | (Bao et al., 2020) |
| | | | | Total mono-ortho PCBs: 3.1° \pm $2.549 \mu g/L$ 4Cl-PCBs: $0.006 \pm 0.005 \mu g/L$ 5Cl-PCBs: $2.525 \pm 2.216 \mu g/L$ 6Cl-PCBs: $0.634 \pm 0.422 \mu g/L$ 7Cl-PCBs: $0.041 \pm 0.037 \mu g/L$ Total dl-PCBs: $3.206 \pm 2.259 \mu g/L$ Total dL-PCBs: $3.249 \pm 2.565 \mu g/L$ | |
| Malaysia | n = 21 | Dioxins | HRGC/HRMS | 2378-TCDF: 0.00017 \pm 0.00011 µg/L 12378-TCDD: 0.00017 \pm 0.00011 µg/L 12378-PeCDD: 0.00058 \pm 0.00091 µg/L 123478-HxCDD: 0.00163 \pm 0.00178 µg/L 123678-HxCDD: 0.0017 \pm 0.00175 µg/L 123789-HxCDD: 0.00407 \pm 0.00175 µg/L 12378-HpCDD: 0.00407 \pm 0.0018 µg/L 0CDD: 0.018 \pm 0.019 µg/L 2378-TCDF: 0.00022 \pm 0.00016 µg/L 12378-PeCDF: 0.00082 \pm 0.00054 µg/L 123478-PeCDF: 0.00083 \pm 0.00094 µg/L 123478-HxCDF: 0.00083 \pm 0.00094 µg/L 123678-HxCDF: 0.00083 \pm 0.00012 µg/L 123678-HxCDF: 0.00087 \pm 0.00115 µg/L 123789-HxCDF: | (Leong et al., 2021) |
| | | | | 1234678-HpCDF: 0.00112 \pm 0.00048 µg/L 1234789-HpCDF: 0.00516 \pm 0.01335 µg/L OCDF: 0.0011 \pm 0.00084 µg/L PCB77: 0.01228 \pm 0.00942 µg/L PCB81: 0.00056 \pm 0.00034 µg/L PCB105: 0.49757 \pm 0.48762 µg/L PCB114: 0.0714 \pm 0.10682 µg/L PCB118: 1.48683 \pm 1.41086 µg/L PCB128: 0.02201 \pm 0.02853 µg/L PCB126: 0.00693 \pm 0.01214 µg/L PCB126: 0.33339 \pm 0.43569 µg/L | |

Table 5 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-----------------|-------------|------------------|-------------|---|-----------------------------|
| India | n = 150 | Dioxins (PCBs) | GC | $\begin{array}{l} PCB157: \ 0.07869 \ \pm \ 0.11464 \ \mu g/L \\ PCB167: \ 0.09461 \ \pm \ 0.09625 \ \mu g/L \\ PCB169: \ 0.00523 \ \pm \ 0.00413 \ \mu g/L \\ PCB189: \ 0.01629 \ \pm \ 0.018 \ \mu g/L \\ Total \ PCDD/Fs: \ 0.039 \ \pm \ 0.030 \ \mu g/L \\ Total \ dl-PCBs: \ 2.62 \ \pm \ 2.607 \ \mu g/L \\ Total \ (PCDD/Fs \ and \ dl-PCBs): \ 2.665 \ \pm \ 2.607 \ \mu g/L \\ Bathinda \ district: \end{array}$ | (Bawa et al., 2018) |
| | | | | PCB101: 11.3 \pm 36.7 µg/L PCB52: 7.7 \pm 33.6 µg/L PCB28: 4.9 \pm 25.04 µg/L PCB180: 9.7 \pm 37.2 µg/L Σ PCB: 33.7 \pm 67.9 µg/L Ludhiana: | |
| Furene | | | | PCB101: 8.5 \pm 29.5 µg/L PCB52: 6.2 \pm 27.1 µg/L PCB28: 5.09 \pm 22.2 µg/L PCB180: 4.3 \pm 19.2 µg/L Σ PCB: 24.2 \pm 48.3 µg/L | |
| Europe Spain | n = 20 | Dioxins | HRGC/HRMS | 2,3,7,8-TCDD: $0.00029 \pm 0.00033 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD: $0.00081 \pm 0.00042 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD: $0.00050 \pm 0.00026 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD: $0.00261 \pm 0.00035 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD: $0.00280 \pm 0.00155 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,7,8-HxCDD: $0.00280 \pm 0.00155 \ \mu g/L$ 0CDD: $0.0157 \pm 0.000611 \ \mu g/L$ 2,3,7,8-TCDF: $0.00018 \pm 0.00008 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF: $0.00014 \pm 0.0001 \ \mu g/L$ 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF: $0.00014 \pm 0.000111 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00060 \pm 0.00039 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00060 \pm 0.00039 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00060 \pm 0.00035 \ \mu g/L$ 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00055 \pm 0.00021 \ \mu g/L$ 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00092 \pm 0.0008 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00025 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00025 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF: $0.00025 \ \mu g/L$ 1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HpCDF: $0.00025 \ \mu g/L$ PCDDs + PCDFs: $0.0288 \pm 0.00948 \ \mu g/L$ I-TEQ: $0.00226 \pm 0.00104 \ \mu g/L$ WHO-TEQ: $0.00226 \pm 0.00104 \ \mu g/L$ | (Schuhmacher et al., 2019) |
| Sweden | n = 539 | PCBs and dioxins | GC/ECNI/MS | PCB-28: 2.2 \pm 3.3 µg/L PCB-105: 1.2 \pm 1.1 µg/L PCB-105: 1.2 \pm 1.1 µg/L PCB-118: 8.5 \pm 6.3 µg/L PCB-138: 23 \pm 14 µg/L PCB-153: 46 \pm 28 µg/L PCB-156: 3.8 \pm 2.4 µg/L PCB-167: 1.0 \pm 0.73 µg/L PCB-167: 0.03 \pm 0.00043 \pm 0.00029 µg/L PCB-180: 22 \pm 13 µg/L Mono-ortho TEQ: 0.00043 \pm 0.00029 µg/L PCB-169: 0.018 \pm 0.011 µg/L Non-ortho TEQ: 0.0039 \pm 0.0024 µg/L 2,3,7,8-TCDD: 0.000670 \pm 0.0024 µg/L 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD: 0.0018 \pm 0.0014 µg/L 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD: 0.0057 \pm 0.0028 µg/L 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDD: 0.0019 \pm 0.0028 µg/L PCDD TEQ: 0.0039 \pm 0.002 µg/L PCDD TEQ: 0.0019 \pm 0.0028 µg/L PCDD TEQ: 0.0052 \pm 0.0028 µg/L PCDD TEQ: 0.0054 \pm 0.0028 µg/L Total TEQ: 0.0094 \pm 0.0052 µg/L | (Gyllenhammar et al., 2021) |
| Croatia | n = 46 | Dioxins | GC-EI/MS/MS | PCB-77: ~0.01725 μg/L PCB-81: ~0.0025 μg/L PCB-126: ~0.0255 μg/L PCB-169: ~0.0125 μg/L SD not indicated | (Šimić et al., 2020) |

levels of 3-MCPD and glycerol were detected, being higher than the recommended level depending on the type of oil used for the formula (Beekman et al., 2020; MacMahon and Beekman, 2019). Furthermore, different studies also detected levels of these contaminants in Brazil, Canada, and USA (Beekman and MacMahon, 2020a; de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020; Leigh and MacMahon, 2017; MacMahon and Beekman, 2019; Wenzl et al., 2015). In Asia, even though benzo(*a*)pyrene was detected in both Iran and China, the values were safe when compared to the TDI concentrations advised by EFSA (Badibostan et al., 2019; Yan et al., 2021). In addition, levels of some other levels of PAHs were detected in these studies as

Levels of heat treatment-products found in infant formula expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median:range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|--------------------------------|-------------------|--|--|---|--|
| America | | | | | |
| Brazil | n = 140 | PAHs | ICP-MS | PAHs: 53.68 µg/kg | (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020) |
| Canada | n = 30 | 3-MCPD, 2-MCPD, and glycidol | GC–MS and LC–MS/MS with APCI | SD not indicated - 3-MCPD: 38.075 μg/kg - 2-MCPD: 16.6 μg/kg - Glycidol: 13.95 μg/kg | (Wenzl et al., 2015) |
| United States | n = 55 | 3-MCPD and glycidol | LC-MS/MS | SD not indicated 3-MCPD | (Beekman and MacMahon, 2020a) |
| | | | | Fungal/algal: 380 μg/kg Blend palm olein: 1290 μg/kg Canola: 300 μg/kg Coconut: 55 μg/kg Corn: 390 μg/kg MCT: 4 μg/kg Palm olein: 4080 μg/kg Safflower: 930 μg/kg Soybean: 270 μg/kg Sunflower: 80 μg/kg Glycidol: | |
| United States United States | n = 98 n = 222 | 3-MCPD, 2-MCPD, and glycidol 3-MCPD and glycidol | GC–MS and LC–MS/MS with APCI GC–MS | Fungal/algal: 64 µg/kg Blend palm olein: 1480 µg/kg Canola: 510 µg/kg Coconut: 690 µg/kg Corn. 1390 µg/kg MCT: 43 µg/kg Palm olein: 4180 µg/kg Safflower: 360 µg/kg Soybean: 390 µg/kg Sunflower: 500 µg/kg SD not indicated 3-MCPD: 318.29 µg/kg Glycidol: 107.29 µg/kg SD not indicated Powder: | (Leigh and MacMahon, 2017) (Beekman et al., 2020; Beekman and MacMahon, 2020a) |
| | | | | 3-MCPD: 150 μg/kg Glycidol: 61 μg/kg Concentrate: 3-MCPD: 75 μg/kg Glycidol: 8 μg/kg Ready-To-Feed (RTF): | |
| | | | | 3-MCPD: 88 μg/kg Glycidol: 14 μg/kg SD not indicated | |
| Asia Iran | n = 27 | PAHs | GC-MS | Chrysene: $0.43 \pm 0.035 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Benzo(a)pyrene: $0.44 \pm 0.324 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Benzo(a)anthracene: $<0.11 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ | (Badibostan et al., 2019) |
| China | n = 31 | PAHs + PAH-derivative | QuEChERS + GC-QqQ-MS | Stage I (for 0–6 months): | (Yan et al., 2021) |
| | | | | 9-FO: $0.41 \pm 0.27 \ \mu g/kg$ ATQ: $1.51 \pm 0.42 \ \mu g/kg$ BaP: not detected PAH4: $0.44 \pm 0.45 \ \mu g/kg$ PAH8: $1.49 \pm 1.12 \ \mu g/kg$ EU 15 + 1PAHs: $1.82 \pm 1.42 \ \mu g/kg$ 6-ClBaP: $3.63 \pm 2.50 \ \mu g/kg$ 7-ClBaA: not detected $\Sigma 20 \ PAHs: 8.37 \pm 2.48 \ \mu g/kg$ Stage II (for 6-12 months): 9-FO: $1.46 \pm 0.26 \ \mu g/kg$ | |
| | | | | ATQ: 1.62 \pm 0.35 µg/kg BaP: not detected | |

Table (continued)

| (contained | ou) | | | | |
|-------------------|------------------|--|--|---|---|
| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
| | | | | PAH4: $0.50 \pm 0.42 \ \mu g/kg$ PAH8: $1.84 \pm 1.07 \ \mu g/kg$ EU 15 + 1PAHs: $2.28 \pm 1.39 \ \mu g/kg$ 6-ClBaP: $2.65 \pm 0.79 \ \mu g/kg$ 7-ClBaA: not detected $\Sigma 20 \ PAHs: 8.02 \pm 1.46 \ \mu g/kg$ Stage III (for 1–3 years): | |
| | | | | 9-FO: $1.45 \pm 0.29 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ ATQ: $1.45 \pm 0.30 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ BaP: $0.05 \pm 0.13 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ PAH4: $0.59 \pm 0.51 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ PAH8: $2.30 \pm 1.19 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ EU 15 + 1PAHs: $2.78 \pm 1.35 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ 6-ClBaP: $2.16 \pm 1.28 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ 7-ClBaA: not detected $\Sigma 20 \ \text{PAHs}$: $7.85 \pm 1.58 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Stage IV: | |
| China | n = 35 | Furan | GC–MS | 9-FO: $1.39 \pm 0.24 \ \mu g/kg$ ATQ: $1.61 \pm 0.22 \ \mu g/kg$ BaP: not detected PAH4: $1.11 \pm 0.92 \ \mu g/kg$ PAH8: $2.13 \pm 1.63 \ \mu g/kg$ EU 15 + 1PAHs: $2.94 \pm 2.13 \ \mu g/kg$ 6-ClBaP: $1.53 \pm 1.58 \ \mu g/kg$ 7-ClBaA: not detected $\Sigma 20 \ PAHs: 7.47 \pm 2.38 \ \mu g/kg$ Furan: $2.53 \ \mu g/kg$ SD not indicated | (Sijia et al., 2014) |
| Furone | | | | SD not indicated | |
| France Germany | n = 23 n = 70 | Furan 3-MCPD, 2-MCPD, and glycidol | GC–MS GC–MS and LC–MS/MS with APCI | Furan: 3.5-5.7 μg/kg 3-MCPD: 101 ± 19.35 μg/kg 2-MCPD: 44 ± 12.36 μg/kg Glycidol: 87 5 ± 23 μg/kg | (Lambert et al., 2018a) (Wöhrlin et al., 2015) |
| Malta | n = 6 | HMF | MP-AES | 0-6 months formulae: | (Vella and Attard, 2019) |
| | | | | Room-temperature: 5270 \pm 1400 µg/kg 30 °C: 7170 \pm 1440 µg/kg 6-12 months formulae: | |
| France | n = 140 | Acrylamide | LC-MS | Room-temperature: 1810 \pm 880 µg/kg 30 °C: 3570 \pm 1050 µg/kg Infant formula: | (Lambert et al., 2018b) |
| | | | | Lower bound: 0.60 \pm 0.97 µg/kg Upper bound: 2.9 \pm 1.5 µg/kg Follow-on formula: | |
| Romania | n = 5 | PAHs | GC-ECD | Lower bound: $0.14 \pm 0.53 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Upper bound: $2.2 \pm 0.80 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Acenaphthylene: $0.084 \pm 0.01 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Acenaphthene: $0.102 \pm 0.018 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Anthracene: $0.104 \pm 0.006 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Fluorene: $0.14 \pm 0.005 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Pyrene: $0.1 \pm 0.02 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Chrysene: $0.124 \pm 0.024 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Benz[k]fluoranthene: $0.1764 \pm 0.028 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Indenol[1,2,3-cd]pyrene: $0.159 \pm 0.0182 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$ Napththalene, fluoranthene, phenanthrene, | (Dobrinas et al., 2016) |
| Poland | n = 9 | 5-HMF | RP-HPLC with UV detection | benzo(<i>a</i>)antmatche, benzo(<i>a</i>)pyrene, benzo[<i>g</i> , <i>h</i> , <i>i</i>]perylene, dibenzo[<i>a</i> , <i>h</i>]anthracene: not detected 2315 μg/kg SD not indicated | (Czerwonka et al., 2020) |

well. In Europe, some levels of hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) were detected in Malta and Poland (Czerwonka et al., 2020; Vella and Attard, 2019), while different studies performed in European countries such as France, Germany, or Romania led to the detection of different heat treatment pollutants too, including acrylamide (Dobrinas et al., 2016; Lambert et al., 2018a,b; Wöhrlin et al., 2015). Considering the toxicity of all these chemicals, infant formula seems to be safer in these terms in China than breast milk, which is not surprising considering the industrial areas where the studies took place. Furthermore, in the USA, high values of different toxicants have been detected in both types of food. Concerning Europe, and according to these data, it would be safer to administer infant formula than breast milk. However, it is important to consider that the only experiment performed in breast milk was carried out in an industrial city of Spain, so it would not be very representative to the rest of the continent. In addition, it is worth mentioning the number of experiments and samples for both types of matrices, as the experiments performed in breast milk are less and the toxicants studied are also fewer. All these results are compiled in Supplementary Fig. 2.

3.3. Pharmaceuticals

The stories of thalidomide and diethylstilbestrol are still remembered and have set the basis for clinical, regulatory, and public attitudes that involve pregnant and breastfeeding women (Nooney et al., 2021). Studies have shown that breastfeeding women tend to take more medication than pregnant women, mostly multivitamins, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, acetaminophen, progestins, antimicrobials, and decongestants (Stultz et al., 2007). However, these medicines used during lactation are considered safe and adverse events of them on breastfed infants are very rare (Saha et al., 2015).

For some of the most used medicines, different adverse events have been reported. For example, amiodarone used to treat some types of arrhythmias is contraindicated during breastfeeding because it can cause hypothyroidism and delayed development. Contraceptives, which are safe for use during lactation, have also been reported to cause breast enlargement in breastfed infants, due to estrogen or decreased weight gain for combined oral contraceptives. For antidepressants, fluoxetine being one of the most used due to its safety as only a small part can reach maternal milk, has been reported to cause gastrointestinal complaint, agitation or colics and even dressed weight (Anderson et al., 2003).

A major drawback from taking medication during lactation would be the possible exposure of the infant through breast milk. In this sense, only three experiments have been reported where the presence of drugs such as isoflavonoids, antibiotics or phenolic compounds have been detected in breast milk. In this sense, 2 out of the 3 studies were performed in Asia, finding residues of isoflavonoids and phytoestrogens in China, and antibiotic residues in Syria (Smadi et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2020). Concerning Europe, a study performed in Poland led to the detection of residues of different isoflavonoids as well, accounting for higher levels and more subtypes in this last case (Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk et al., 2020). These studies are compiled in Table 7. It is important to notice that these levels can also be detected as a consequence of the type of diet of the subjects. In this sense, a diet with a high fruit, nuts, or soy content would lead to the detection of levels of both isoflavonoids and phytoestrogens (Liggins et al., 2000), while some antibiotic residues can be transferred to humans by the consumption of animal meat or milk (Moga et al., 2021).

Concerning the levels of pharmaceuticals found in infant formula, most of them were antibiotics, although some other medication was also found. In Asia, only one experiment was performed, by measuring a battery of veterinary drugs in China, finding levels of amphenicols, avermectins, benzimidazoles, non-ionophore coccidiostats, ionophore coccidiostats, miscellaneous anthelmintics, miscellaneous veterinary drugs, lincosamides and macrolides, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, quinolones, and sulfonamides (Zhan et al., 2013). In addition, levels of different antibiotics

Table 7

Levels of pharmaceuticals found in infant formula expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-------------------------|----------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|--|--------------------------------------|
| <i>Asia</i> China | n = 9 | Isoflavonoid phytoestrogens | UHPLC-ESI-MS/MS | 0.5 h: | (Zhou et al., 2020) |
| | | | | Daidzein: $0.71 \pm 0.16 \ \mu$ g/L Genistein: not detected3 h: | |
| | | | | Daidzein: 13.25 ± 4.86 μg/L Genistein: 49.83 ± 9.56 μg/L6 h: | |
| | | | | Daidzein: 104.2 \pm 12.51 µg/L Genistein: 98.67 \pm 13.34 µg/L9 h: | |
| | | | | Daidzein: 6.86 \pm 3.59 µg/L Genistein: 12.48 \pm 5.32 µg/L12 h: | |
| | | | | Daidzein: 3.24 \pm 1.43 µg/L Genistein: 1.24 \pm 0.38 µg/L24 h: | |
| Syria | n = 120 | Antibiotics residues | LC-MS/MS, GC-MS/MS | Daidzein: $0.52 \pm 0.18 \ \mu g/L$ Genistein: not detectedFormononetin and biochanin A: not detected Oxytetracycline: 5.04 $\ \mu g/L$ (in 4 contaminated samples) Ampicillin, sulfamethazine and tetracycline: not detected SD not indicated | (Smadi et al., 2019) |
| <i>Europe</i> Poland | n = 13 | Isoflavonoids | LC-ESI-MS/MS | Gallic acid: $31.8 \pm 1.3 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Daidzein: $3.61 \pm 5.93 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Caffeic acid: $54.4 \pm 24.3 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Quercetin: $12.4 \pm 5.61 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Genistein: $3.63 \pm 3.40 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Naringenin: $1.89 \pm 1.57 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Hesperetin: $1.243 \pm 1.31 \ \mu\text{g/L}$ Epicatechin, epicatechin gallate, epigallocaechin gallate, and kaempferol: not detected | (Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk et al., 2020) |

Levels of pharmaceuticals found in infant formula expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|------------------------------|----------------|--|------------|---|-------------------------|
| <i>Asia</i> China | n = 30 | Veterinary drug residues and other contaminants | UHPLC-HRMS | Progesterone: 0.45–8.3 µg/kg Lincomycin: 5.1 µg/kg (1 sample) Enoxacin: 2.0 µg/kg (1 sample) Coffeir: 0.55–150 µg/kg (5 samples) | (Zhan et al., 2013) |
| China | n = 20 | Veterinary drugs including antivirals, anticoccidials, macrolides, sulfonamides, beta-agonists, sedatives, thyreostats, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and other pharmacologically active substances | UHPLC-HRMS | Regulated compounds: All below or equal to corresponding MRLs Banned and nonauthorized compounds: <lod< td=""><td>(Zhang et al., 2020)</td></lod<> | (Zhang et al., 2020) |
| <i>Europe</i> Switzerland | n = 20 | 23 β-lactam antibiotics | LC-MS/MS | Amoxicillin: 16 µg/kg Ampicillin: 16 µg/kg Aspoxicillin: 100 µg/kg Cefalonium: 40 µg/kg Cefalonium: 40 µg/kg Cefarcatril: 200 µg/kg Cefarcatril: 200 µg/kg Cefarcatril: 200 µg/kg Cefarcatril: 200 µg/kg Ceftofur: 200 µg/kg Ceftofur: 200 µg/kg Cefuroxime: 200 µg/kg Cloxacillin: 40 µg/kg Desacetyleefapirin: 80 µg/kg Dicloxacillin: 40 µg/kg Nafcillin: 20 µg/kg Nafcillin: 20 µg/kg Penicillin G: 16 µg/kg Penicillin V: 40 µg/kg Piperacillin: 40 µg/kg Sulbactam: 100 µg/kg | (Bessaire et al., 2018) |

were found in infant formula in Switzerland (Bessaire et al., 2018), as can be observed in Table 8.

According to all this data, breast milk was safer than infant formula in general. However, it is important to take some variables into account. First, that the medication intake is much regulated during both pregnancy and lactation. Second, the traces measured, as only one study measured levels of antibiotic residues in breast milk. Third, the type of pharmaceutical found, as they will not cause the same harmful effect in children. These results are represented on Supplementary Fig. 3.

3.4. Mycotoxins

Mycotoxins are secondary metabolites produced by some filamentous fungi or molds, which can grow under suitable humidity and temperature conditions on various food and feeds, being a human and animal risk (Zain, 2011). Human exposure to mycotoxins may result from consumption of contaminated-plant-derived foods, the carry-over of mycotoxins and their metabolites in animal products such as meat and eggs (CAST, 2003) or exposure to air and dust containing toxins (Jarvis, 2002). During lactation, the infants can be exposed to different mycotoxins after ingestion of contaminated foods by lactating mothers, as they can be transferred in unaltered or metabolized forms into breast milk (Sengling Cebin Coppa et al., 2019). Among the most common mycotoxins in food products, the presence of aflatoxins, ochratoxin A, patulin, fumonisins, zearalenone, and deoxynivalenol is of relevance (Sengling Cebin Coppa et al., 2019). From them, aflatoxins (AFs) are qualified as carcinogenic, mutagenic, teratogenic, and immunosuppressive (Eaton and Gallagher, 1994). This group contains the AFB1 and its metabolite AFM1, which are classified as carcinogenic (group 1) by the IARC (Cherkani-Hassani et al., 2020). In general, mycotoxins have demonstrated to be able to cross the placental barrier and exert effects on the fetal systems (Alvito and Pereira-Da-silva, 2022). These mycotoxins can impact in children health through different mechanisms, and depending on the type, they can cause different effects,

including hepatotoxicity, dermatotoxicity, neurotoxicity, carcinogenic, and estrogenic effects (Memis et al., 2021). In fact, AFB1 has been associated with growth impairment in children and modifications of the immune function (Alvito and Pereira-Da-silva, 2022; Eze et al., 2018). These effects have also been associated with maternal exposure during pregnancy, an exposure that continues in the lactating phase, but could result in early problems at birth such as low weight and neonatal jaundice, or even anemia in pregnancy, being one of the principal causes of maternal mortality during childbirth in Asia and Africa (Eze et al., 2018). These conditions reflect significant malnutrition, which could even lead to kwashiorkor, a very common disease in African countries due to lack of proper nutrition (Bryden, 2007). More effects have been described; however, it is not known if they would be due to the exposure to these mycotoxins or if they are a direct consequence of this malnutrition (Khlangwiset et al., 2011). Other mycotoxins, such as fumonisins, cause mostly neural tube defects such as spina bifida and meningio-myeloceole, reported for early maternal exposure during gestation (Eze et al., 2018).

Concerning the studies detecting levels of these pollutants on breast milk, AFM1 has been found in all the samples collected from Morocco and Nigeria, in Africa, and in Bangladesh, in Asia, with levels that are above those recommended by the EFSA (Cherkani-Hassani et al., 2020; Ekeanyanwu et al., 2020; Islam et al., 2021). There is only one study performed in America screening levels of mycotoxins on breast milk and, although no levels of AFM1 were detected (Coppa et al., 2021). These studies are gathered in Table 9. Concerning the levels found in the infant formula, also AFM1 is the mycotoxin found in more samples in dangerous levels. In this regard, Mexico was the only country where these levels were measured in America, finding higher values than those recommended (Quevedo-Garza et al., 2020). This mycotoxin has also been found in excess in different Asiatic countries, such as Iran and Jordan (Dehcheshmeh et al., 2021; Omar, 2016). In contrast, no dangerous levels of mycotoxins were found in Africa or Europe. These studies can be found in Table 10. When comparing the quality of both types of food, in Africa, although high levels of AFM1

Levels of mycotoxins found in breast milk expressed by mean ± SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-------------------------------------|------------------|--|--------------------|--|--|
| <i>Africa</i> Morocco Nigeria | n = 82 $n = 225$ | AFM1 AFM1 | ELISA HPLC, AAS | AFM1: 0.00575 \pm 0.00344 µg/L AFM1: 0.00402 \pm 0.00112 µg/L | (Cherkani-Hassani et al., 2020) (Ekeanyanwu et al., 2020) |
| America Brazil | n = 74 | AFM1, FBs, OTA, DON, ZEN and some of their metabolites | LC-MS/MS | FB1: 2.200-3.400 μg/L OTA: 0.360 μg/L AFM1, DON, ZEN: not detected SD not indicated | (Coppa et al., 2021). |
| <i>Asia</i> Bangladesh | n = 62 | AFM1 | ELISA | AFM1: 0.00442 \pm 0.00056 µg/L | (Islam et al., 2021) |

were found on breast milk, also some other mycotoxins were found which levels have not been established yet. However, in America, high values of AFM1 were found only on infant formula. Concerning Asia, although relevant levels were found in both, breast milk and infant formula, more studies reported the presence of mycotoxins on infant formula, while only studies performed on infant formula were found in this regard, not existing, to our knowledge, on breast milk in the last decade. Thus, although infant formula demonstrated to contain more types of mycotoxins, it is also worth to mention the number of studies performed in both types of samples. The distribution of the detection of mycotoxins in both breast milk and infant formula can be found in Supplementary Fig. 4.

3.5. Pesticides

Pesticides are chemical compounds designed to protect agricultural products from undesirable insects, plants, or fungal diseases, which led to a noticeable increase in crop yields and food production (WHO, 1986). These chemicals are applied annually in millions of tons of yields worldwide (Dar et al., 2020; De et al., 2014; US EPA, 2008). Despite being an agricultural advantage, the overuse of these pesticides leads to high toxicity, affecting soil, water, and natural resources where they can be present, which leads to several environmental, animal, and human health issues (Bhardwaj et al., 2018; Toni et al., 2006). Due to their perdurability, these compounds can be found after a long period (Asghar et al., 2016; Tago et al., 2014). Based on their chemical structure, pesticides can be divided into organochlorines, organophosphorus, carbamates, pyrethroids, and neonicotinoids (Vankayalapati, 2016).

Organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) have been some of the most important pesticides used worldwide and, although most of them have been banned in the past several years, some levels can still be found in environmental and physiological samples (Costa, 2015). Among the most used, it is relevant to mention the chlorinated ethane derivative 1,1,1-trichloro-2, 2bis (4-chlorophenyl) ethane (DDT) and its analogs, including methoxychlor; the cyclodienes, including chlordane, dieldrin, aldrin, heptachlor, and endrin; and the benzene hexachlorides (BHC) including lindane (Costa, 2015). These compounds act mainly by affecting sodium channels and GABA receptor-gated chloride channels. However, due to their environmental persistence and high lipophilicity, most of them have been banned in most countries in the last decades (Costa, 2015).

Organophosphate pesticides (OPPs) are extensively applied in agriculture, horticulture, domestic purposes, veterinary medicine, and control of disease vectors (Dar et al., 2020). Their use increased due to their high effectiveness against target pests and their relatively low toxicity to nontarget organisms compared to other pesticides (Singh and Walker, 2006; Vijayalakshmi, 2012). General population may be exposed to pesticide residues in food and drinking water daily or to pesticide drift in residences close to spraying areas (Damalas and Eleftherohorinos, 2011; Damalas and Koutroubas, 2016). The bioaccumulation process usually is the consequence of the runoff from pesticide-contaminated agricultural land areas into the waterbodies such as streams, rivers, and oceans (Dar et al., 2020). Thus, these contaminants are ingested by fish and accumulate into the food chain, reaching humans (Dar et al., 2020; Maurya and Malik, 2016). Thus, OPPs have been found in blood, urine, semen, breast milk, amniotic fluid, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord blood from humans (Kumar et al., 2016). These compounds act by inhibiting irreversibly the acetylcholinesterase activity, leading to neurotoxicity and developmental neurotoxicity (Burke et al., 2017). Among these compounds, is especially relevant the presence of chlorpyrifos (CPF) (Hinojosa et al., 2020). Same mechanism of action but with a reversible effect would be the one caused by carbamates, reducing the toxic effects in non-target organisms (Dhouib, 2016; Gupta et al., 2017).

On the other hand, pyrethroids (PYR) are synthetic organic insecticides derived from pyrethrins (Tang et al., 2018). Due to their high effectiveness and their low toxicity in comparison with other pesticides, they have become one of the most important types of pesticides in the last decades (Tang et al., 2018; Yoo et al., 2016). Compared to the rest of pesticides, these compounds have less potential to pollute the environment, although they can still reach humans through the food chain (Tang et al., 2018). Among their characteristics, they are very lipophilic, which is the reason for their finding in breast milk.

As some of the most used pesticides nowadays, it is also relevant to study the levels of neonicotinoids. These compounds are insecticides that act through the activation of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) (Loser et al., 2021a). They have been demonstrated to have high species specificity, although some studies have reported possible effects on developmental neurotoxicity (Loser et al., 2021a; Loser et al., 2021b).

Taking all of this into consideration, it is also important to notice the effects during development. In this sense, due to this worldwide but uneven distribution of these pesticides, exposures are very different and can lead to different results on the infant. However, considering that the main mechanisms of action for these pollutants are related to neurotoxic effects of plagues, the main side effects are related to this mechanism (Shelton et al., 2014). The nervous system is the target organ for most of these toxicants, being the developing brain of infants and the fetus, especially vulnerable. Although the dose of exposure may be too low to cause visible effects on adults, they can cause permanent damage on the brain function, due to the lack of proper defenses at those early stages of development (Dalsager et al., 2019). Nonetheless, pesticides not only result in developmental neurotoxicity but also can generate carcinogenicity, have endocrine disruptive properties and have been found to be associated with certain cancers and leukemia. In this sense, maternal exposure to pesticides such as OPPs or OCPs has been linked to an increase in the incidence of brain tumor and digestive cancer (Mostafalou and Abdollahi, 2017). In addition, the exposure to different organophosphates has been linked with risk of neural tube defects, low birth weight and length, hypospadias, spina bifica and some other anomalies (Mostafalou and Abdollahi, 2017). For pyrethroids, some studies indicate that they can have an association with behavioral disorders, cognitive deficits and learning disorders and ADHD (Qi et al., 2022) and even an association with ASD and development delay, including cognitive, memory, visual, verbal, behavioral, and motor dysfunctions, when there is maternal exposure during pregnancy that can continue into the breastfeeding phase (Shelton et al., 2014). Organophosphates have also been

Levels of mycotoxins found in infant formula expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-------------------------------|--|--|--------------------------|--|--|
| <i>Africa</i> Nigeria | n = 137 | 3-Nitropropionic acid, AFB1, AFB2, alternariol, beauvericin, chloramphenicol, citrinin, deoxynivalenol, HT-2 toxin, moniliformin, nivalenol, T-2 toxin, ZEN | LC-MS/MS | 3-Nitropropionic acid: 21.1 \pm 2.0 µg/kg AFB1: 4.2 \pm 0.0 µg/kg AFB2: 0.5 \pm 0.0 µg/kg Total aflatoxins: 4.6 \pm 0.0 µg/kg Beauvericin: 4.7 \pm 7.5 µg/kg Chloramphenicol: 4.1 \pm 6.7 µg/kg Citrinin: 3.6 \pm 0.0 µg/kg Deoxynivalenol: 31.6 \pm 6.3 µg/kg HT-2 toxin: 18.8 \pm 0.0 µg/kg Moniliformin: 13.0 \pm 4.2 µg/kg Nivalenol: 20.5 \pm 2.2 µg/kg T-2 toxin: 59.6 \pm 83.2 µg/kg ZEN: 3.2 \pm 2.1 µg/kg | (Ojuri et al., 2018) |
| America Mexico | n = 55 | AFM1 | IACC-HPLC with FD | AFM1: 0.04 \pm 0.099 $\mu g/L$ | (Quevedo-Garza et al., 2020) |
| Brazil | n = 140 | AFM1 and OTA | ICP-MS | OTA: 0.0351-0.6895 µg/L AFM1: not detected | (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020) |
| Asia Qatar | n = 69 | AFB1, AFG1, AFB2, AFG2, AFM1, OTA, DON, ZEN, FB1, FB2, T2 and HT2 | LC-MS/MS and HPLC | AFB1: 22 % of samples (mean <0.04 μ g/kg) AFM1: 33 % of samples (mean <0.010 μ g/kg) OTA: 31 % of samples (mean <0.05 μ g/kg) DON: 27 % of samples (mean <20 μ g/kg) ZEN: 4 % of samples (mean <1.00 μ g/kg) FB2: 10 % of samples (mean <20 μ g/kg) T2: 2 % of samples (mean 1.00–9.99 μ g/kg) AFG1, AFB2, AFG2, FB1, HT2: Not detected ED not indicated | (Ul Hassan et al., 2018) |
| Iran | n = 29 | AFM1 | HPLC | Only one sample with AFM1 (0.043 μg/kg) | (Hooshfar et al., 2020) |
| Iran Jordan | n = 80 n = 20 | AFM1 AFM1 | GFAAS and ELISA ELISA | AFM1: 0.444 ± 0.044 μg/kg AFM1: 0.12026 ± 0.03354 μg/kg | (Dehcheshmeh et al., 2021) (Omar, 2016) |
| Europe Portugal | Breakfast cereals primarily marketed for children, from six different generic brands (n = 20) and three different name-brands (n = 6) | 21 mycotoxins and metabolites (AFB1, AFB2, AFG1, AFG2, AFM1, OTA, FB1, FB2, ZEA, NIV, NEO, DAS, FUS-X, DON, 15-ADON, 3-ADON, HT-2, T-2, VER) | UPLC-MS/MS, HPLC-FD | AFM1: 0.017 μg/kg AFB1: 0.013 μg/kg AFB2: 0.004 μg/kg AFG1: 0.013 μg/kg OTA: 0.040 μg/kg DON: 91.5 μg/kg NIV: 15.1 μg/kg FB1: 12.5 μg/kg FB2: 12.5 μg/kg | (Martins et al., 2018) |
| Austria and Czech Republic | n = 59 | 46 mycotoxins and key metabolites: AFB1, AFB2, AFG1, AFG2, AFM1, AFM2, AFP1, AFQ1, AFB1-N7-Gua, AFL, STC, OTA, OTB, OTα, CIT, DH-CIT, NIV, DON, T-2, HT-2, FB1, FB2, ZEN, α-ZEL, β-ZEL, BEA, EnnA, EnnA1, EnnB, EnnB1 | LC-MS/MS | ZEA: 0.7 μg/kg Aflatoxicol: not detected AFB1: not detected Sterigmatocystin: <loq -="" 0.2<br="">ZEN: <loq -="" 0.7<br="">DON: not detected NIV: <loq -="" 19<br="">T-2: not detected Beauvericin: not detected EnnA: not detected EnnA1: not detected EnnB: not detected EnnB: not detected EnnB: not detected</loq></loq></loq> | (Braun et al., 2021) |

correlated to increase of prevalence of ASD, observing positive associations between ASD and prenatal exposure for residential proximity to organophosphates (Shelton et al., 2014) and several studies support an association between OPs and ADHD (Tessari et al., 2022). Organochlorine pesticides have not been as closely associated with ADHD as OPs and pyrethroids, but some authors have found a correlation between high levels of β -

hexachlorocyclohexane in breast milk and increased odds of ADHD in childhood (Tessari et al., 2022).

In this regard, many studies have been performed analyzing the levels of these pesticides on both breast milk and infant formula. Concerning breast milk, as can be seen in Table 11, levels of different OCPs have been found in Tanzania and Tunisia, in Africa, being DDT derivatives and HCH

Levels of pesticides found in breast milk expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|---------------------------|---|-----------------|---------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|
| <i>Africa</i> Tanzania | n = 47 | OCPs | HRGC-LRMS; CALUX, HPLC-MS/MS | p,p'-DDE: 113 μg/L p,p'-DDD: 6.61 μg/L ΣDDTs: 117 μg/L ΣOCs: 146 μg/L | (Müller et al., 2019) |
| Tunisia | n = 36 | OCPs | GC-ECD/GC-MS | p,p'-DDE: $508.7 \pm 570.1 \ \mu g/L$ p,p'-DDD: $218.1 \pm 363.5 \ \mu g/L$ p,p'-DDT: $437.2 \pm 519.9 \ \mu g/L$ SDDTs: $1163.9 \pm 1005 \ \mu g/L$ β -HCH: $39.7 \pm 43 \ \mu g/L$ Lindane: $36.5 \pm 32 \ \mu g/L$ HCB: $286.8 \pm 272.6 \ \mu g/L$ Dieldrin: $9.1 \pm 13.9 \ \mu g/L$ SHCHs: $76.2 \pm 62.2 \ \mu g/L$ α -HCH, oxychlordane, c-chlordane, t-nonachlor: not detected | (Hassine et al., 2012) |
| America Brazil | n = 34 | OCPs | GC–MS | β-HCH: 0.66 ± 0.00 µg/L δ-HCH: 1.52 ± 0.77 µg/L Σ-HCH: 1.55 ± 0.87 µg/L Heptachlor: 1.62 ± 1.40 µg/L Aldrin: 9.56 ± 4.41 µg/L Dieldrin: 56.18 ± 33.23 µg/L Endosulfan I: 20.22 ± 14.39 µg/L DDE: 2.37 ± 2.22 µg/L DDT: 2.09 ± 0.00 µg/L Methoxychlor: 102.17 ± 73.68 µg/L | (Souza et al., 2020) |
| Mexico | n = 167 | OCPs | GC-ECNI-LRMS | Rural: | (Chávez-Almazán et al., 2020) |
| United States | n = 34 (n = 13 from an agricultural region and n = 21 from an urban region) | OCPs, PYR, OPPs | GC-HRMS | HCB: 15 μg/L β-HCH: 5 μg/L op'DDT: 17 μg/L pp'DDT: 49 μg/L pp'DDE: 1008 μg/L ΣDDT: 1079 μg/L Urban: HCB: 8 μg/L β-HCH: 5 μg/L op'DDT: 15 μg/L pp'DDT: 44 μg/L SDDT: 827 μg/L SD not indicated Agricultural women: Chlorpyrifos: 0.028 μg/L cis-Permethrin: 0.176 μg/L Hexachlorobenzene: 0.223 μg/L β-hexachlorocyclohexane: 0.443 μg/L o,p'-DDT: 0.102 μg/L μg/L | (Weldon et al., 2011) |
| Asia | | | | o,p'-DDE: 0.00517 μg/L p,p'-DDE: 3.490 μg/L Dacthal: 0.003.3 μg/L Urban women: Chlorpyrifos: 0.0245 μg/L <i>cis</i> -Permethrin: 0.0819 μg/L <i>trans</i> -Permethrin: 0.0931 μg/L Hexachlorobenzene: 0.191 μg/L β-hexachlorocyclohexane: 0.220 μg/L o,p'-DDT: 0.0366 μg/L p,p'-DDT: 0.0366 μg/L p,p'-DDT: 0.0107 μg/L o,p'-DDE: 3.170 μg/L Dacthal: 0.00279 μg/L SD not indicated | |
| China | n = 97 (pooled) | Neonicotinoids | HPLC-MS/MS | Acetamiprid metabolite: $0.161 \pm 0.188 \ \mu g/L$ | (Unen et al., 2020b) |

Table 11 (continued)

| | ·····, | | | | |
|-----------------------|---|------------------|--------------------------|--|---|
| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
| China | n = 55 | OCPs, PYRs, OPPs | GC–MS | Imidacloprid: $0.0410 \pm 0.0243 \ \mu g/L$ Thiamethoxam: $0.0203 \pm 0.0149 \ \mu g/L$ Acetamiprid: $0.0191 \pm 0.0281 \ \mu g/L$ Clothianidin: $0.0130 \pm 0.0109 \ \mu g/L$ Nitempyran: $0.0077 \pm 0.0186 \ \mu g/L$ HCB: $29.4 \pm 30.0 \ \mu g/L$ β -HCH: $32.0 \pm 59.0 \ \mu g/L$ β -HCH: $32.0 \pm 105.1 \ \mu g/L$ PYRs: not detected | (Kuang et al., 2020) |
| China | n = 46 | OCPs | GC-µECD | OPPs: not detected Total OCPs: 1003.8 μg/L 4,4'-DDE: 655.4 μg/L β-HCH: 172.5 μg/L | (Zhou et al., 2012) |
| China | n = 142 | OCPs | GC | EDDTs: $316 \pm 279 \ \mu g/L$ EDdTs: $316 \pm 279 \ \mu g/L$ Endosulfan: $4.4 \pm 10.1 \ \mu g/L$ EDrins: $2.8 \pm 5.6 \ \mu g/L$ EHeptachlor: $1.4 \pm 4.1 \ \mu g/L$ EHCHs: $41.5 \pm 60.7 \ \mu g/L$ EChlordane: $5.6 \pm 16 \ \mu g/L$ | (Lu et al., 2015) |
| China | n = 54 | Carbamates | GC/MS | 200Fs 423 \pm 543 µg/L Syn-DP: 1.64 \pm 3.15 µg/L Anti-[DP-1C]: 0.156 \pm 0.163 µg/L 2DPs: 5.65 \pm 8.30 µg/L CB-28: 8.31 \pm 7.86 µg/L CB-99: 5.97 \pm 5.00 µg/L CB-118: 14.9 \pm 15.0 µg/L CB-138: 14.9 \pm 12.9 µg/L CB-138: 14.3 \pm 13.8 µg/L CB-138: 14.3 \pm 13.8 µg/L CB-136: 5.15 \pm 53.7 µg/L | (Pan et al., 2020) |
| Jordan | n = 120 | OCPs | GC/ECD | HCHs: not detected DDTs: 320 µg/L Cyclodienes: 200 µg/L | (al Antary et al., 2021) |
| India | n = 150 | OCPs | GC | Bathinda district: | (Bawa et al., 2018) |
| India | n = 153 among four zones: I: Subtropical II: Sub-humid foothills III: Wet temperate high hills | OPPs, OCPs | GC, GC–MS | DDTs: 519.2 \pm 1017.4 µg/L HCHs: 46.6 \pm 106.9 µg/L Heptachlor: 5.9 \pm 35.8 Heptachlor epoxide: 6.6 \pm 42.04 µg/L Endosulfan sulfate: 5.1 \pm 25.4 µg/L Methoxychlor: 11.4 \pm 89.3 µg/L Ludhiana: DDTs: 415.3 \pm 846.3 µg/L HCHs: 35.5 \pm 87.3 µg/L Heptachlor: 5.9 \pm 15.1 µg/L Heptachlor: 6.4 \pm 28.6 µg/L Methoxychlor: 2.09 \pm 12.8 µg/L Zone I: DDT: 11 µg/L Zone II: DDT: 11 µg/L Zone II: DDT: 11 µg/L Zone IV: DDT: not detected CPF not detected in any of the zones SD not indicated | (Sharma et al., 2020) |
| Japan Saudi Arabia | $ \begin{array}{l} \text{hyperfluct}\\ \text{high hills}\\ n = 45\\ n = 206 \end{array} $ | PYR OCPs | GC-MS AAS, GC-MS, AMA | S-421: 0.026 μg/L DDD: 0.319 ± 0.562 μg/L | (Maekawa et al., 2017) (Al-Saleh et al., 2019) |
| Saudi Arabia | n = 50 | OCPs | GC–MS/MS | DDE: $0.9/2 \pm 1.211 \ \mu g/L$ DDT: $1.957 \pm 1.254 \ \mu g/L$ Alpha-HCH: $40.4 \pm 24.0 \ \mu g/L$ Beta-HCH: $70.2 \pm 30.0 \ \mu g/L$ Gamma-HCH: $14 \pm 3.88 \ \mu g/L$ Delta-HCH: $104 \pm 30.1 \ \mu g/L$ $\Sigma pp, opDDT: not detected$ $\Sigma pp, opDDE: 79.9 \pm 26.3 \ \mu g/L$ $\Sigma pp, opDDD: 12.4 \pm 8.04 \ \mu g/L$ Alpha-chlordane: $3.52 \pm 2.51 \ \mu g/L$ Gamma-chlordane: $1.77 \pm 1.25 \ \mu g/L$ | (EL-Saeid et al., 2021) |

(continued on next page)

Table 11 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|--------------------------|-------------|----------------|----------------------------|---|-----------------------------|
| Currio | n = 120 | ODDe | LC MS ANS CC MS ANS | Aldrin: 11.2 \pm 3.78 µg/L Dieldrin: 5.07 \pm 2.43 µg/L Endrin: 9.46 \pm 4.03 µg/L Heptachlor: 4.48 \pm 2.99 µg/L Mirex: 4.03 \pm 2.55 µg/L Methoxychlor: 3.05 \pm 3.05 µg/L Methoxychlore: 3.06 \pm 3.06 µg/L | (Frandi et al. 2010) |
| Sylla | 11 – 120 | OFFS | LC-1913/1913, GC-1913/1913 | Chlorpyrifos: 2.05 µg/L SD not indicated | |
| Taiwan | n = 68 | OCPs | HRGC/LRMS | Aldrin: 0.168 ± 0.455 µg/L ΣHCH (the sum of α, β, γ, and δ-HCH): 0.839 ± 0.557 µg/L ΣCHL (the sum of cis- and trans-CHLs): 0.161 ± 0.284 µg/L 4,4'-DDD: 0.161 ± 1.64 µg/L 4,4'-DDE: 8.07 ± 6.53 µg/L 4,4'-DDT: 0.360 ± 0.798 µg/LΣDDT (the sum of DDD, DDE, and DDT): 9.81 ± 7.52 µg/L Dieldrin: 0.170 ± 0.500 µg/L Σendosulfan (the sum of endosulfan I, II, and sulfate): 0.290 ± 0.776 µg/L Σendrin (the sum of nedrsulfan I, II, and sulfate): 0.290 ± 0.776 µg/L Σheptachlor (the sum of heptachlor and heptachlor epoxide): 0.645 ± 0.995 µg/L Methoxychlor: 0.0388 ± 0.145 µg/L | (Chen et al., 2018) |
| Tanwan | 11 = 55 | UCPS | IRGC/MIS | α-HCH: 0.256 ± 0.310 μg/L β-HCH: 0.208 ± 0.241 μg/L γ-HCH: 0.128 ± 0.113 μg/L δ-HCH: 0.131 ± 0.129 μg/L cis-CHL: 0.113 ± 0.129 μg/L trans-CHL: 0.131 ± 0.268 μg/L 4,4'-DDD: 1.00 ± 1.43 μg/L 4,4'-DDE: 10.3 ± 6.76 μg/L 4,4'-DDT: 0.715 ± 0.745 μg/L Endosulfan I: 0.151 ± 0.353 μg/L Endosulfan II: 0.151 ± 0.367 μg/L Endrin aufate: 0.147 ± 0.179 μg/L Endrin ketone: 0.112 ± 0.146 μg/L Endrin aldehyde: 0.152 ± 0.265 μg/L Heptachlor: 0.660 ± 0.685 μg/L Heptachlor: 0.660 ± 0.685 μg/L Dieldrin: 0.352 ± 0.422 μg/L Methoxychlor: 0.106 ± 0.149 μg/L | (Kao et al., 2019) |
| <i>Europe</i> Belgium | n = 206 | OCPs | GC-ECNI-MS, GC-EI-MS/MS | p,p'-DDT: 4.40 ± 0.43 μg/L p,p'-DDE: 52.23 ± 3.10 μg/L HCB: 5.57 ± 0.15 μg/L β-HCH: 2.91 ± 0.27 μg/L γ-HCH (lindane), p,p'-DDT, and chlordane group, put detected | (Aerts et al., 2019) |
| Sweden | n = 539 | OCPs | GC/ECNI/MS | group, not deteted p,p'-DDT: 6.7 μg/L p,p'-DDE: 92 μg/L HCB: 12 μg/L β-HCH: 9.6 μg/L Oxychlordane: 3.4 μg/L trans-Nonachlor: 6.1 μg/L | (Gyllenhammar et al., 2021) |
| Switzerland | n = 3 | Neonicotinoids | UHPLC-MS/MS | Thiamethoxam: BDL-0.002 μg/L Clothinidin: BDL-0.006 μg/L Imidacloprid: BDL-0.0065 μg/L Acetamiprid: BDL-0.009 μg/L Thiacloprid: not detected Total neonicotinoids: 0.015 ± 0.0065 μg/L | (Lachat and Glauser, 2018) |

derivatives the most common ones (Hassine et al., 2012; Müller et al., 2019). This situation was also found in America, where levels of OCPs were found in Brazil, Mexico, and USA (Chávez-Almazán et al., 2020; Rodrigues and de Souza, 2018; Weldon et al., 2011). Levels of these contaminants have been also found in Asia in many countries, such as China, Saudi Arabia, Taiwan, Jordan, and India, being different studies with different cohorts in the case of the first three countries mentioned (al Antary et al., 2021; Bawa et al., 2018; Han et al., 2021; Kao et al., 2019; Kuang

et al., 2020; Lu et al., 2015; Pan et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2012). Concerning Europe, only studies in Belgium and Sweden have been performed, also detected levels of OCPs (Aerts et al., 2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2021). The studies detecting other types of pesticides on breast milk are scarcer. In this sense, levels of OPPs and pyrethroids have been found in USA, being higher the levels of these pesticides on samples collected from agricultural areas than in urban areas (Weldon et al., 2011). The levels of these pesticides have also been studied in China,

although the presence of these compounds was not detected (Kuang et al., 2020). Also in China, levels of carbamates have been detected (Pan et al., 2020), while levels of pyrethroids have been detected in Japan (Maekawa et al., 2017). In India, also the presence of the pesticide CPF was measured, but again, no significant levels were detected in any of the zones measured (Sharma et al., 2016). Only in Syria, levels of the OPPs CPF and metamidophos were detected (CDC, 2017). However, it is important to mention that the use of metamidophos has been banned in Europe since 2009, and the use of CPF since 2019 (Hernandez and Hougaard Bennekou, 2019). Concerning neonicotinoids, only two studies have reported their measurement and presence in breast milk, one carried out in China (Chen et al., 2020a), and one carried out in Switzerland (Lachat and Glauser, 2018). In both, levels of imidacloprid, clothianidin, and thiamethoxam were detected. Nonetheless, their use has been banned in Europe outdoors due to their dangerous effects on bees (EFSA, 2021).

Regarding the levels of pesticides found in infant formula, as can be found in Table 12, only two studies have been performed in America, leading to the detection of glyphosate and different OCPs in Brazil (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020; Rodrigues and de Souza, 2018). In Asia, five studies have been reported. In this sense, the presence of OCPs was measured in a study performed in India (Sharma et al., 2016) and in one performed in Turkey (Kilic et al., 2018), where no levels of these contaminants were found. In Europe, only one study concerning the levels of OCPs have been performed in Romania, leading to the detection of heptachlor epoxide and endosulfan sulfate (Dobrinas et al., 2016). In the same study, levels of different OPPs were also detected, such as CPF or parathionmethyl, among others. Regarding these pesticides and pyrethroids, no levels were detected in India (Sharma et al., 2016).

Taking all of this into account, the presence of pesticides has been detected in more breast milk samples than in infant formula, which is not surprising. This is due to the regulation in the production of the infant formula, and the persistence of these pesticides in nature, reaching the mother through both the food chain and air pollution. It is also worth mentioning that most of the pollutants detected in breast milk samples are already banned from the European Union, and that mothers from agricultural areas are more exposed to these pesticides than urban mothers. A more visual representation of the detection of pesticides can be found in Supplementary Fig. 5.

3.6. Packaging materials

Concerning the contaminants proceeding from food packaging, the most common ones in both breast milk and infant formula samples were per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). Among them, perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) stand out (Zheng et al., 2021). However, the use of PFOA has been banned from USA and Europe (Zheng et al., 2021), leading to their replacement for PFAS with shorter carbon chains. In addition to these, the presence of phthalates has also been reported. These compounds are used as plasticizers in a variety of plastics, including those used for packaging materials, and most of them have demonstrated to have endocrine disruption features, affecting neurodevelopment (Dong et al., 2019). In addition, the presence of bisphenol A (BPA), which is a monomer of polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins, has also been detected (Gao et al., 2021). The addition of this compound has been banned in some baby products (Bolognesi et al., 2015; Gao et al., 2021). However, BPA is still used in foodstuffs, environment, and human body, despite demonstrating to cause neurotoxicity and reproductive toxicity (Gao et al., 2021). To avoid this toxicity, some BPA analogs have been used to replace it, such as BPF, BPS, BFAF, BPB, etc., as they present lower toxicity (Liao and Kannan, 2013).

Besides being considered some of them as endocrine disruptors, bisphenols and PFAs have been studied after the exposure under laboratory conditions in different experimental models such as *C. elegans*, fish, or rodents. However, no human studies have found a correlation between

Table 12

Levels of pesticides found in infant formula expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|--------------------------|----------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|--|--|
| <i>America</i> Brazil | n = 140 | Glyphosate and OCPs | ICP-MS | Glyphosate: 0.00003-0.00108 µg/kg OCPs: 0.002-0.026 µg/kg | (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020) |
| Brazil | n = 105 | Glyphosate and AMPA residues | LC | Glyphosate: 30-1080 μg/kg AMPA residues: 20-170 μg/kg | (Rodrigues and de Souza, 2018) |
| <i>Asia</i> India | n = 14 | OCPs, OPPs, PYR | QuEChERS/GC | α-HCH, β-HCH, γ-HCH, δ-HCH, dicofol, p,p'-DDE, p,p'-DDD, p,p'-DDT, α-endosulfan, β-endosulfan, endosulfan sulfate, fenpropathrin, fluvalinate I and II, deltamethrin, bifenthrin, α-cypermethrin, fenvalerate I and II, chlorpyrifos, quinalphos, profenofos, triazophos, dimethoate, methyl demeton, phosnhamidon, malathion, ethion and acenhateand synthetic pyrethroids: not detected | (Sharma et al., 2016) |
| Turkey | n = 29 | OCPs | ICP-MS, GC–MS/MS | Chlorobenzilate, chlordane-cis, chlordane-trans, o,p-DDD, o,p-DDD, o,p-DDE, o,p-DDT, p,p-DDT, dieldrin, endosulfan- α , endosulfan- β , endosulfan-sulfate, endrin, HCH- α , HCH- β , HCH- δ , HCH- γ (lindane), heptachlor, heptachlorepoxide-cis, heptachlorepoxidetrans, methoxychlor, nitrofen, and quintozene: not detected | (Kilic et al., 2018) |
| <i>Europe</i> Romania | n = 5 | OCPs and OPPs | GC-ECD | OCPs: | (Dobrinas et al., 2016) |
| | | | | Aldrin, endrin, α-HCB, β-HCB, γ-HCB, λ-HCB, heptachlor, p,p'-DDD, p,p'-DDE, p,p'-DDT, α-endosulfan, β-endosulfan: not detected Heptachlor epoxide: BDL-2 µg/kg Endosulfan sulfate: 1-3 µg/kgOPPs: | |
| | | | | Dichlorvos: not detected Ethoprophos: 1-14 µg/kg Chlorpyrifos: BDL-5 µg/kg Prothiofos: BDL-0.9 µg/kg Guthion: BDL-0.8 µg/kg Disulfoton: BDL-2 µg/kg Fenchlorophos: BDL-0.4 µg/kg Parathion-methyl: BDL-0.2 µg/kg | |

Levels of food packaging residues found in breast milk expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|--------------------------|--------------------|---|------------------------------|---|--|
| Africa Tanzania | n = 47 | PFAs | HRGC-LRMS; CALUX, HPLC-MS/MS | PFOA: 0.21 μg/L PFNA: 0.17 μg/L PFDA: 0.14 μg/L PFOS: 0.50 μg/L Dioxin-like activity: 30.2 μg/L | (Müller et al., 2019) |
| America United States | n = 50 | PFAS | UPLC- MS/MS | PFHxA (C6): 0.00969 μg/L PFHpA (C7): 0.0061 μg/L PFPeS (C5), 4:2 FTS (C6), PFDS (C10), PFTeDA (C14): BDL Σshort-chain: 0.0172 μg/L PFHxS (C6): 0.00655 μg/L PFHxS (C6): 0.00105 μg/L PFOS (C8): 0.0304 μg/L PFOA (C8): 0.0139 μg/L PFOA (C8): 0.0074 μg/L PFDA (C10): 0.0074 μg/L PFDA (C11): 0.00443 μg/L PFDA (C12): 0.00526 μg/L PFDA (C12): 0.00526 μg/L PFTDA (C13): 0.00316 μg/L Σlong-chain: 0.0996 μg/L ΣPFAS: 0.121 μg/L | (Zheng et al., 2021) |
| <i>Asia</i> China | n = 109 | BPA and secondary metabolites | UPLC-MS/MS | BPA: 2.5 μg/L BPS: 0.19 μg/L BPAF: 0.092 μg/L BPF: Not detected | (Jin et al., 2018) |
| China | n = 174 | PFAS | HPLC -MS/MS | SD not indicated PFBA: 0.024 μg/L PFPeA: 0.0068 μg/L PFHxA: 0.041 μg/L PFOA: 0.087 μg/L PFDA: 0.012 μg/L PFDA: 0.012 μg/L PFDA: 0.013 μg/L PFUA: 0.013 μg/L PFHpA, PFTrA, and PFTeA: not detected PFHxS: 0.025 μg/L 6:2 FTOH: 0.014 μg/L 8:2 FTOH: 0.010 μg/L 10:2 FTOH: 0.010 μg/L 6:2 CI-PFES: 0.028 μg/L 8:2 CI-PFES: 0.021 μg/L SD not idicated | (Jin et al., 2020) |
| China South Korea | n = 149 n = 221 | BPA Bisphenol A and phthalate metabolites | UHPLC-MS/MS LC-MS/MS | BPA: 0.053 µg/L MEP: $0.17 \pm 2.37 \text{ µg/L}$ MnBP: $0.83 \pm 3.16 \text{ µg/L}$ MiBP: $0.47 \pm 3.19 \text{ µg/L}$ MBZP: $0.06 \pm 1.37 \text{ µg/L}$ MEHP: $1.44 \pm 6.00 \text{ µg/L}$ MiNP: $0.10 \pm 2.84 \text{ µg/L}$ BPA: $0.12 \pm 2.91 \text{ µg/L}$ | (Gao et al., 2021) (Kim et al., 2020) |
| <i>Europe</i> Poland | n = 21 | Bisphenols | LC-MS/MS | Sampling point 1: | (Czarczyńska-Goślińska et al., 2021) |
| Sani- | n = 10 | Bimbonels | UDLC MC MC | BPA: 1.41 µg/L BPA: 0.07 µg/L BPA: 0.07 µg/L BPA: 1.41 µg/L BPA: 1.41 µg/L BPA: 1.20 µg/L BPAF: 0.07 µg/L BPF: not detected Sd not indicated BPA: PL 4.2 µg/L | (Dualda et al. 2010) |
| эраш | n = 10 | ызрненов | UPLG-NI5/ NI5 | BPF: BDL-0.32 µg/L BPS: BDL-0.37 µg/L | (Dualue et al., 2019) |

Table 13 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|----------|----------------|--------------|-------------|---|------------------------|
| Spain | n = 82 | PFAS | UHPLC-MS/MS | PFHxA: 0.00158 μg/L PFHpA: 0.01939 μg/L PFOA: 0.00717 μg/L PFNA: 0.00259 μg/L PFDA: <0.00072 μg/L | (Serrano et al., 2021) |

exposure to these packaging materials and developmental toxicity (Golub et al., 2010; Qiu et al., 2019). Nonetheless, according to Street and Bernasconi (Street and Bernasconi, 2020), children's exposure to phthalates leads to a reduced IQ and a decrease in the psychomotor development index in humans (Yesumanipreethi et al., 2021). In fact, as explained in the review performed by Yesumanipreethi et al. (2021), phthalates have been associated with different neurological disorders in humans, causing similar behaviors than the one seen in ADHD or ASD. Furthermore, these phthalates have also demonstrated to have reproductive consequences in humans, leading to effects on male genital development in newborn boys after maternal exposure during the first trimester of the pregnancy (Swan et al., 2015), or to changes in placental size and shape (Zhu et al., 2018).

Regarding this, and as can be seen in Table 13, the only study performed in the USA led to the detection of higher levels of PFAs in total than those recommended by EFSA (Zheng et al., 2021). Furthermore, only one study has been performed in Africa, where levels of different PFAs were detected in Tanzania (Müller et al., 2019). PFAs have also been detected in China, Asia, leading also to high levels of these pollutants, accounting for almost double of those found in the USA (Gao et al., 2021; Jin et al., 2020). In addition, in Spain, Europe, also high levels of these contaminants have been found in breast milk, leading also to dangerous concentrations (Serrano et al., 2021). Concerning the presence of phthalates, they have only been reported in samples of breast milk from Asia, in China and South Korea. In this sense, different kinds of phthalates have been found in China, leading to very high levels compared to the recommended by the EFSA (Jin et al., 2020). However, in South Korea, even though levels of different phthalates were found, no toxic values were reported (Kim et al., 2020). In addition, concerning the presence of bisphenols, three studies have been performed in Asia and two in Europe. In this regard, the most studied was BPA, which was detected in two studies in China and in South Korea, although not dangerous levels were reported (Jin et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2020). Concerning Europe, one study was performed in Poland (Czarczyńska-Goślińska et al., 2021) and one in Spain (Dualde et al., 2019), and although they detected different types of bisphenols, no dangerous concentrations of these pollutants were found.

With respect to the levels found in infant formula, as can be found in Table 14, the presence of PFAs have been searched only in South Africa, finding higher levels than those recommended by EFSA (Macheka et al., 2021). However, the presence of phthalates and bisphenols has been more studied. In this regard, the presence of different phthalates has been detected in one study in Brazil and in two in Italy, leading to higher levels in one of the studies performed in Italy (Cirillo et al., 2015). In addition, the presence of bisphenols has also been reported in a study carried out in Brazil, two studies in Italy and in one in India. From them, dangerous levels of BPA have been found in the study performed in Brazil (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020), and in one of the Italian studies (Cirillo et al., 2015), while the other studies reporting levels in Italy and India led to concentrations within the range established by EFSA (del Bubba et al., 2018; Karsauliya et al., 2021).

Thus, as there was only one study performed in Africa on infant formula, while there are no available studies on breast milk, it would not be correct to assess that breast milk is safer than formula in this case. Concerning the studies carried out in America, only one study performed in USA was found measuring levels of food packaging contaminants that led to high levels of PFAs, while two studies were performed on Brazilian infant formula that led to high levels of BPA, so the safety of both types of food would depend on the country in this case. Regarding the studies performed in Asia, only one study was found on infant formula leading to no toxic concentrations of these pollutants, while different studies were found in breast milk detecting dangerous levels of bisphenols, phthalates, and PFAs. Thus, although infant formula seems to be safer in this term, it is also worth mentioning the lack of the studies in this regard. However, according to the studies available measuring the levels of these contaminants in both breast milk and infant formula, no toxic levels were found in breast milk, while one study led to high concentrations of BPA in Italy on infant formula, being safer, thus, breast milk in this case. In order to visualize the findings in a simpler way, the data can be found in Supplemental Fig. 6.

3.7. Other environmental pollutants

Once the main groups of contaminants have been described, it is also worth mentioning the presence of some compounds that do not fit in any of those groups. According to this, they have been divided into six groups: chlorinated paraffins (CPs), flame retardants (BFRs, HBCDD, TBBPA and PBDEs), parabens, benzophenones, and mineral oil hydrocarbons (MOHs), whose inclusion is justified for several reasons. First, CPs are considered as a group of emerging contaminants, and a cause of an increasing concern due to their environmental persistence and their toxicity to humans (Wu et al., 2020). The same way, flame retardants are a group of contaminants that is getting attention nowadays since the prolonged exposure to them has been described lately due to household products and building materials, and it is associated with many adverse health effects (Killilea et al., 2017). Other chemicals of emerging concern are parabens, since they are widely used as preservatives in food and personal care products, and they can act as endocrine-disrupting chemicals (Wei et al., 2021). Benzophenones have been included for similar reasons, since they are emerging human and environmental contaminants mostly used in sunscreens and personal care products (DiNardo and Downs, 2018). Lastly, MOHs have also gotten the attention because some new studies have found unexpected MOHs sources (Grob, 2018).

Regarding PBDEs, most of them are widely used as brominated flame retardants (BFRs). These chemicals are a group of compounds used to prevent or stop the dissemination of fire (U.S. Department of Health and Human & Services, 2004). For this purpose, they are used in hard plastics and polyurethane foam, being present in many daily products, which leads to an increased human exposure-risk (Birnbaum and Staskal, 2004; Darnerud et al., 2001). These compounds compile 209 chemicals, being BDE-47, BDE-99, BDE-100, and BDE-153 the most detected in humans (Hites, 2004). In addition to these flame retardants, BFRs, HBCDD, and TBBPA should be also considered. As described above, BFRs are used to mitigate the spread of fire, although within this category, some of them have been banned over the past decade, such as penta- and Octa-BDEs (Listing of POPs in the Stockholm Convention, n.d.). Therefore, the present studies focus on the analysis of those BFRs that are produced at high levels or are

Levels of food packaging residues found in breast milk expressed by mean ± SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-------------------------------|----------------|-----------------|------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| <i>Africa</i> South Africa | n = 9 | PFAS | UHPLC-MS/MS | PFBA: 0.19 μg/kg PFPeA: 0.07 μg/kg PFHxA: 0.01 μg/kg PFHxS: 0.01 μg/kg PFOA: 0.01 μg/kg PFOA: 0.02 μg/kg PFOA: 0.17 μg/kg PFDA: 0.17 μg/kg PFDA: 0.36 μg/kg PFDA: 0.16 μg/kg PFTDA: 0.38 μg/kg PDTEDA: 0.16 μg/kg L-PFBS and PFHxA: not detected SD not indicated | (Macheka et al., 2021) |
| <i>America</i> Brazil | n = 140 | Perchlorate | ICP-MS | Perchlorate: 7.83 µg/kg | (de Mendonça Pereira et al., 2020) |
| Asia India | n = 68 | Bisphenols | UPLC-MS/MS | BPA: 5.46 μg/kg BPS: 0.58 μg/kg BPZ: 1.64 μg/kg BPAF, BPC, BPE, and BPFL: not detected SD not indicated | (Karsauliya et al., 2021) |
| <i>Europe</i> Italy | n = 4 | Phthalates | ICP-MS, GC–MS/MS | DEHP: 18–75 μg/kg MEHP: 35–72 μg/kg DiBP: 18–25 μg/kg MiBP: 5.7–43 μg/kg MiNP: 10–23 μg/kg DMP, DEP, DPP, DiPP, DBP, DPeP, DHP, DHepP, BzBP, DOP, DiNP, | (del Bubba et al., 2018) |
| Italy | n = 50 | Phthalates, BPA | HPLC | DNP, DDP, DUP, DDoP, MEP, MBP, MEHP, and MBzP: not detected DEHP: 906 µg/kg DnBP: 53 µg/kg BPA: 15 µg/kg | (Cirillo et al., 2015) |

highly present in the environment, such as hexabromocyclododecane isomers (HBCDD) and tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA) (Smythe et al., 2022). These flame retardants have been suggested to possibly cause developmental effects in humans, in terms of correlation with lower birth weight and length, lower head and chest circumference and developmental delays in cognition, together with poorer attention, fine motor coordination and cognition (Chao et al., 2007, 2011; Costa et al., 2014).

Concerning CPs, they have a wide usage spectrum, being used for plasticizers, sealing materials, flame retardants, and lubricants, among others (Glüge et al., 2016). These chemicals are classified according to their carbon chain length as short-chain CPs (SCCPs), medium-chain CPs (MCCPs), and long-chain CPs (LCCPs) (Yuan et al., 2019). In terms of public health, the most concerning ones are SCCPs and MCCPs due to their persistence, toxicity, and bioaccumulation (G. L. Wei et al., 2016).

Meanwhile, parabens are a group of p-hydroxybenzoic acid (PHBA), with methylparaben (MP), ethylparaben (EP), n-propylparaben (PP), and n-butylparaben (BP), being the most used in the cosmetic industry (EUR-Lex, 2009). These compounds have shown to increase the risk of several diseases, such as breast cancer, melanoma, allergy, and reproductive disorders (Matwiejczuk et al., 2020). Benzophenones are also a large and diverse group of compounds found in many pharmacologically active natural products, and they are widely used in synthetic products (Surana et al., 2018). One of the most concerning benzophenones nowadays is benzophenone-3 (BP-3), which is used in sunscreen products, and has been shown to be present in 97 % of the population tested (DiNardo and Downs, 2018). The last group of contaminants analyzed is MOHs. Mineral oils are certain fractions derived from petroleum refining, and they can contain open-chain hydrocarbons, commonly named as paraffins, hydrocarbons with saturated rings (MOSH), and aromatic hydrocarbons (MOAH) (Weber et al., 2018). Concerning the effects of the maternal exposure to these compounds and possible effects on the offspring, some studies have reported prenatal exposure to parabens and benzophenoles to be related to cognitive impairment in children (Jiang et al., 2019). Furthermore, Barkoski et al. (2019) reported prenatal phenol and parabens to be possibly linked to ASD.

Regarding the results found in breast milk, as can be seen in Table 15, only PBDEs were found in one country in Africa, in Uganda, in safe concentrations, while no other contaminants related were studied (Matovu et al., 2019). These contaminants were also found in Asia, both in China and in Japan, although the levels detected are within the established by the EFSA (Maekawa et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2020). However, in China, some other pollutants were also measured, which led to higher levels of CPs than those recommended by the EFSA (Xu et al., 2021), and to the detection of several flame retardants (Huang et al., 2020). Concerning Asia, levels of parabens and triclosan were also measured in Korea, leading to their detection in two different studies (Kim et al., 2020; Park et al., 2019). In addition, these types of pollutants have also been found in Europe. In this sense, levels of parabens have been detected in Spanish and Polish breast milksamples (Czarczyńska-Goślińska et al., 2021; Dualde et al., 2019), while levels of PBDEs were detected in Sweden and Belgium (Aerts et al., 2019; Gyllenhammar et al., 2021). Furthermore, levels of phytochemical phenolic compounds were detected in Poland (Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk et al., 2020).

Respecting the pollutants found in infant formula, as can be found in Table 16, only one study has been performed in America, which led to the detection of different benzophenones on Brazilian samples (Galindo et al., 2021). Concerning the reports from Asia, only China has published, to our knowledge, the presence of these contaminants, including MOH and CPs (Han et al., 2021; Li et al., 2020; Sui et al., 2020). The only study

Levels of other pollutants found in breast milk expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------|-----------------|---|------------------------|
| <i>Africa</i> Uganda | n = 50 (urban vs rural) | PBDEs | GC–MS | Nakaseke (rural): | (Matovu et al., 2019) |
| | | | | BDE-28: not detected BDE-47: 0.21 μ g/L BDE-49: not detected BDE-66: not detected BDE-77: 0.12 μ g/L BDE-99: 0.06 μ g/L BDE-100: not detected BDE-138: not detected BDE-153: 0.11 μ g/L BDE-154: 0.05 μ g/L BDE-183: not detected BDE-209: not detected BDE-209: not detected Kampala (urban): | |
| | | | | BDE-28: 0.03 μg/L BDE-47: 0.83 μg/L BDE-49: 0.09 μg/L BDE-66: 0.04 μg/L BDE-99: 0.15 μg/L BDE-99: 0.15 μg/L BDE-99: 0.15 μg/L BDE-138: 0.04 μg/L BDE-153: 0.37 μg/L BDE-154: 0.26 μg/L BDE-183: 0.15 μg/L BDE-209: 0.92 μg/L SD not indicated | |
| <i>Asia</i> China | n = 42 (pooled) (rural vs urban) | CPs | GC x GC-ECNI-MS | MCCP: | (Xu et al., 2021) |
| | | | | Urban areas: 445.09 μg/L Rural areas: 527.72 μg/L SCCP: | |
| | | | | Urban areas: 370.09 μg/L Rural areas: 426.91 μg/L | |
| China | n = 20 | CPs | GC-ECNI-LRMS | SD not indicated SSCCP: 117.1 µg/L SMCCP: 40.3 µg/L SD not indicated | (Liu et al., 2020) |
| China | n = 111 | BFRs, HBCDD | HPLC-MS/MS | α-HBCDD: 5.4 ± 4.37 μg/L β-HBCDD: 0.127 ± 0.27 μg/L γ-HBCDD: 2.06 ± 3.22 μg/L | (Huang et al., 2020) |
| Korea | n = 260 | Parabens | LC-MS/MS | ΣHBCDD: 7.58 ± 6 μg/L MP: 0.619 ± 2.50 μg/L EP: 1.03 ± 2.01 μg/L PP: 0.174 ± 0.641 μg/L BP: 0.048 ± 0.118 μg/L | (Park et al., 2019) |
| Korea | n = 221 | Parabens and triclosan | LC-MS/MS | Σparabens: 1.87 \pm 4.26 μg/L Methyl-paraben: 0.33 \pm 5.61 μg/L Ethyl-paraben: 0.46 \pm 5.23 μg/L Propyl-paraben: 0.21 \pm 3.30 μg/L | (Kim et al., 2020) |
| China | n = 54 | PBDEs | GC/MS | Triclosan: $0.04 \pm 2.62 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-28: $0.666 \pm 0.827 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-47: $1.15 \pm 1.15 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-100: $0.361 \pm 0.324 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-99: $0.552 \pm 0.749 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-154: $0.757 \pm 0.816 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-153: $4.95 \pm 4.71 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-183: $1.37 \pm 1.73 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-184: $1.37 \pm 1.73 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-185: $1.37 \pm 1.73 \ \mu g/L$ | (Pan et al., 2020) |
| Japan | n = 45 | PBDEs | GC–MS | BDE-28: 0.001 µg/L BDE-47: 0.011 µg/L BDE-99: 0.001 µg/L BDE-100: 0.003 µg/L BDE-100: 0.003 µg/L BDE-154: 0.001 µg/L | (Maekawa et al., 2017) |

(continued on next page)

Table 15 (continued)

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|------------------|-------------|--|-------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| | | | | BDE-183: not detected BDE-197: 0.005 μg/L BDE-207: 0.006 μg/L BDE-209: 0.022 μg/L SD not indicated | |
| Europe Poland | n = 13 | Phenolic compounds (phytochemicals) | LC-ESI-MS/MS | Gallic acid: $31.8 \pm 1.3 \ \mu g/L$ Daidzein: $3.61 \pm 5.93 \ \mu g/L$ Caffeic acid: $54.4 \pm 24.3 \ \mu g/L$ Quercetin: $12.4 \pm 5.61 \ \mu g/L$ Genistein: $3.63 \pm 3.40 \ \mu g/L$ Naringenin: $1.89 \pm 1.57 \ \mu g/L$ Hesperetin: $1.243 \pm 1.31 \ \mu g/L$ Epicatechin, epicatechin gallate, epigallocatechin rulate keamferol: pat detected | (Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk et al., 2020) |
| Belgium | n = 206 | PBDEs | GC-ECNI-MS, GC-EI-MS/MS | PeCB: not detected PecB: not detected HexaBB: not detected BDE-28: not detected BDE-47: $0.24 \pm 0.02 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-99: $0.10 \pm 0.01 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-100: not detected BDE-153: $0.46 \pm 0.02 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-154: $0.13 \pm 0.01 \ \mu g/L$ | (Aerts et al., 2019) |
| Poland | n = 21 | Parabens | LC-MS/MS | Sampling point 1: MP: 1.02 µg/L EP: 0.32 µg/L PP: 0.25 µg/L BP: 0.04 µg/L Sampling point 2: | (Czarczyńska-Goślińska et al., 2021) |
| | | | | MP: 1.52 µg/L EP: 0.27 µg/L PP: 0.64 µg/L BP: 0.04 µg/L SD not indicated | |
| Spain | n = 10 | Parabens | UPLC-MS/MS | MP: 1.59 μg/L EP: 0.671 μg/L PP: 0.197 μg/L BP: 0.051 μg/L | (Dualde et al., 2019) |
| Sweden | n = 539 | PBDEs and HBCDDs | GC/ECNI/MS | BDE-47: $1.5 \pm 1.6 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-99: $0.33 \pm 0.45 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-100: $0.30 \pm 0.39 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-153: $0.63 \pm 0.49 \ \mu g/L$ BDE-209: $0.10 \pm 0.12 \ \mu g/L$ HBCDDs: $0.33 \pm 0.41 \ \mu g/L$ | (Gyllenhammar et al., 2021) |

performed with Polish samples of infant formula led to the detection of different PBDEs in 16 samples (Pietron et al., 2021). Last, only two studies regarding the presence of nitrogen compounds in infant formula have been found that were performed in the last decade. The first one was carried out in Austria by Beganović et al. (2020), who used a handheld Raman spectrometer (HRS) to quantify melamine in 7 samples of infant formula, finding that the values were correct according to EU limits. The second one was the study developed by de Mendonça Pereira et al. (2020) that has been mentioned before in other sections. They found a melamine concentration of 0.15-1.0 mg/kg, which is safe under the law. These results can be perceived visually in Supplementary Fig. 7.

4. Conclusion

To sum up, breast milk has demonstrated to be a good biomarker for exposure to maternal environmental contamination, and it is a powerful tool to predict also infant exposure, especially in polluted areas. In this sense, the presence of the different pollutants varies from each continent, and the place of residence, as mothers living in industrial areas present higher levels of toxics on breast milk, such as metals, pesticides, or packaging products, in which infant formula seems to be a good alternative. However, infant formula is not exempt from being exposed to different contaminants during the process of fabrication, handling, or manufacturing, also including metals, heat-treatment products, pharmaceutical residues, mycotoxins, or packaging products. Taking all of this into account, as breast milk also has beneficial properties for the infant in terms of microbiota, immune, and nervous system, a professional approach would be required to make the decision of combination of breast milk and infant formula and, in very specific bad scenarios, avoiding breast milk depending on the maternal conditions.

Funding

This work was funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación, project number (EI) PID2019-106442RB-C21/AEI/10.13039/ 501100011033.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

I. Martín-Carrasco: Methodology, Writing – original draft. P. Carbonero-Aguilar: Methodology. B. Dahiri: Methodology, Writing – original draft. I.M. Moreno: Conceptualization, Resources, Writing – review & editing. M. Hinojosa: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing.

Levels of other pollutants found in breast milk expressed by mean \pm SD, or as median: range.

| Location | Samples (n) | Contaminants | Methods | Main outcomes | Refs. |
|-------------------------|-------------|---------------------|-----------------------------------|--|------------------------|
| America Brazil | n = 25 | Benzophenones | HPLC-FLD-DAD | BP: 322.57 \pm 12.92 µg/kg BP-1: 512.47 \pm 81.26 µg/kg BP-3: 232.88 \pm 7.61 µg/kg BP-8: 163.60 \pm 10.15 µg/kg BP-12: 71.95 \pm 3.99 µg/kg | (Galindo et al., 2021) |
| Asia China | n = 51 | MOH (MOAH and MOSH) | GC-FID/MS | MOAH: 800 µg/kg MOSH: 2100 µg/kg SD not indicated | (Sui et al., 2020) |
| China | n = 42 | МОН | GC-FID/MS and consumption surveys | MOAH: 550 µg/kg MOSH: 1560 µg/kg SD not indicated | (Li et al., 2020) |
| China | n = 23 | CPs | AG-CMS | Skimmed milk: | (Han et al., 2021) |
| | | | | SCCPs: 3.21 µg/kg MCCPs: 2.29 µg/kg Whole milk: SCCPs: 16.3 µg/kg MCCPs: 11.8 µg/kg SD not indicated | |
| <i>Europe</i> Poland | n = 16 | PBDEs | HRGC-HRMS | BDE-28: 0.09 μg/kg BDE-47: 0.71 μg/kg BDE-49: 0.31 μg/kg BDE-99: 0.88 μg/kg BDE-100: 0.31 μg/kg BDE-138: 0.09 μg/kg BDE-154: 0.31 μg/kg BDE-154: 0.31 μg/kg BDE-183: 0.31 μg/kg BDE-209: 11.3 μg/kg ΣPBDEs: 14 ± 7.0 μg/kg | (Pietron et al., 2021) |

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162461.

References

- Acharya, N., Gautam, B., Subbiah, S., Rogge, M.M., Anderson, T.A., Gao, W., 2019. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in breast milk of obese vs normal women: infant exposure and risk assessment. Sci. Total Environ. 668, 658–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2019.02.381.
- Aerts, R., van Overmeire, I., Colles, A., Andjelković, M., Malarvannan, G., Poma, G., den Hond, E., van de Mieroop, E., Dewolf, M.C., Charlet, F., van Nieuwenhuyse, A., van Loco, J., Covaci, A., 2019. Determinants of persistent organic pollutant (POP) concentrations in human breast milk of a cross-sectional sample of primiparous mothers in Belgium. Environ. Int. 131 (May). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104979.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2022. from https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/. Agostoni, C., Berni Canani, R., Fairweather-Tait, S., Heinonen, M., Korhonen, H., la Vieille, S.,
- Marchelli, R., Martin, A., Naska, A., Neuhäuser-Berthold, M., Nowicka, G., Sanz, Y., Siani, A., Sjödin, A., Stern, M., Strain, S., Tetens, I., Tomé, D., Turck, D., Verhagen, H., 2013. Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for molybdenum. EFSA J. 11 (8), 35. https:// doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3333.
- Agostoni, C., Berni Canani, R., Fairweather-Tait, S., Heinonen, M., Korhonen, H., la Vieille, S., Marchelli, R., Martin, A., Naska, A., Neuhäuser-Berthold, M., Nowicka, G., Sanz, Y., Siani,

A., Sjödin, A., Stern, M., Strain, S., Tetens, I., Tomé, D., Turck, D., Przyrembel, H., 2014. Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for iodine. EFSA J. 12 (5), 3660. https:// doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3660.

- al Antary, T.M., Alawi, M.A., Kiwan, R., Haddad, N.A., 2021. Monitoring of organochlorine pesticide residues in human breast milk in the northern governorates of Jordan in 2019/2020 compared with the results of 2015 study. Bull.Environ.Contam.Toxicol. 106 (6), 1071–1076. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-021-03191-x.
- Alexander, J., Benford, D., Boobis, A., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Cravedi, J.-P., di Domenico, A., Doerge, D., Dogliotti, E., Edler, L., Farmer, P., Filipič, M., Fink-Gremmels, J., Fürst, P., Guerin, T., Katrine Knutsen, H., Machala, M., Mutti, A., Rose, M., Scaravelli, E., 2011. Scientific opinion on tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA) and its derivatives in food. EFSA J. 9 (12), 2477. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2011.2477.
- Alexander, J., Benford, D., Boobis, A., Ceccatelli, S., Cravedi, J.-P., di Domenico, A., Doerge, D., Dogliotti, E., Edler, L., Farmer, P., Filipič, M., Fink-Gremmels, J., Fürst, P., Guerin, T., Katrine Knutsen, H., Machala, M., Mutti, A., Schlatter, J., van Leeuwen, C.E.F., Panel members, R., Vernazza, F., 2010. Scientific opinion on melamine in food and feed. EFSA J. 8 (4), 1573. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2010.1573.
- Al-Saleh, I., Abduljabbar, M., Al-Rouqi, R., Elkhatib, R., Alshabbaheen, A., Shinwari, N., 2013. Mercury (Hg) exposure in breast-fed infants and their mothers and the evidence of oxidative stress. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 153 (1–3), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12011-013-9687-7/FIGURES/1.
- Al-Saleh, I., Al-Mohawes, S., Al-Rouqi, R., Elkhatib, R., 2019. Selenium status in lactating mothers-infants and its potential protective role against the neurotoxicity of methylmercury, lead, manganese, and DDT. Environ. Res. 176 (June), 108562. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envres.2019.108562.
- Alves Peixoto, R.R., Bianchi Codo, C.R., Lacerda Sanches, V., Guiraldelo, T.C., Ferreira da Silva, F., Ribessi, R.L., Martins Marba, S.T., Cadore, S., 2019. Trace mineral composition of human breast milk from brazilian mothers. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol. 54 (May), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2019.05.002.
- Alvito, P., Pereira-Da-silva, L., 2022. Mycotoxin exposure during the first 1000 days of life and its impact on children's health: a clinical overview. Toxins 14 (3). https://doi.org/10. 3390/TOXINS14030189.
- Anderson, L.C., 1986. HHS Blueprint for Action on Breastfeeding. 2. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Office on Women's Health.
- Anderson, P.O., Pochop, S.L., Manoguerra, A.S., 2003. Adverse drug reactions in breastfed infants: less than imagined. Clin. Pediatr. 42 (4), 325–340. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 000992280304200405.
- Andreas, N.J., Kampmann, B., Mehring Le-Doare, K., 2015. Human breast milk: a review on its composition and bioactivity. Early Hum. Dev. 91 (11), 629–635. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.EARLHUMDEV.2015.08.013.

- Arribas-Lorenzo, G., Morales, F.J., 2010. Estimation of dietary intake of 5hydroxymethylfurfural and related substances from coffee to Spanish population. Food Chem. Toxicol. 48 (2), 644–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FCT.2009.11.046.
- Asamoah, A., Essumang, D.K., Muff, J., Kucheryavskiy, S.v., Søgaard, E.G., 2018. Assessment of PCBs and exposure risk to infants in breast milk of primiparae and multiparae mothers in an electronic waste hot spot and non-hot spot areas in Ghana. Sci. Total Environ. 612, 1473–1479. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.scitotenv.2017.08.177.
- Asghar, U., Malik, M., Javed, A., 2016. Pesticide exposure and human health: a review. J. Ecosyst. Ecogr. 01 (s5). https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7625.85-005.
- US EPA, 2005. Barium and Compounds; CASRN 7440-39-3. https://iris.epa.gov/static/pdfs/ 0010_summary.pdf.
- Astolfi, M.L., Marotta, D., Cammalleri, V., Marconi, E., Antonucci, A., Avino, P., Canepari, S., Vitali, M., Protano, C., 2021. Determination of 40 elements in powdered infant formulas and related risk assessment. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 18 (10). https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijeph18105073.
- Babakobi, M.D., Reshef, L., Gihaz, S., Belgorodsky, B., Fishman, A., Bujanover, Y., Gophna, U., 2020. Effect of maternal diet and milk lipid composition on the infant gut and maternal milk microbiomes. Nutrients 12 (9), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/NU12092539.
- Babayigit, A., Duy Thanh, D., Ethirajan, A., Manca, J., Muller, M., Boyen, H.G., Conings, B., 2016. Assessing the toxicity of Pb-and Sn-based perovskite solar cells in model organism Danio rerio. Sci. Rep. 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP18721.
- Badibostan, H., Feizy, J., Daraei, B., Shoeibi, S., Rajabnejad, S.H., Asili, J., Taghizadeh, S.F., Giesyh, J.P., Karimi, G., 2019. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in infant formulae, follow-on formulae, and baby foods in Iran: an assessment of risk. Food Chem. Toxicol. 131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2019.110640.
- Ballard, O., Morrow, A.L., 2013. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. Pediatr. Clin. N. Am. 60 (1), 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PCL.2012.10.002.
- Bao, Y., Zhang, L., Liu, X., Shi, L., Li, J., Meng, G., Zhao, Y., Wu, Y., 2020. Dioxin-like compounds in paired maternal serum and breast milk under long sampling intervals. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 194 (February), 110339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv. 2020.110339.
- Barker, D.J.P., Eriksson, J.G., Forsén, T., Osmond, C., 2002. Fetal origins of adult disease: strength of effects and biological basis. Int. J. Epidemiol. 31 (6), 1235–1239. https:// doi.org/10.1093/IJE/31.6.1235.
- Barkoski, J.M., Busgang, S.A., Bixby, M., Bennett, D., Schmidt, R.J., Barr, D.B., Panuwet, P., Gennings, C., Hertz-Picciotto, I., 2019. Prenatal phenol and paraben exposures in relation to child neurodevelopment including autism spectrum disorders in the MARBLES study. Environ. Res. 179 (Pt A), 108719. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2019.108719.
- Bastos, W.R., Vieira, S.M., Manzatto, Â.G., Dórea, J.G., Rubira, M.C., de Souza, V.F.P., da Costa Junior, W.A., Souza Bastos, M.T., 2018. Heterogeneity of multimedia exposures to neurotoxic elements (Al, As, Cd, Pb, Mn, and Hg) in breastfed infants from Porto Velho,Brazil. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 184 (1), 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-017-1165-1.
- Bauer, J.A., Devick, K.L., Bobb, J.F., Coull, B.A., Bellinger, D., Benedetti, C., Cagna, G., Fedrighi, C., Guazzetti, S., Oppini, M., Placidi, D., Webster, T.F., White, R.F., Yang, Q., Zoni, S., Wright, R.O., Smith, D.R., Lucchini, R.G., Henn, B.C., 2020. Associations of a metal mixture measured in multiple biomarkers with IQ: evidence from italian adolescents living near ferroalloy industry. Environ. Health Perspect. 128 (9). https://doi.org/ 10.1289/EHP6803 097002–1097002–097012.
- Bawa, P., Bedi, J.S., Gill, J.P.S., Aulakh, R.S., Kumar, A., Arora, K., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants residues in human breast milk from Bathinda and Ludhiana districts of Punjab, India. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 75 (4), 512–520. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00244-018-0512-3.
- Beekman, J., MacMahon, S., 2020a. The impact of infant formula production on the concentrations of 3-MCPD and glycidyl esters. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 37 (1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2019.1672898.
- Beekman, J.K., Grassi, K., MacMahon, S., 2020. Updated occurrence of 3monochloropropane-1,2-diol esters (3-MCPD) and glycidyl esters in infant formulas purchased in the United States between 2017 and 2019. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 37 (3), 374–390. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19440049.2019.1706002.
- Beganović, A., Nuener, T., Meischl, F., Stuppner, S.E., Rainer, M., Bonn, G.K., Huck, C.W., 2020. Quantification of melamine in infant formula using a handheld Raman spectrometer – performance boost with customized arduino-controlled rotation setup. Talanta 209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2019.120488.
- Bessaire, T., Mujahid, C., Beck, A., Tarres, A., Savoy, M.C., Woo, P.M., Mottier, P., Desmarchelier, A., 2018a. Screening of 23 β-lactams in foodstuffs by LC–MS/MS using an alkaline QuEChERS-like extraction. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 35 (4), 661–673. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2018.1426891.
- Bhardwaj, J.K., Mittal, M., Saraf, P., Kumari, P., 2018. Pesticides induced oxidative stress and female infertility: a review. 39(1), pp. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15569543.2018.1474926.
- Birnbaum, L.S., Staskal, D.F., 2004. Brominated flame retardants: cause for concern? Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (1), 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.6559.
- Bolognesi, C., Castle, L., Cravedi, J.-P., Engel, K.-H., Fowler, P., Franz, R., Grob, K., Gürtler, R., Husøy, T., Mennes, W., Milana, M.R., Penninks, A., Roland, F., Silano, V., Smith, A., de Fátima, M., Poças, T., Tlustos, C., Toldrá, F., Theobald, A., 2015. Scientific opinion on the risks to public health related to the presence of bisphenol A (BPA) in foodstuffs. EFSA J. 13 (1), 3978. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2015.3978.
- Bose-O'Reilly, S., Lettmeier, B., Shoko, D., Roider, G., Drasch, G., Siebert, U., 2020. Infants and mothers levels of mercury in breast milk, urine and hair, data from an artisanal and smallscale gold mining area in Kadoma/Zimbabwe. Environ. Res. 184 (May 2019), 109266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109266.
- Braun, D., Eiser, M., Puntscher, H., Marko, D., Warth, B., 2021. Natural contaminants in infant food: the case of regulated and emerging mycotoxins. Food Control 123 (June 2020), 107676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107676.

- Eidelman, A.I., Schanler, R.J., Johnston, M., Landers, S., Noble, L., Szucs, K., Viehmann, L., 2012. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 129 (3), e827–e841. https://doi.org/10.1542/PEDS.2011-3552.
- Bryden, W.L., 2007. Mycotoxins in the food chain: human health implications. Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr. 16 (1), 95–101.
- Burke, R.D., Todd, S.W., Lumsden, E., Mullins, R.J., Mamczarz, J., Fawcett, W.P., Gullapalli, R.P., Randall, W.R., Pereira, E.F.R., Albuquerque, E.X., 2017. Developmental neurotoxicity of the organophosphorus insecticide chlorpyrifos: from clinical findings to preclinical models and potential mechanisms. J. Neurochem. 142, 162–177. https://doi.org/10. 1111/JNC.14077.
- Cadmium in food Scientific opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain, 2009. EFSA J. 7 (3). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2009.980.
- Cardoso, S.L., Costa, C.S.D., Nishikawa, E., da Silva, M.G.C., Vieira, M.G.A., 2017. Biosorption of toxic metals using the alginate extraction residue from the brown algae Sargassum filipendula as a natural ion-exchanger. J. Clean. Prod. 165, 491–499. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2017.07.114.
- Carignan, C.C., Cottingham, K.L., Jackson, B.P., Farzan, S.F., Gandolfi, A.J., Punshon, T., Folt, C.L., Karagas, M.R., 2015. Estimated exposure to arsenic in breastfed and formula-fed infants in a United States cohort. Environ. Health Perspect. 123 (5), 500–506. https://doi. org/10.1289/EHP.1408789.
- CDC. Centers for disease control and prevention. Biomonitoring Summary, Metamidophos, 2017. National biomonitoring programme. Retrieved April 19, 2022, from https:// www.cdc.gov/biomonitoring/Methamidophos BiomonitoringSummary.html.
- Cempel, M., Nikel, G., 2006. Nickel: a review of its sources and environmental toxicology. Pol. J. Environ, 15 (3), 375–382.
- Chang, L.W., 1996. Toxicology of Metals. Vol. I. CRC Press https://www.routledge.com/ Toxicology-of-Metals-Volume-I/Chang/p/book/9780367401269.
- Chao, H.R., Tsou, T.C., Huang, H.L., Chang-Chien, G.P., 2011. Levels of breast milk PBDEs from southern Taiwan and their potential impact on neurodevelopment. Pediatr. Res. 70 (6), 596–600. https://doi.org/10.1203/PDR.0B013E3182320B9B.
- Chao, H.R., Wang, S.L., Lee, W.J., Wang, Y.F., Päpke, O., 2007. Levels of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in breast milk from central Taiwan and their relation to infant birth outcome and maternal menstruation effects. Environ. Int. 33 (2), 239–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2006.09.013.
- Chávez-Almazán, L.A., Saldarriaga-Noreña, H.A., Díaz-González, L., Garibo-Ruiz, D., Waliszewski, S.M., 2020b. Dietary habits associated with the presence of organochlorine pesticides in human milk. J. Environ. Sci. Health B 55 (8), 756–766. https://doi.org/10. 1080/03601234.2020.1783169.
- Chen, D., Liu, Z., Barrett, H., Han, J., Lv, B., Li, Y., Li, J., Zhao, Y., Wu, Y., 2020a. Nationwide biomonitoring of neonicotinoid insecticides in breast milk and health risk assessment to nursing infants in the Chinese population. J. Agric. Food Chem. 68 (47), 13906–13915. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c05769.
- Chen, D., Liu, Z., Barrett, H., Han, J., Lv, B., Li, Y., Li, J., Zhao, Y., Wu, Y., 2020b. Nationwide biomonitoring of neonicotinoid insecticides in breast milk and health risk assessment to nursing infants in the Chinese population. J. Agric. Food Chem. 68 (47), 13906–13915. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c05769.
- Chen, M.W., Santos, H.M., Que, D.E., Gou, Y.Y., Tayo, L.L., Hsu, Y.C., Chen, Y.bin, Chen, F.A., Chao, H.R., Huang, K.L., 2018. Association between organochlorine pesticide levels in breast milk and their effects on female reproduction in a Taiwanese population. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15050931.
- Cherkani-Hassani, A., Ghanname, I., Zinedine, A., Sefrioui, H., Qmichou, Z., Mouane, N., 2020. Aflatoxin M1 prevalence in breast milk in Morocco: associated factors and health risk assessment of newborns "CONTAMILK study". Toxicon 187, 203–208. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.TOXICON.2020.09.008.
- Cherkani-Hassani, A., Slaoui, M., Ghanname, I., Mojemmi, B., Eljaoudi, R., Belhaj, A., Kers, B., Flayou, M., Mouane, N., 2021a. Lead concentrations in breast milk of Moroccan nursing mothers and associated factors of exposure: CONTAMILK STUDY. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 85 (March), 103629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2021.103629.
- Cherkani-Hassani, A., Slaoui, M., Ghanname, I., Mojemmi, B., Eljaoudi, R., Belhaj, A., Kers, B., Flayou, M., Mouane, N., 2021b. Lead concentrations in breast milk of Moroccan nursing mothers and associated factors of exposure: CONTAMILK STUDY. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 85 (March), 103629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2021.103629.
- Cirillo, T., Latini, G., Castaldi, M.A., Dipaola, L., Fasano, E., Esposito, F., Scognamiglio, G., di Francesco, F., Cobellis, L., 2015. Exposure to di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate, di-n-butyl phthal ate and bisphenol A through infant formulas. J. Agric. Food Chem. 63 (12), 3303–3310. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF505563K.
- CODEX ALIMENTARIUS, C.A, 2016. Standard for infant formula and formulas for special medical purposes intended for infants. Codex Stan. 72-1981, pp. 1–21.
- CODEX ALIMENTARIUS, C.A, 2017. Standard For Follow-Up Formula CXS 156-1987 adopted in 1987. Amended in 1989, 2011, 2017. Вестник Росздравнадзора 4, 9–15.
- Coppa, C.F.S.C., Cirelli, A.C., Gonçalves, B.L., Barnabé, E.M.B., Petta, T., Franco, L.T., Javanmardi, F., Khaneghah, A.M., Lee, S.H.I., Corassin, C.H., Oliveira, C.A.F., 2021. Mycotoxin occurrence in breast milk and exposure estimation of lactating mothers using urinary biomarkers in São Paulo,Brazil. Environ. Pollut. 279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2021.116938.
- Costa, L.G., 2015. The neurotoxicity of organochlorine and pyrethroid pesticides. Handb. Clin. Neurol. 131, 135–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-62627-1.00009-3.
- Costa, L.G., de Laat, R., Tagliaferri, S., Pellacani, C., 2014. A mechanistic view of polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) developmental neurotoxicity. Toxicol. Lett. 230 (2), 282–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TOXLET.2013.11.011.
- Czarczyńska-Goślińska, B., Grześkowiak, T., Frankowski, R., Lulek, J., Pieczak, J., Zgoła-Grześkowiak, A., 2021. Determination of bisphenols and parabens in breast milk and dietary risk assessment for Polish breastfed infants. J. Food Compos. Anal. 98 (June 2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2021.103839.
- Czerwonka, M., Pietrzak-Sajjad, R., Bobrowska-Korczak, B., 2020. Evaluation of 5hydroxymethylfurfural content in market milk products. Food Addit. Contam. Part A

Science of the Total Environment 875 (2023) 162461

Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 37 (7), 1135–1144. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2020.1757162.

- Dalsager, L., Fage-Larsen, B., Bilenberg, N., Jensen, T.K., Nielsen, F., Kyhl, H.B., Grandjean, P., Andersen, H.R., 2019. Maternal urinary concentrations of pyrethroid and chlorpyrifos metabolites and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) symptoms in 2–4-yearold children from the Odense Child Cohort. Environ. Res. 176, 108533. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2019.108533.
- Damalas, C.A., Eleftherohorinos, I.G., 2011. Pesticide exposure, safety issues, and risk assessment indicators. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 8 (5), 1402–1419. https://doi.org/10. 3390/IJERPH8051402.
- Damalas, C.A., Koutroubas, S.D., 2016. Farmers' exposure to pesticides: toxicity types and ways of prevention. Toxics 4 (1), 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/TOXICS4010001.
- Dar, M.A., Kaushik, G., Villareal Chiu, J.F., 2020. Pollution status and biodegradation of organophosphate pesticides in the environment. Abatement of Environmental Pollutants: Trends And Strategies, pp. 25–66 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818095-2.00002-3.
- Darnerud, P.O., Eriksen, G.S., Jóhannesson, T., Larsen, P.B., Viluksela, M., 2001. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers: occurrence, dietary exposure, and toxicology. Environ. Health Perspect. 109 Suppl 1 (Suppl. 1), 49–68. https://doi.org/10.1289/ EHP.01109S149.
- De, A., Bose, R., Kumar, A., Mozumdar, S., 2014. Targeted delivery of pesticides using biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-1689-6.
- de Mendonça Pereira, B.F., de Almeida, C.C., Leandro, K.C., da Costa, M.P., Conte-Junior, C.A., Spisso, B.F., 2020. Occurrence, sources, and pathways of chemical contaminants in infant formulas. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf. 19 (4), 1378–1396. https://doi. org/10.1111/1541-4337.12559.
- de Paiva, E.L., Morgano, M.A., Arisseto-Bragotto, A.P., 2019. Occurrence and determination of inorganic contaminants in baby food and infant formula. Current Opinion in Food Science Vol. 30. Elsevier Ltd., pp. 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2019. 05.006.
- Dehcheshmeh, B.K., Shakerian, A., Rahimi, E., 2021. Evaluation of aflatoxin M1 and heavy metal in raw materials and infant formula produced in Pegah Dairy Plants, Iran. J. Chem. Health Risks 11 (1), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.22034/JCHR.2020. 1907145.1166.
- Dehghani, S., Fararouei, M., Rafiee, A., Hoepner, L., Oskoei, V., Hoseini, M., 2022. Prenatal exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and effects on neonatal anthropometric indices and thyroid-stimulating hormone in a middle eastern population. Chemosphere 286, 131605. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2021.131605.
- del Bubba, M., Ancillotti, C., Checchini, L., Fibbi, D., Rossini, D., Ciofi, L., Rivoira, L., Profeti, C., Orlandini, S., Furlanetto, S., 2018. Determination of phthalate diesters and monoesters in human milk and infant formula by fat extraction, size-exclusion chromatography clean-up and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry detection. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 148, 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.09.017.
- Devillers, N., le Dividich, J., Prunier, A., 2011. Influence of colostrum intake on piglet survival and immunity. Animal 5 (10), 1605–1612. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S175173111100067X.
- Dewan, P., Jain, V., Gupta, P., Banerjee, B.D., 2013. Organochlorine pesticide residues in maternal blood, cord blood, placenta, and breastmilk and their relation to birth size. Chemosphere 90 (5), 1704–1710. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE. 2012.09.083.
- I. Dhouib, M. Jallouli, A. Annabi, S. Marzouki, N. Gharbi, S. Elfazaa, M. M. Lasram (2016). From immunotoxicity to carcinogenicity: the effects of carbamate pesticides on the immune system. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-016-6418-6.
- DiNardo, J.C., Downs, C.A., 2018. Dermatological and environmental toxicological impact of the sunscreen ingredient oxybenzone/benzophenone-3. J. Cosmet. Dermatol. 17 (1), 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/JOCD.12449.
- Dobrinas, S., Soceanu, A., Popescu, V., Coatu, V., 2016. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and pesticides in milk powder. J. Dairy Res. 83 (2), 261–265. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0022029916000169.
- Dobson, A.W., Erikson, K.M., Dobson, M.A., 2004. Manganese neurotoxicity. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1012, 115–129 http://www.nyas.org/ http://www.nyas.org/.
- Dong, R.H., Wu, Y., Chen, J.S., Wu, M., Li, S.G., Chen, B., 2019. Lactational exposure to phthalates impaired the neurodevelopmental fuction of infants at 9 months in a pilot prospective study. Chemosphere 226, 351–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2019.03.159.
- Dualde, P., Pardo, O., Fernández, S.F., Pastor, A., Yusà, V., 2019. Determination of four parabens and bisphenols A, F and S in human breast milk using QuEChERS and liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 1114–1115 (December 2018), 154–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb. 2019.03.004.
- Duarte-Salles, T., von Stedingk, H., Granum, B., Gützkow, K.B., Rydberg, P., Törnqvist, M., Mendez, M.A., Brunborg, G., Brantsæter, A.L., Meltzer, H.M., Alexander, J., Haugen, M., 2013. Dietary acrylamide intake during pregnancy and fetal growth-results from the Norwegian mother and child cohort study (MoBa). Environ. Health Perspect. 121 (3), 374-379. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.1205396.
- Eaton, D.L., Gallagher, E.P., 1994. Mechanisms of aflatoxin carcinogenesis. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 34, 135–172. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PA.34. 040194.001031.
- Scientific opinion on the safety evaluation of the substance, 2., 4-bis(2,4-dimethylphenyl)-6. (2-hydroxy-4-n-octyloxyphenyl)-1, 3,5-triazine, CAS No. 2725-22-6, for use in food contact materials. EFSA J. 9 (2). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2011.2001.
- EFSA, 2014a. Evaluation of the increase of risk for public health related to a possible temporary derogation from the maximum level of deoxynivalenol, zearalenone and fumonisins for maize and maize products. EFSA J. 12 (5). https://doi.org/10. 2903/J.EFSA.2014.3699.

- EFSA, 2014b. Scientific Opinion on the Risks to Public Health Related to the Presence of Chromium in Food and Drinking Water. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3595.
- EFSA, 2015a. Scientific Opinion on the risks to public health related to the presence of nickel in food and drinking. EFSA J 13 (2). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4002.
- EFSA, 2020. Commission Regulation (EU) 2020/1322 of 23 September 2020 amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 as regards maximum levels of 3monochloropropanediol (3-MCPD), 3-MCPD fatty acid esters and glycidyl fatty acid esters in certain foods. Off. J. Eur. Union L310/2-5 https://eur-lex.europa.eu/ legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri = CELEX:32020R1322&qid = 1678103265372 &from = EN.
- EFSA advises on the safety of paraben usage in food | EFSA, 2004a. from https://www.efsa. europa.eu/en/news/efsa-advises-safety-paraben-usage-food.
- EFSA, 2004. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain on a request from the Commission related to mercury and methylmercury in food (Request N° EFSA-Q-2003-030) Opinion on Contaminants, https://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/ files/event/2004/af040608-ax7.pdf.
- EFSA, 2006. Commission Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs. Off. J. Eur. Union L 364/5-24 https:// eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri = CELEX:32006R1881.
- Ethyl carbamate and hydrocyanic acid in food and beverages Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants, 2007c, EFSA J. 5 (10). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2007.551.
- EFSA, 2007b. Data collection on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food. EFSA J. 5 (9). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2007.33B.
- EFSA, 2021. Neonicotinoids. https://ec.europa.eu/food/plants/pesticides/approval-activesubstances/renewal-approval/neonicotinoids_es.
- Ekeanyanwu, C.L., Alisi, C.S., Ekeanyanwu, R.C., 2020. Levels of Aflatoxin M1 and selected heavy metals (Pb, Cd, Cr, Cu, Zn, Fe, As, and Hg) in the breast milk of lactating mothers in South Eastern, Nigeria. Food Control 112 (January), 107150. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.foodcont.2020.107150.
- Elaridi, J., Dimassi, H., al Yamani, O., Estephan, M., Hassan, H.F., 2021. Determination of lead, cadmium and arsenic in infant formula in the Lebanese market. Food Control 123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107750.
- EL-Saeid, M.H., Hassanin, A.S., Bazeyad, A.Y., 2021. Levels of pesticide residues in breast milk and the associated risk assessment. Saudi J. Biol. Sci. 28 (7), 3741–3744. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.04.062.
- Eticha, T., Afrasa, M., Kahsay, G., Gebretsadik, H., 2018. Infant exposure to metals through consumption of formula feeding in Mekelle, Ethiopia. Int. J. Anal. Chem. 2018. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2018/2985698.
- EUR-Lex, 2009. Consolidated text: Regulation (EC) No 1223/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on cosmetic products (recast). Retrieved February 25, 2022, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2009/1223/2022-03-01.
- Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants: thirty-third report of the Joint FAO/ WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, 1988. . Retrieved February 4, 2022, from https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39252.
- EVM review of cobalt (Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals), 2003. https://www.anses. fr/en/system/files/MCDA2010sa0095EN.pdf.
- Eze, U.A., Routledge, M.N., Okonofua, F.E., Huntriss, J., Gong, Y.Y., 2018. Mycotoxin exposure and adverse reproductive health outcomes in Africa: a review. World Mycotoxin J. 11 (3), 321–339. https://doi.org/10.3920/WMJ2017.2261.
- FAO/WHO, 2010. Persistent Organic Pollutants: Impact on Child Health.
- Flora, G., Gupta, D., Tiwari, A., 2012. Toxicity of lead: a review with recent updates. Interdiscip. Toxicol. 5 (2), 47–58. https://doi.org/10.2478/V10102-012-0009-2.
- Food Safety Authority, E., 2016. Risks for human health related to the presence of 3- and 2monochloropropanediol (MCPD), and their fatty acid esters, and glycidyl fatty acid esters in food. EFSA J. 14 (5), e04426. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2016.4426.
- Freire, C., Iribarne-Durán, L.M., Gil, F., Olmedo, P., Serrano-Lopez, L., Peña-Caballero, M., Hurtado, J.A., Alvarado-González, N.E., Fernández, M.F., Peinado, F.M., Artacho-Cordón, F., Olea, N., 2022. Concentrations and determinants of lead, mercury, cadmium, and arsenic in pooled donor breast milk in Spain. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 240. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JJHEH.2021.113914.
- Galindo, M.V., Oliveira, W.da S., Godoy, H.T., 2021. Multivariate optimization of lowtemperature cleanup followed by dispersive solid-phase extraction for detection of Bisphenol A and benzophenones in infant formula. J.Chromatogr.A 1635, 461757. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2020.461757.
- Gao, Q., Niu, Y., Wang, B., Liu, J., Zhao, Y., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Shao, B., 2021. Estimation of lactating mothers' daily intakes of bisphenol A using breast milk. Environ. Pollut. 286 (March), 117545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117545.
- Gardener, H., Bowen, J., Callan, S.P., 2019. Lead and cadmium contamination in a large sample of United States infant formulas and baby foods. Sci. Total Environ. 651, 822–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.026.
- Ghuniem, M.M., Khorshed, M.A., El-safty, S.M., Souaya, E.R., Khalil, M.M.H., 2020a. Assessment of human health risk due to potentially toxic elements intake via consumption of Egyptian rice-based and wheat-based baby cereals. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067319.2020.1817911.
- Ghuniem, M.M., Khorshed, M.A., Khalil, M.M.H., 2020b. Determination of some essential and toxic elements composition of commercial infant formula in the Egyptian market and their contribution to dietary intake of infants. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 100 (5), 525–548. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067319.2019.1637426.
- Glüge, J., Wang, Z., Bogdal, C., Scheringer, M., Hungerbühler, K., 2016. Global production, use, and emission volumes of short-chain chlorinated paraffins – a minimum scenario. Sci. Total Environ. 573, 1132–1146. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2016.08.105.
- Golub, M.S., Wu, K.L., Kaufman, F.L., Li, L.H., Moran-Messen, F., Zeise, L., Alexeeff, G.v., Donald, J.M., 2010. Bisphenol A: developmental toxicity from early prenatal exposurea. Birth Defects Res. B Dev. Reprod. Toxicol. 89 (6), 441–466. https:// doi.org/10.1002/BDRB.20275.

- Gómez-Nieto, B., Motyzhov, V., Gismera, M.J., Procopio, J.R., Sevilla, M.T., 2020. Fastsequential determination of cadmium and copper in milk powder and infant formula by direct solid sampling high-resolution continuum source graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry. Microchem. J. 159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc. 2020.105335.
- Gopalakrishna, K.P., Hand, T.W., 2020. Influence of maternal milk on the neonatal intestinal microbiome. Nutrients 12 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/NU12030823.
- Grob, K., 2018. Mineral oil hydrocarbons in food: a review. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 35 (9), 1845–1860. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049. 2018.1488185.
- Gulson, B.L., Mizon, K.J., Palmer, J.M., Korsch, M.J., Taylor, A.J., Mahaffey, K.R., 2004. Blood lead changes during pregnancy and postpartum with calcium supplementation. Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (15), 1499. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.6548.
- Gupta, R.C., Miller Mukherjee, I.R., Doss, R.B., Malik, J.K., Milatovic, D., 2017. Organophosphates and carbamates. Reproductive And Developmental Toxicology, pp. 609–631 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804239-7.00035-4.
- Gürbay, A., Charehsaz, M., Eken, A., Sayal, A., Girgin, G., Yurdakök, M., Yiğit, Ş., Erol, D.D., Şahin, G., AydIn, A., 2012. Toxic metals in breast milk samples from Ankara, Turkey: assessment of lead, cadmium, nickel, and arsenic levels. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 149 (1), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12011-012-9400-2.
- Gyllenhammar, I., Aune, M., Fridén, U., Cantillana, T., Bignert, A., Lignell, S., Glynn, A., 2021. Are temporal trends of some persistent organochlorine and organobromine compounds in Swedish breast milk slowing down? Environ. Res. 197 (February). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envres.2021.111117.
- Haber, L.T., Erdreicht, L., Diamond, G.L., Maier, A.M., Ratney, R., Zhao, Q., Dourson, M.L., 2000. Hazard identification and dose response of inhaled nickel-soluble salts. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 31 (2 Pt 1), 210–230. https://doi.org/10.1006/RTPH.2000.1377.
- Han, X., Chen, H., Deng, M., Du, B., Zeng, L., 2021. Chlorinated paraffins in infant foods from the Chinese market and estimated dietary intake by infants. J. Hazard. Mater. 411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.125073.
- Hassine, S.ben, Ameur, W.ben, Gandoura, N., Driss, M.R., 2012. Determination of chlorinated pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in human milk from Bizerte (Tunisia) in 2010. Chemosphere 89 (4), 369–377. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2012.05.035.
- Hernandez, A., Hougaard Bennekou, S., 2019. Statement on the available outcomes of the human health assessment in the context of the pesticides peer review of the active substance chlorpyrifos. EFSA J. 17 (8), e05809. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2019.5809.
- Hinojosa, M.G., Prieto, A.I., Gutiérrez-Praena, D., Moreno, F.J., Cameán, A.M., Jos, A., 2020. In vitro assessment of the combination of cylindrospermopsin and the organophosphate chlorpyrifos on the human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cell line. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 191, 110222. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOENV.2020.110222.
- Hites, R.A., 2004. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the environment and in people: a metaanalysis of concentrations. Environ.Sci.Technol. 38 (4), 945–956. https://doi.org/10. 1021/ES035082G.
- Holmes, C.D., Jacob, D.J., Mason, R.P., Jaffe, D.A., 2009. Sources and deposition of reactive gaseous mercury in the marine atmosphere. Atmos. Environ. 43 (14), 2278–2285. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ATMOSENV.2009.01.051.
- Hooshfar, S., Khosrokhavar, R., Yazdanpanah, H., Eslamizad, S., Kobarfard, F., Nazari, F., Kokaraki, V., Kokkinakis, M., Goumenou, M., Tsitsimpikou, C., Tsatsakis, A., 2020. Health risk assessment of aflatoxin M1 in infant formula milk in IR Iran. Food Chem. Toxicol. 142 (April), 111455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2020.111455.
- Hrncirik, K., van Duijn, G., 2011. An initial study on the formation of 3-MCPD esters during oil refining. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 113 (3), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1002/ EJLT.201000317.
- Huang, M., Li, J., Xiao, Z., Shi, Z., 2020. Tetrabromobisphenol A and hexabromocyclododecane isomers in breast milk from the general population in Beijing, China: contamination levels, temporal trends, nursing infant's daily intake, and risk assessment. Chemosphere 244, 125524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.125524.

IARC, 2018. 3-Monochloro-1,2-propanediol.

- Ibrahim, A.S., Saad, M.F., Hafiz, N.M., 2020. Toxic elements in dried milk and evaluation of their dietary intake in infant formula. Int.J.Vet.Sci. 9 (4), 563–567. https://doi.org/10. 37422/IJVS/20.070.
- Igweze, Z.N., Ekhator, O.C., Nwaogazie, I., Frazzoli, C., Orisakwe, O.E., 2019. Appropriateness of essentials trace metals in commonly consumed infant formulae in Nigeria. Open Access Maced.J.Med.Sci. 7 (23), 4168–4175. https://doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2019.706.
- Igweze, Z.N., Ekhator, O.C., Nwaogazie, I., Orisakwe, O.E., 2020a. Public health and paediatric risk assessment of aluminium, arsenic and mercury in infant formulas marketed in Nigeria. Sultan Qaboos Univ. Med. J. 20 (1), e63–e70. https://doi.org/10.18295/ squmj.2020.20.01.009.
- Igweze, Z.N., Ekhator, O.C., Orisakwe, O.E., 2020b. Lead and cadmium in infant milk and cereal based formulae marketed in Nigeria: a probabilistic non-carcinogenic human health risk assessment. Rocz. Panstw. Zakl. Hig. 71 (3), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.32394/ rpzh.2020.0129.
- Islam, F., das Trisha, A., Hafsa, J.M., Hasan, A., Degen, G.H., Ali, N., 2021. Occurrence of aflatoxin M1 in human breast milk in Bangladesh. Mycotoxin Res., 0123456789 https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12550-021-00436-w.
- Jagić, K., Dvoršćak, M., Jurič, A., Safner, T., Klinčić, D., 2021. Preliminary results on polybrominated diphenyl ether contamination status in Croatian households and insights into children's exposure. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 84, 103603. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.ETAP.2021.103603.
- Jarvis, B.B., 2002. Chemistry and toxicology of molds isolated from water-damaged buildings. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 504, 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0629-4_5.
- Jeurink, P.v., van Bergenhenegouwen, J., Jiménez, E., Knippels, L.M.J., Fernández, L., Garssen, J., Knol, J., Rodríguez, J.M., Martín, R., 2013. Human milk: a source of more life than we imagine. Benefic. Microbes 4 (1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10. 3920/BM2012.0040.

- Jiang, Y., Zhao, H., Xia, W., Li, Y., Liu, H., Hao, K., Chen, J., Sun, X., Liu, W., Li, J., Peng, Y., Hu, C., Li, C., Zhang, B., Lu, S., Cai, Z., Xu, S., 2019. Prenatal exposure to benzophenones, parabens and triclosan and neurocognitive development at 2 years. Environ. Int. 126, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2019.01.023.
- Jin, Y., Li, P., Wang, F., 2018. β-Glucans as potential immunoadjuvants: a review on the adjuvanticity, structure-activity relationship and receptor recognition properties. Vaccine 36 (35), 5235–5244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.07.038.
- Jin, H., Mao, L., Xie, J., Zhao, M., Bai, X., Wen, J., Shen, T., Wu, P., 2020. Poly- and perfluoroalkyl substance concentrations in human breast milk and their associations with postnatal infant growth. Sci. Total Environ. 713, 136417. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136417.
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, 2011. Meeting (72nd: 2010 : Rome, I., Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations., & World Health Organization. Safety Evaluation of Certain Contaminants in Food. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Kao, C.C., Que, D.E., Bongo, S.J., Tayo, L.L., Lin, Y.H., Lin, C.W., Lin, S.L., Gou, Y.Y., Hsu, W.L., Shy, C.G., Huang, K.L., Tsai, M.H., Chao, H.R., 2019. Residue levels of organochlorine pesticides in breast milk and its associations with cord blood thyroid hormones and the offspring's neurodevelopment. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16 (8). https://doi. org/10.3390/ijerph16081438.
- Karsauliya, K., Bhateria, M., Sonker, A., Singh, S.P., 2021a. Determination of bisphenol analogues in infant formula products from India and evaluating the health risk in infants associated with their exposure. J. Agric. Food Chem. 69 (13), 3932–3941. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.jafc.1c00129.
- Khaghani, S., Ezzatpanah, H., Mazhari, N., Givianrad, M.H., Mirmiranpour, H., Sadrabadi, F.S., 2010. Zinc and copper concentrations in human milk and infant formulas. Iran. J. Pediatr. 20 (1), 53 /pmc/articles/PMC3446000/ /pmc/articles/PMC3446000/.
- Khlangwiset, P., Shephard, G.S., Wu, F., 2011. Aflatoxins and growth impairment: a review. 41(9), pp. 740–755. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408444.2011.575766.
- Kilic, S., Tongur, T., Kilic, M., Erkaymaz, T., 2018. Determination of some endocrinedisrupting metals and organochlorinated pesticide residues in baby food and infant formula in Turkish markets. Food Anal. Methods 11 (12), 3352–3361. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12161-018-1299-6.
- Killilea, D.W., Chow, D., Xiao, S.Q., Li, C., Stoller, M.L., 2017. Flame retardant tris(1,3dichloro-2-propyl)phosphate (TDCPP) toxicity is attenuated by N-acetylcysteine in human kidney cells. Toxicol. Rep. 4, 260–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TOXREP. 2017.05.003.
- Kim, K.H., Jahan, S.A., Kabir, E., Brown, R.J.C., 2013. A review of airborne polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and their human health effects. Environ. Int. 60, 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2013.07.019.
- Kim, J.H., Kim, D., Moon, S.M., Yang, E.J., 2020. Associations of lifestyle factors with phthalate metabolites, bisphenol A, parabens, and triclosan concentrations in breast milk of korean mothers. Chemosphere 249, 126149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2020.126149.
- Knutsen, H.K., Alexander, J., Barregård, L., Bignami, M., Brüschweiler, B., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Hoogenboom, L., Nebbia, C.S., Oswald, I.P., Petersen, A., Rose, M., Roudot, A.C., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Wallace, H., 2017. Risks for public health related to the presence of furan and methylfurans in food. EFSA J. 15 (10), e05005. https://doi.org/10.2903/J. EFSA.2017.5005.
- Kuang, L., Hou, Y., Huang, F., Guo, A., Deng, W., Sun, H., Shen, L., Lin, H., Hong, H., 2020. Pesticides in human milk collected from Jinhua, China: levels, influencing factors and health risk assessment. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 205 (September), 111331. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111331.
- Kuiper-Goodman, T., 1990. Uncertainties in the risk assessment of three mycotoxins: aflatoxin, ochratoxin, and zearalenone. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 68 (7), 1017–1024. https://doi.org/10.1139/Y90-155.
- Kumar, S., Kaushik, G., Villarreal-Chiu, J.F., 2016. Scenario of organophosphate pollution and toxicity in India: a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23 (10), 9480–9491. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/S11356-016-6294-0/TABLES/7.
- Kunter, İ., Hürer, N., Gülcan, H.O., Öztürk, B., Doğan, İ., Şahin, G., 2017. Assessment of aflatoxin M1 and heavy metal levels in mothers breast milk in Famagusta, Cyprus. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 175 (1), 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-016-0750-z.
- Lachat, L., Glauser, G., 2018. Development and validation of an ultra-sensitive UHPLC-MS/ MS method for neonicotinoid analysis in milk. J. Agric. Food Chem. 66 (32), 8639–8646. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b03005.
- LaKind, J.S., Berlin, C.M., Naiman, D.Q., 2001. Infant exposure to chemicals in breast milk in the United States: what we need to learn from a breast milk monitoring program. Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (1), 75–88. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0110975.
- Lambert, M., Inthavong, C., Desbourdes, C., Hommet, F., Sirot, V., Leblanc, J.C., Hulin, M., Guérin, T., 2018a. Levels of furan in foods from the first French Total diet study on infants and toddlers. Food Chem. 266, 381–388. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foodchem.2018.05.119.
- Lambert, M., Inthavong, C., Hommet, F., Leblanc, J.C., Hulin, M., Guérin, T., 2018b. Levels of acrylamide in foods included in 'the first french total diet study on infants and toddlers'. Food Chem. 240, 997–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.08.035.
- Laursen, M.F., Andersen, L.B.B., Michaelsen, K.F., Mølgaard, C., Trolle, E., Bahl, M.I., Licht, T.R., 2016. Infant gut microbiota development is driven by transition to family foods independent of maternal obesity. MSphere 1 (1). https://doi.org/10.1128/ MSPHERE.00069-15.
- Lee, K.S., Kim, K.N., Ahn, Y.D., Choi, Y.J., Cho, J., Jang, Y., Lim, Y.H., Kim, J.I., Shin, C.H., Lee, Y.A., Kim, B.N., Hong, Y.C., 2021. Prenatal and postnatal exposures to four metals mixture and IQ in 6-year-old children: a prospective cohort study in South Korea. Environ. Int. 157. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2021.106798.
- Leigh, J., MacMahon, S., 2017. Occurrence of 3-monochloropropanediol esters and glycidyl esters in commercial infant formulas in the United States. Food Addit. Contam. Part A

Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 34 (3), 356–370. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19440049.2016.1276304/SUPPL_FILE/TFAC_A_1276304_SM0090.TIF.

- Leong, Y.H., Azmi, N.I., Majid, M.I.A., Wen, S., 2021. Exposure and risk assessment of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) and dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls (dl-PCBs) for primiparous mothers and breastfed infants in Penang, Malaysia. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 00 (00), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19440049.2021.1922758.
- Li, M., Ying, X., Yang, C., Li, J., Gao, J., Sui, H., Qian, Z., 2020. Dietary exposure to mineral oil hydrocarbons of Chinese infants aged 0–6 months. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 37 (12), 2070–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19440049.2020.1828625.
- Liggins, J., Bluck, L.J.C., Runswick, S., Atkinson, C., Coward, W.A., Bingham, S.A., 2000. Daidzein and genistein content of fruits and nuts. J. Nutr. Biochem. 11 (6), 326–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0955-2863(00)00085-1.
- Lindeman, B., Johansson, Y., Andreassen, M., Husøy, T., Dirven, H., Hofer, T., Knutsen, H.K., Caspersen, I.H., Vejrup, K., Paulsen, R.E., Alexander, J., Forsby, A., Myhre, O., 2021. Does the food processing contaminant acrylamide cause developmental neurotoxicity? A review and identification of knowledge gaps. Reprod. Toxicol. 101, 93–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.REPROTOX.2021.02.006.

Listing of POPs in the Stockholm Convention, http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ ThePOPs/AllPOPs/tabid/2509/Default.aspx.

- Liu, Y., Aamir, M., Li, M., Liu, K., Hu, Y., Liu, N., Xu, Y., Du, J., Xu, J., Liu, W., 2020. Prenatal and postnatal exposure risk assessment of chlorinated paraffins in mothers and neonates: occurrence, congener profile, and transfer behavior. J. Hazard. Mater. 395 (February), 122660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.122660.
- Loser, D., Grillberger, K., Hinojosa, M.G., Blum, J., Haufe, Y., Danker, T., Johansson, Y., Möller, C., Nicke, A., Bennekou, S.H., Gardner, I., Bauch, C., Walker, P., Forsby, A., Ecker, G.F., Kraushaar, U., Leist, M., 2021a. Acute effects of the imidacloprid metabolite desnitro-imidacloprid on human nACh receptors relevant for neuronal signaling. Arch. Toxicol. 95 (12), 3695–3716. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00204-021-03168-Z.
- Loser, D., Hinojosa, M.G., Blum, J., Schaefer, Jasmin, Brüll, M., Johansson, Y., Suciu, I., Grillberger, K., Danker, Timm, Möller, C., Gardner, I., Ecker, G.F., Bennekou, S.H., Forsby, A., Kraushaar, Udo, Leist, Marcel, Kraushaar, U., Leist, M., 2021b. Functional alterations by a subgroup of neonicotinoid pesticides in human dopaminergic neurons AUC Area under the curve BMC Benchmark concentration [Ca 2 +] i Intracellular free calcium concentration. Arch. Toxicol. 95, 2081–2107. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00204-021-03031-1.
- Lu, D., Wang, D., Ni, R., Lin, Y., Feng, C., Xu, Q., Jia, X., Wang, G., Zhou, Z., 2015. Organochlorine pesticides and their metabolites in human breast milk from Shanghai, China. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22 (12), 9293–9306. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-015-4072-Z.
- Luo, T., Hang, J.G., Nakayama, S.F., Jung, C.R., Ma, C.C., Kido, T., Wang, F.H., Wang, Z., Dong, J.J., Shi, L.L., Sun, X.L., 2021. Dioxins in breast milk of Chinese mothers: a survey 40 years after the e-waste recycling activities. Sci. Total Environ. 758, 143627. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143627.
- Lutfullah, G., Khan, A.A., Amjad, A.Y., Perveen, S., 2014. Comparative study of heavy metals in dried and fluid milk in Peshawar by atomic absorption spectrophotometry. Sci. World J. 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/715845.
- Macheka, L.R., Olowoyo, J.O., Mugivhisa, L.L., Abafe, O.A., 2021. Determination and assessment of human dietary intake of per and polyfluoroalkyl substances in retail dairy milk and infant formula from South Africa. Sci. Total Environ. 755. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142697.
- MacMahon, S., Beekman, J., 2019. 3-Chloro-1,2-propanediol (3-MCPD), 2-chloro-1,3propanediol (2-MCPD) and glycidyl esters in infant formula: a review. Current Opinion in Food Science. Vol. 30. Elsevier Ltd., pp. 67–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2019. 05.005.
- Maeda, E., Murata, K., Kumazawa, Y., Sato, W., Shirasawa, H., Iwasawa, T., Izumo, K., Tatsuta, N., Sakamoto, M., Terada, Y., 2019. Associations of environmental exposures to methylmercury and selenium with female infertility: a case–control study. Environ. Res. 168, 357–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2018.10.007.
- Maekawa, R., Ito, R., Iwasaki, Y., Saito, K., Akutsu, K., Takatori, S., Ishii, R., Kondo, F., Arai, Y., Ohgane, J., Shiota, K., Makino, T., Sugino, N., 2017. Evidence of exposure to chemicals and heavy metals during pregnancy in Japanese women. Reprod. Med. Biol. 16 (4), 337–348. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmb2.12049.
- Martin, C.R., Ling, P.R., Blackburn, G.L., 2016. Review of infant feeding: key features of breast milk and infant formula. Nutrients 8 (5), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8050279.
- Martins, C., Assunção, R., Cunha, S.C., Fernandes, J.O., Jager, A., Petta, T., Oliveira, C.A., Alvito, P., 2018. Assessment of multiple mycotoxins in breakfast cereals available in the portuguese market. Food Chem. 239, 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2017.06.088.
- Matos, C., Ribeiro, M., Guerra, A., 2015. Breastfeeding: antioxidative properties of breast milk. J. Appl. Biomed. 13 (3), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jab.2015.04.003.
- Matoso, V., Bargi-Souza, P., Ivanski, F., Romano, M.A., Romano, R.M., 2019. Acrylamide: a review about its toxic effects in the light of developmental origin of health and disease (DOHaD) concept. Food Chem. 283, 422–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM. 2019.01.054.
- Matovu, H., Sillanpää, M., Ssebugere, P., 2019. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in mothers' breast milk and associated health risk to nursing infants in Uganda. Sci. Total Environ. 692, 1106–1115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.335.
- Matwiejczuk, N., Galicka, A., Brzóska, M.M., 2020. Review of the safety of application of cosmetic products containing parabens. J. Appl. Toxicol. 40 (1), 176–210. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/JAT.3917.
- Maurya, P.K., Malik, D.S., 2016. Bioaccumulation of xenobiotics compound of pesticides in riverine system and its control technique: a critical review. J. Ind. Pollut. Control. 32 (2), 580–594.

- Mello-Neto, J., Rondó, P.H.C., Morgano, M.A., Oshiiwa, M., Santos, M.L., Oliveira, J.M., 2010. Iron concentrations in breast milk and selected maternal factors of human milk bank donors. J. Hum. Lact. 26 (2), 175–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334409353748.
- Memiş, E.Y., Yalçın, S.S., Yalçın, S., 2021. Mycotoxin carry-over in breast milk and weight of infant in exclusively-breastfed infants. Arch. Environ. Occup. Health 76 (6), 313–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/19338244.2020.1828242.
- Moga, A., Vergara-Barberán, M., Lerma-García, M.J., Carrasco-Correa, E.J., Herrero-Martínez, J.M., Simó-Alfonso, E.F., 2021. Determination of antibiotics in meat samples using analytical methodologies: a review. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf. 20 (2), 1681–1716. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12702.
- Mostafalou, S., Abdollahi, Mohammad, 2017. Pesticides: an update of human exposure and toxicity. Arch. Toxicol. 3, 549–599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-016-1849-x.
- Motas, M., Jiménez, S., Oliva, J., Cámara, M.Á., Pérez-cárceles, M.D., 2021. Heavy metals and trace elements in human breast milk from industrial/mining and agricultural zones of southeastern Spain. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 18 (17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18179289.
- Müller, M.H.B., Polder, A., Brynildsrud, O.B., Grønnestad, R., Karimi, M., Lie, E., Manyilizu, W.B., Mdegela, R.H., Mokiti, F., Murtadha, M., Nonga, H.E., Skaare, J.U., Solhaug, A., Lyche, J.L., 2019. Prenatal exposure to persistent organic pollutants in Northern Tanzania and their distribution between breast milk, maternal blood, placenta and cord blood. Environ. Res. 170, 433–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2018.12.026.
- Mycotoxins: Risks in Plant and Human Systems Council for Agricultural Science and Technology, Animal, 2003. CAST.
- Nalewajko-Sieliwoniuk, E., Hryniewicka, M., Jankowska, D., Kojło, A., Kamianowska, M., Szczepański, M., 2020. Dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction coupled to liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of phenolic compounds in human milk. Food Chem. 327 (January). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2020.126996.
- Nazlıcan, E., Arıca, E., Gören, İ.E., Kılınçlı, B., Mete, B., Daglioglu, N., 2022. The risk estimation and assessment of heavy metal exposure by biomonitoring in the breast milk of mothers in the Cukurova Region, Turkey. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. 29 (10), 13963–13970. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-021-16602-7.
- Nestlé, 2008. Instrucciones de preparación de NAN 1 Polvo. 1302. https://www.nestle.no/ sites/g/files/pydnoa336/files/asset-library/documents/nan1_nan1_spanska.pdf.
- Nielsen, F.H., 1982. Possible future implications of nickel, arsenic, silicon, vanadium, and other ultratrace elements in human nutrition. https://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search. do?recordID=US8608674.
- Nooney, J., Thor, S., de Vries, C., Clements, J., Sahin, L., Hua, W., Everett, D., Zaccaria, C., Ball, R., Saint-Raymond, A., Yao, L., Raine, J., Kweder, S., 2021. Assuring access to safe medicines in pregnancy and breastfeeding. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 110 (4), 941–945. https://doi.org/10.1002/CPT.2212.
- Ojuri, O.T., Ezekiel, C.N., Sulyok, M., Ezeokoli, O.T., Oyedele, O.A., Ayeni, K.I., Eskola, M.K., Šarkanj, B., Hajšlová, J., Adeleke, R.A., Nwangburuka, C.C., Elliott, C.T., Krska, R., 2018. Assessing the mycotoxicological risk from consumption of complementary foods by infants and young children in Nigeria. Food Chem. Toxicol. 121 (August), 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2018.08.025.
- Omar, S.S., 2016. Aflatoxin M1 levels in raw milk, pasteurised milk and infant formula. Ital.J. Food Saf. 5 (3), 5788. https://doi.org/10.4081/IJFS.2016.5788.
- Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic products, nutrition and allergies N.D.A.related to the tolerable upper intake level of tin, 2005a. EFSA J. 3 (8). https://doi.org/10.2903/J. EFSA.2005.254.
- Opinion of the Scientific Panel on food additives processing aids and materials in contact with food (AFC) related to di-Butylphthalate (DBP) for use in food contact materials, flavourings, 2005b. EFSA J. 3 (9). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2005.242.
- Otten, J.J., Hellwig, J.Pitzi, Meyers, L.D., 2006. DRI, dietary reference intakes : the essential guide to nutrient requirements. 543.
- Gupta, S.P., 2018. Roles of metals in human health. MOJ Bioorg. Org. Chem. 2 (5). https:// doi.org/10.15406/MOJBOC.2018.02.00085.
- Pacquette, L.H., Anumula, A., 2016. Simultaneous determination of arsenic, cadmium, mercury, and lead in raw ingredients, nutritional products, and infant formula by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry: single-laboratory validation. J.AOAC Int. 99 (3), 766–775. https://doi.org/10.5740/jaoacint.15-0304.
- Pajewska-Szmyt, M., Sinkiewicz-Darol, E., Gadzała-Kopciuch, R., 2019. The impact of environmental pollution on the quality of mother's milk. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (8), 7405–7427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-04141-1.
- Pan, H.Y., Li, J.F.T., Li, X.H., Yang, Y.L., Qin, Z.F., Li, J.B., Li, Y.Y., 2020. Transfer of dechlorane plus between human breast milk and adipose tissue and comparison with legacy lipophilic compounds. Environ. Pollut. 265, 115096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2020.115096.
- Park, N.Y., Cho, Y.H., Choi, K., Lee, E.H., Kim, Y.J., Kim, J.H., Kho, Y., 2019. Parabens in breast milk and possible sources of exposure among lactating women in Korea. Environ. Pollut. 255, 113142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113142.
- Park, Y., Lee, A., Choi, K., Kim, H.J., Lee, J.J., Choi, G., Kim, S., Kim, S.Y., Cho, G.J., Suh, E., Kim, S.K., Eun, S.H., Eom, S., Kim, S., Kim, G.H., Moon, H.B., Kim, S., Choi, S., Kim, Y.D., Park, J., 2018. Exposure to lead and mercury through breastfeeding during the first month of life: a CHECK cohort study. Sci. Total Environ. 612, 876–883. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.079.
- Paz, S., 2017. Essential and toxic metals in infant formula from the European community. Open Access J. Toxicol. 2 (2). https://doi.org/10.19080/oajt.2017.02.555585.
- Pereira, A.M.P.T., Silva, L.J.G., Simões, B.D.F., Lino, C., Pena, A., 2020. Exposure to nickel through commercial premade baby foods: is there any risk? J. Food Compos. Anal. 92 (May), 103541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2020.103541.
- Pietron, W.J., Warenik-Bany, M., Wozniak, B., 2021. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in raw milk from different animal species and in infant formula.Occurrence and risk assessment. Chemosphere 278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2021.130479.

- Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Food Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain, 2008. EFSA J. 6 (8). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2008.724.
- Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in Drinking-water Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality, 2003. Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in Drinking-water Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality.
- Prashanth, L., Kattapagari, K.K., Chitturi, R.T., Baddam, V.R.R., Prasad, L.K., 2015. A review on role of essential trace elements in health and disease. J.Dr. NTR Univ.Health Sci. 4 (2), 75. https://doi.org/10.4103/2277-8632.158577.
- Pudel, F., Benecke, P., Fehling, P., Freudenstein, A., Matthäus, B., Schwaf, A., 2011. On the necessity of edible oil refining and possible sources of 3-MCPD and glycidyl esters. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 113 (3), 368–373. https://doi.org/10.1002/EJLT. 201000460.
- Qi, Z., Song, X., Xiao, X., Loo, K.K., Wang, M.C., Xu, Q., Wu, J., Chen, S., Chen, Y., Xu, L., Li, Y., 2022. Effects of prenatal exposure to pyrethroid pesticides on neurodevelopment of 1year- old children: a birth cohort study in China. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 234, 113384. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOENV.2022.113384.
- Qiu, W., Zhan, H., Hu, J., Zhang, T., Xu, H., Wong, M., Xu, B., Zheng, C., 2019. The occurrence, potential toxicity, and toxicity mechanism of bisphenol S, a substitute of bisphenol A: a critical review of recent progress. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 173, 192–202. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOENV.2019.01.114.
- Quesnel, H., Farmer, C., Devillers, N., 2012. Colostrum intake: influence on piglet performance and factors of variation. Livest. Sci. 146 (2–3), 105–114. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.LIVSCI.2012.03.010.
- Quevedo-Garza, P.A., Amador-Espejo, G.G., Salas-García, R., Ramos-Peña, E.G., Trujillo, A.J., 2020. Aflatoxin M1 determination in infant formulae distributed in Monterrey, Mexico. Toxins 12 (2). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins12020100.
- Rahman, M.L., Oken, E., Hivert, M.F., Rifas-Shiman, S., Lin, P.I.D., Colicino, E., Wright, R.O., Amarasiriwardena, C., Claus Henn, B.G., Gold, D.R., Coull, B.A., Cardenas, A., 2021. Early pregnancy exposure to metal mixture and birth outcomes – a prospective study in project viva. Environ. Int. 156. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2021.106714.
- Reasoned opinion on the setting of a new maximum residue level for atrazine in cereals, 2015b. EFSA J. 13 (6). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2015.4126.
- EFSA, 2018. Scientific Opinion on Pesticides in Foods for Infants and Young Children. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5286.

Risks for human health, 2016. EFSA J. 14 (5). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2016.4426.

- Rodrigues, N.R., de Souza, A.P.F., 2018. Occurrence of glyphosate and AMPA residues in soybased infant formula sold in Brazil. 35(4), pp. 723–730. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19440049.2017.1419286.
- Saeed, F., Ullah Khan, A., Mushtaq, Z., Afzaal, M., Niaz, B., Hussain, M., Hameed, A., Ahmad, A., Anjum, F.M., Suleria, H.A., 2021. Amino acid profile and safety assessment of infant formula available in local market, Pakistan. Int. J. Food Prop. 24 (1), 533–543. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10942912.2021.1900241.
- Sager, M., McCulloch, C.R., Schoder, D., 2018. Heavy metal content and element analysis of infant formula and milk powder samples purchased on the tanzanian market: international branded versus black market products. Food Chem. 255, 365–371. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.02.058.
- Saha, M.R., Ryan, K., Amir, L.H., 2015. Postpartum women's use of medicines and breastfeeding practices: a systematic review. Int. Breastfeed. J. 10 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/S13006-015-0053-6.
- Schrenk, D., Bignami, M., Bodin, L., Chipman, J.K., del Mazo, J., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Hoogenboom, L., Leblanc, J.C., Nebbia, C.S., Nielsen, E., Ntzani, E., Petersen, A., Sand, S., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Marko, D., Oswald, I.P., Piersma, A., ... Wallace, H., 2020a. Risk assessment of aflatoxins in food. EFSA J. 18 (3), e06040. https://doi.org/ 10.2903/J.EFSA.2020.6040.
- Schrenk, D., Bignami, M., Bodin, L., Chipman, J.K., del Mazo, J., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Hoogenboom, L., Leblanc, J.C., Nebbia, C.S., Nielsen, E., Ntzani, E., Petersen, A., Sand, S., Vleminckx, C., Wallace, H., Barregård, L., Ceccatelli, S., Cravedi, J.P., ... Schwerdtle, T., 2020b. Risk to human health related to the presence of perfluoroalkyl substances in food. EFSA J. 18 (9). https://doi.org/10.2903/J. EFSA.2020.6223.
- Schrenk, D., Bignami, M., Bodin, L., Chipman, J.K., del Mazo, J., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Hoogenboom, L., Leblanc, J.C., Nebbia, C.S., Ntzani, E., Petersen, A., Sand, S., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Wallace, H., Brüschweiler, B., Leonards, P., Rose, M., ... Nielsen, E., 2020c. Risk assessment of chlorinated paraffins in feed and food. EFSA J. 18 (3), e05991. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2020.5991.
- Schrenk, D., Bignami, M., Bodin, L., Chipman, J.K., del Mazo, J., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Hoogenboom, L., Leblanc, J.C., Nebbia, C.S., Ntzani, E., Petersen, A., Sand, S., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Wallace, H., Guérin, T., Massanyi, P., van Loveren, H., ... Nielsen, E., 2020d. Update of the risk assessment of nickel in food and drinking water. EFSA J. 18 (11). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2020. 6268.
- Schuhmacher, M., Mari, M., Nadal, M., Domingo, J.L., 2019. Concentrations of dioxins and furans in breast milk of women living near a hazardous waste incinerator in Catalonia, Spain. Environ. Int. 125 (December 2018), 334–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint. 2019.01.074.
- Scientific Opinion on Exploring options for providing advice about possible human health risks based on the concept of Threshold of Toxicological Concern (TTC), 2012. EFSA J. 10 (7). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2012.2750.
- Scientific Opinion on Mineral Oil Hydrocarbons in Food, 2012. EFSA J. 10 (6). https://doi. org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2012.2704.
- Scientific Opinion on Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers (PBDEs) in Food, 2011c. EFSA J. 9 (5). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2011.2156.
- Scientific Opinion on the risks for animal and public health related to the presence of T-2 and HT-2 toxin in food and feed, 2011a. EFSA J. 9 (12). https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA. 2011.2481.

- Scientific Opinion on the risks to public health related to the presence of perchlorate in food, in particular fruits and vegetables, 2014c. EFSA J. 12 (10). https://doi.org/10.2903/J. EFSA.2014.3869.
- Sengling Cebin Coppa, C.F., Mousavi Khaneghah, A., Alvito, P., Assunção, R., Martins, C., Eş, I., Gonçalves, B.L., Valganon de Neeff, D., Sant'Ana, A.S., Corassin, C.H., Oliveira, C.A.F., 2019. The occurrence of mycotoxins in breast milk, fruit products and cereal-based infant formula: a review. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 92, 81–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIFS. 2019.08.014.
- Serrano, L., Iribarne-Durán, L.M., Suárez, B., Artacho-Cordón, F., Vela-Soria, F., Peña-Caballero, M., Hurtado, J.A., Olea, N., Fernández, M.F., Freire, C., 2021. Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in donor breast milk in Southern Spain and their potential determinants. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021. 113796.
- Sharma, N.D., Sharma, I.D., Chandel, R.S., Wise, J.C., 2016. Presence of pesticides in breast milk and infants' formulae in Himachal Pradesh, India. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 96 (3), 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067319.2015.1137907.
- Sharma, N.D., Chandel, R.S., Sharma, I.D., Sharma, P.L., Gurung, B., 2020. Pesticides contamination of lactating mothers'milk in the north-western Himalaya region of India. J.Environ.Biol. 41, 23–28.
- Shelton, J.F., Geraghty, E.M., Tancredi, D.J., Delwiche, L.D., Schmidt, R.J., Ritz, B., Hansen, R.L., Hertz-Picciotto, I., 2014. Neurodevelopmental disorders and prenatal residential proximity to agricultural pesticides: the charge study. Environ. Health Perspect. 122 (10), 1103–1109. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.1307044.
- Siegel, E.H., Kordas, K., Stoltzfus, R.J., Katz, J., Khatry, S.K., LeClerq, S.C., Tielsch, J.M., 2011. Inconsistent effects of iron-folic acid and/or zinc supplementation on the cognitive development of infants. J. Health Popul. Nutr. 29 (6), 593. https://doi.org/ 10.3329/JHPN.V2916.9896.
- Sijia, W., Enting, W., Yuan, Y., 2014. Detection of furan levels in select Chinese foods by solid phase microextraction-gas chromatography/mass spectrometry method and dietary exposure estimation of furan in the Chinese population. Food Chem. Toxicol. 64, 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FCT.2013.11.012.
- Silano, V., Barat Baviera, J.M., Bolognesi, C., Chesson, A., Cocconcelli, P.S., Crebelli, R., Gott, D.M., Grob, K., Lampi, E., Mortensen, A., Rivière, G., Steffensen, I.L., Tlustos, C., van Loveren, H., Vernis, L., Zorn, H., Cravedi, J.P., Fortes, C., Tavares Poças, M.de F., Castle, L., 2019. Update of the risk assessment of di-butylphthalate (DBP), butyl-benzylphthalate (BBP), bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP), di-isononylphthalate (DINP) and di-isodecylphthalate (DIDP) for use in food contact materials. EFSA J. 17 (12). https:// doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2019.5838.
- Šimić, I., Jovanović, G., Romanić, S.H., Klinčić, D., Sarić, M.M., Popović, A., 2020. Optimization of gas chromatography-electron ionization-tandem mass spectrometry for determining toxic non-ortho polychlorinated biphenyls in breast Milk. Biomed. Environ. Sci. 33 (1), 58–61. https://doi.org/10.3967/bes2020.008.
- Singh, B.K., Walker, A., 2006. Microbial degradation of organophosphorus compounds. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 30 (3), 428–471. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6976. 2006.00018.X.
- Skaare, J.U., Tuveng, J.M., Sande, H.A., 1988. Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in maternal adipose tissue, blood, milk, and cord blood from mothers and their infants living in Norway. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 17 (1), 55–63. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01055154.
- Smadi, N., Jammoul, A., el Darra, N., 2019. Assessment of antibiotic and pesticides residues in breast milk of Syrian refugee lactating mothers. Toxics 7 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ toxics7030039.
- Smythe, T.A., Su, G., Bergman, Å., Letcher, R.J., 2022. Metabolic transformation of environmentally-relevant brominated flame retardants in Fauna: a review. Environ. Int. 161, 107097. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2022.107097.
- Souza, R.C., Portella, R.B., Almeida, P.V.N.B., Pinto, C.O., Gubert, P., Santos da Silva, J.D., Nakamura, T.C., do Rego, E.L., 2020. Human milk contamination by nine organochlorine pesticide residues (OCPs). J. Environ. Sci. Health B 55 (6), 530–538. https://doi.org/10. 1080/03601234.2020.1729630.
- Street, M.E., Bernasconi, S., 2020. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals in human fetal growth. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS21041430.
- Stultz, E.E., Stokes, J.L., Shaffer, M.L., Paul, I.M., Berlin, C.M., 2007. Extent of medication use in breastfeeding women. Breastfeed.Med. 2 (3), 145–151. https://doi.org/10.1089/BFM. 2007.0010.
- Su, C., Zheng, N., Gao, Y., Huang, S., Yang, X., Wang, Z., Yang, H., Wang, J., 2020. Content and dietary exposure assessment of toxic elements in infant formulas from the Chinese market. Foods 9 (12), 1839. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9121839.
- Sui, H., Gao, H., Chen, Y., Ke, R., Zhong, H., Zhong, Q., Liu, Z., Song, Y., 2020. Survey of mineral oil hydrocarbons in infant formula from the Chinese market. Food Addit. Contam. Part A Chem. Anal. Control Expo. Risk Assess. 37 (6), 1040–1048. https://doi.org/10. 1080/19440049.2020.1748234.
- Sulaiman, R., Wang, M., Ren, X., 2020. Exposure to aluminum, cadmium, and mercury and autism spectrum disorder in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 33 (11), 2699–2718. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.CHEMRESTOX. 0C00167/SUPPL_FILE/TX0C00167_SI_001.PDF.
- Surana, K., Chaudhary, B., Diwaker, M., Sharma, S., 2018. Benzophenone: a ubiquitous scaffold in medicinal chemistry. MedChemComm 9 (11), 1803. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C8MD00300A.
- Swan, S.H., Sathyanarayana, S., Barrett, E.S., Janssen, S., Liu, F., Nguyen, R.H.N., Redmon, J.B., 2015. First trimester phthalate exposure and anogenital distance in newborns. Hum. Reprod. 30 (4), 963–972. https://doi.org/10.1093/HUMREP/ DEU363 (Oxford, England).
- Tago, D., Andersson, H., Treich, N., 2014. Pesticides and health: A review of evidence on health effects, valuation of risks, and benefit-cost analysis.
- Tahboub, Y.R., Massadeh, A.M., Al-Sheyab, N.A., El Shrafat, D., Nsserat, I.A., 2021. Levels of trace elements in human breast milk in Jordan: a comparison with infant

formula milk powder. Biol.Trace Elem.Res. 199 (11), 4066-4073. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-020-02547-4.

- Tang, W., Wang, D., Wang, J., Wu, Z., Li, L., Huang, M., Xu, S., Yan, D., 2018. Pyrethroid pesticide residues in the global environment: an overview. Chemosphere 191, 990–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2017.10.115.
- Tardiff, R.G., Gargas, M.L., Kirman, C.R., Leigh Carson, M., Sweeney, L.M., 2010. Estimation of safe dietary intake levels of acrylamide for humans. Food Chem. Toxicol. 48 (2), 658–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FCT.2009.11.048.
- Tatsuta, N., Nakai, K., Kasanuma, Y., Iwai-Shimada, M., Sakamoto, M., Murata, K., Satoh, H., 2020. Prenatal and postnatal lead exposures and intellectual development among 12-year-old Japanese children. Environ. Res. 189. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.ENVRES.2020.109844.
- Tavakoly Sany, S.B., Hashim, R., Salleh, A., Rezayi, M., Karlen, D.J., Razavizadeh, B.B.M., Abouzari-lotf, E., 2015. Dioxin risk assessment: mechanisms of action and possible toxicity in human health. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22 (24), 19434–19450. https://doi.org/10. 1007/S11356-015-5597-X/TABLES/1.
- Tchounwou, P.B., Yedjou, C.G., Patlolla, A.K., Sutton, D.J., 2012. Heavy metal toxicity and the environment. Experientia Suppl. 2012 (101), 133–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7643-8340-4_6.
- Tessari, L., Angriman, M., Díaz-Román, A., Zhang, J., Conca, A., Cortese, S., 2022. Association between exposure to pesticides and ADHD or autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review of the literature. J. Atten. Disord. 26 (1), 48–71. https://doi. org/10.1177/1087054720940402.
- Toni, L.R.M., de Santana, H., Zaia, D.A.M., 2006. Adsorção de glifosato sobre solos e minerais. Quím. Nova 29 (4), 829–833. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-40422006000400034.
- Trinta, V.de O., Padilha, P.de C., Petronilho, S., Santelli, R.E., Braz, B.F., Freire, A.S., Saunders, C., da Rocha, H.F., Sanz-Medel, A., Fernández-Sánchez, M.L., 2020. Total metal content and chemical speciation analysis of iron, copper, zinc and iodine in human breast milk using high-performance liquid chromatography separation and inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry detection. Food Chem. 326 (October 2018), 126978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.126978.
- Uauy, R., Olivares, M., Gonzalez, M., 1998. Essentiality of copper in humans. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 67 (5 Suppl). https://doi.org/10.1093/AJCN/67.5.952S.
- Ul Hassan, Z., Al Thani, R., Atia, F.A., Al Meer, S., Migheli, Q., Jaoua, S., 2018. Cooccurrence of mycotoxins in commercial formula milk and cereal-based baby food on the Qatar market. Food Addit. Contam. Part B Surveill. 11 (3), 191–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/19393210.2018.1437785.
- U.S. Department Of Health And Human, amp, Services, 2004. Toxicological Profile for Polybrominated Biphenyls.
- US EPA, 2008. Pesticides Industry Sales And Usage.
- Vankayalapati, V.K., 2016. Plant growth-promoting microorganisms: interaction with plants and soil. Plant, Soil And Microbes: Volume 1: Implications in Crop Science, pp. 1–16 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27455-3_1.
- Vella, C., Attard, E., 2019. Consumption of minerals, toxic metals and hydroxymethylfurfural: analysis of infant foods and formulae. Toxics 7 (2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ TOXICS7020033.
- Vijayalakshmi, P., Usha, M.S., 2012. Optimization of Chlorpyrifos degradation by Pseudomonas putida. J. Chem. Pharm. Res. 4 (5), 2532–2539.
- Vollset, M., Torcelino-Iszatt, N.L., Enger, Ø., Gjengedal, E.L.F., Eggesbø, M., 2019. Concentration of mercury, cadmium, and lead in breast milk from Norwegian mothers: association with dietary habits, amalgam and other factors. Sci. Total Environ. 677, 466–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.252.
- Wallace, E.R., Ni, Y., Loftus, C.T., Sullivan, A., Masterson, E., Szpiro, A.A., Day, D.B., Robinson, M., Kannan, K., Tylavsky, F.A., Sathyanarayana, S., Bush, N.R., LeWinn, K.Z., Karr, C.J., 2022. Prenatal urinary metabolites of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and todler cognition, language, and behavior. Environ. Int. 159, 107039. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2021.107039.
- Wang, M., Hossain, F., Sulaiman, R., Ren, X., 2019. Exposure to inorganic arsenic and lead and autism spectrum disorder in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.9b00134.
- Wang, Y.F., Lafont, A.G., Lee, Y.C., Hwang, P.P., 2016. A novel function of calcitonin generelated peptide in body fluid Cl⁻ homeostasis. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 283 (1832). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2016.0684.
- Weber, S., Schrag, K., Mildau, G., Kuballa, T., Walch, S.G., Lachenmeier, D.W., 2018. Analytical methods for the determination of mineral oil saturated hydrocarbons (MOSH) and mineral oil aromatic hydrocarbons (MOAH)—a short review. Anal. Chem. Insights 13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1177390118777757.
- Wei, F., Mortimer, M., Cheng, H., Sang, N., Guo, L.H., 2021. Parabens as chemicals of emerging concern in the environment and humans: a review. Sci. Total Environ. 778. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.146150.
- Wei, G.L., Liang, X.L., Li, D.Q., Zhuo, M.N., Zhang, S.Y., Huang, Q.X., Liao, Y.S., Xie, Z.Y., Guo, T.L., Yuan, Z.J., 2016. Occurrence, fate and ecological risk of chlorinated paraffins in Asia: a review. Environ. Int. 92–93, 373–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2016. 04.002.
- Weidenhamer, J.D., Fitzpatrick, M.P., Biro, A.M., Kobunski, P.A., Hudson, M.R., Corbin, R.W., Gottesfeld, P., 2017. Metal exposures from aluminum cookware: an unrecognized public health risk in developing countries. Sci. Total Environ. 579, 805–813. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.11.023.
- Weldon, R.H., Barr, D.B., Trujillo, C., Bradman, A., Holland, N., Eskenazi, B., 2011. A pilot study of pesticides and PCBs in the breast milk of women residing in urban and agricultural communities of California. J.Environ.Monit. 13 (11), 3136–3144. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/C1EM10469A.
- Wen, L., Wu, Y., Yang, Y., Han, T., Wang, W., Fu, H., Zheng, Y., Shan, T., Chen, J., Xu, P., Jin, H., Lin, L., Liu, X., Qi, H., Tong, C., Baker, P., 2019. Gestational diabetes mellitus changes the metabolomes of human colostrum, transition milk and mature milk. Med. Sci. Monit. 25, 6128–6152. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.915827.

- Wenzl, T., Samaras, V., Giri, A., Buttinger, G., Karasek, L., Zelinkova, Z., 2015. Development and validation of analytical methods for the analysis of 3-MCPD (both in free and ester form) and glycidyl esters in various food matrices and performance of an ad-hoc survey on specific food groups in support to a scientific opinion on comprehensive risk assessment on the presence of 3-MCPD and glycidyl esters in food. EFSA Support.Publ. 12 (3), 779E. https://doi.org/10.2903/SP.EFSA.2015. EN-779.
- Weyde, K.V.F., Olsen, A.K., Duale, N., Kamstra, J.H., Skogheim, T.S., Caspersen, I.H., Engel, S.M., Biele, G., Xia, Y., Meltzer, H.M., Aase, H., Villanger, G.D., 2021. Gestational blood levels of toxic metal and essential element mixtures and associations with global DNA methylation in pregnant women and their infants. Sci. Total Environ. 787. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.147621.
- WHO, 2016. Dioxins and their effects on human health. https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/dioxins-and-their-effects-on-human-health.
- Winiarska-Mieczan, A., 2014. Cadmium, lead, copper and zinc in breast milk in Poland. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 157 (1), 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12011-013-9870-X.
- Wöhrlin, F., Fry, H., Lahrssen-Wiederholt, M., Preiß-Weigert, A., 2015. Occurrence of fatty acid esters of 3-MCPD, 2-MCPD and glycidol in infant formula. 32(11), 1810–1822. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2015.1071497.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 1986. Organophosphorus insecticides: a general introduction. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/40198.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2010. Strontium and strontium compounds. International Programme on Chemical Safety & Inter-Organization Programme for the Sound Management of Chemicals.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2021. Infant and young child feeding. https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/infant-and-young-child-feeding.
- Wu, Y., Gao, S., Ji, B., Liu, Z., Zeng, X., Yu, Z., 2020. Occurrence of short- and mediumchain chlorinated paraffins in soils and sediments from Dongguan City,South China. Environ. Pollut. 265, 114181. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2020.114181.
- Xu, C., Wang, K., Gao, L., Zheng, M., Li, J., Zhang, L., Wu, Y., Qiao, L., Huang, D., Wang, S., Li, D., 2021. Highly elevated levels, infant dietary exposure and health risks of medium-chain chlorinated paraffins in breast milk from China: comparison with short-chain chlorinated paraffins. Environ. Pollut. 279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2021.116922.
- Xu, X., Liu, J., Huang, C., Lu, F., Chiung, Y.M., Huo, X., 2015. Association of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and lead co-exposure with child physical growth and development in an e-waste recycling town. Chemosphere 139, 295–302. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2015.05.080.
- Yan, K., Wu, S., Gong, G., Xin, L., Ge, Y., 2021. Simultaneous determination of typical chlorinated, oxygenated, and European Union priority polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in milk samples and milk powders. J. Agric. Food Chem. 69 (13), 3923–3931. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.jafc.1c00283.
- Yesumanipreethi, S., Nirmal Magadalenal, N., Moses Inbaraj, R., 2021. Impact of phthalates and parabens on the neurobehavioral and reproductive function: a review. Proc. Zool. Soc. 74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12595-021-00408-z.
- Yim, G., Minatoya, M., Kioumourtzoglou, M.A., Bellavia, A., Weisskopf, M., Ikeda-Araki, A., Miyashita, C., Kishi, R., 2022. The associations of prenatal exposure to dioxins and polychlorinated biphenyls with neurodevelopment at 6 months of age: multi-pollutant approaches. Environ. Res. 209, 112757. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2022. 112757.
- Yoo, M., Lim, Y.H., Kim, T., Lee, D., Hong, Y.C., 2016. Association between urinary 3phenoxybenzoic acid and body mass index in Korean adults: 1st Korean National Environmental Health Survey. Ann. Occup. Environ. Med. 28 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/ S40557-015-0079-7.
- Yuan, B., Muir, D., MacLeod, M., 2019. Methods for trace analysis of short-, medium-, and long-chain chlorinated paraffins: critical review and recommendations. Anal. Chim. Acta 1074, 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ACA.2019.02.051.
- Yüksel, B., Arica, E., Söylemezoğlu, T., 2021. Assessing reference levels of nickel and chromium in cord blood, maternal blood and placenta specimens from Ankara, Turkey. J. Turk.German Gynecol.Assoc. 22 (3), 187. https://doi.org/10.4274/JTGGA.GALENOS. 2021.2020.0202.
- Zain, M.E., 2011. Impact of mycotoxins on humans and animals. J.Saudi Chem.Soc. 15 (2), 129–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JSCS.2010.06.006.
- Zalups, R.K., Ahmad, S., 2003. Molecular handling of cadmium in transporting epithelia. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 186 (3), 163–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0041-008X(02) 00021-2.
- Zhan, J., Zhong, Y.Y., Yu, X.J., Peng, J.F., Chen, S., Yin, J.Y., Zhang, J.J., Zhu, Y., 2013. Multi-class method for determination of veterinary drug residues and other contaminants in infant formula by ultra performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Food Chem. 138 (2–3), 827–834. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. FOODCHEM.2012.09.130.
- Zhang, L.Q., Zhang, X.M., Zhang, H.W., Wang, H., Xu, H., Wang, F.M., Lin, C., Xiao, J., Xu, W.Y., 2020. Multiclass and multiresidue screening of veterinary drugs and pesticides in infant formula using Quadrupole-Orbitrap MS with PRM scan mode. J. Mass Spectrom. 55 (3). https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.4497.
- Zhang, Y., Tao, S., 2009. Global atmospheric emission inventory of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) for 2004. Atmos. Environ. 43 (4), 812–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ATMOSENV.2008.10.050.
- Zheng, G., Schreder, E., Dempsey, J.C., Uding, N., Chu, V., Andres, G., Sathyanarayana, S., Salamova, A., 2021. Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in breast milk- and trends for current-use PFAS. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est. 0c06978.
- Zhou, J., Zeng, X., Zheng, K., Zhu, X., Ma, L., Xu, Q., Zhang, X., Yu, Y., Sheng, G., Fu, J., 2012. Musks and organochlorine pesticides in breast milk from Shanghai, China: levels, temporal trends and exposure assessment. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 84, 325–333. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.ECOENV.2012.08.011.

- Zhou, W., Wu, H., Wang, Q., Zhou, X., Zhang, Y., Wu, W., Wang, Y., Ren, Z., Li, H., Ling, Y., Zhang, F., Li, P., 2020. Simultaneous determination of formononetin, biochanin A and their active metabolites in human breast milk, saliva and urine using salting-out assisted liquid-liquid extraction and ultra high performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem. J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 1145 (October 2019), 122108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2020.122108.
- Zhu, Y.duo, Gao, H., Huang, K., Zhang, Y.wei, Cai, X.xiu, Yao, H.yuan, Mao, L.jing, Ge, X., Zhou, S.shan, Xu, Y.yuan, Jin, Z.xiu, Sheng, J., Yan, S.qin, Pan, W.Jun, Hao, J.hu., Zhu, P., Tao, F.biao, 2018. Prenatal phthalate exposure and placental size and shape at birth: a birth cohort study. Environ. Res. 160, 239–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVRES.2017.09.012.